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in € million 2020 2019

Revenue incl. sales proceeds 38.9 49.6

EBITDA 14.8 18.5

EBIT 14.4 18.1

EBT 11.5 11.9

Consolidated net profit for the year (Group) 9.6 9.7

Equity (Group) (%) 26.5 26.2

  

Total portfolio 2020 2019

Number of properties 83 76

Leasable floor space (thousand m²) 342 326

  

Asset portfolio 2020 2019

Number of properties 78 69

Leasable floor space (thousand m²) 341 311

Portfolio actual net rent (annualized, € million) 19.5 18.3

Initial portfolio yield (%) 11.1 10.1

Vacancy rates (%) 9.7 17.9

WAULT (in years) 5.1 4.4
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The Covid-19 pandemic made 2020 a challenging year for 

us all. In this environment, FCR Immobilien AG continued 

its positive growth course. We were able to expand our 

portfolio, strengthen ourselves structurally and increase 

our FFO earnings.

During this financial year, we acquired €28 million in real 

estate assets. Due to the purchase of comparatively large 

properties, the number of acquisitions declined from 25 in 

the previous year to 14. This is in line with our purchasing 

strategy, which reflects our preference for the acquisition 

of individual properties valuing up to €25 million. I view 

the new properties as attractive additions to our existing 

portfolio. Initial yields for the acquired properties show 

the continued success of our purchasing strategy. In the 

past year, these were between 8% and 12%. In order to 

achieve long-term benefit from these rental yields for FCR 

Immobilien AG, we decided to orient the company more 

strongly toward portfolio management. However, our fo-

cus remains the same. We invest in commercial real es-

tate—in shopping centers and specialist retail centers in 

Germany. As a supplement to our core business, however, 

we will continue to invest in individual logistics and resi-

dential properties where we see attractive opportunities.

This orientation enabled us to successfully navigate the 

year 2020. While we would certainly have been able to 

purchase more properties without the Covid-related re-

strictions, the effects of the pandemic on our rental oper-

ations were relatively moderate. Here we were helped by 

the fact that roughly 80% of the rental income came from 

commercial properties, the majority being from supermar-

kets, drug stores and local suppliers. We worked in a spirit 

of partnership to reach fair agreements with tenants who 

were hit especially hard by the Covid crisis, granting them 

a rent-free month in exchange for their extending their 

lease agreements by a year before renewal came due. This 

enabled us to negotiate millions of euros in rental income 

for the coming years. Covid-related rental income losses 

amounted to only around 1% of total rental income.

Our funds from operations (FFO)—i.e., operating earnings 

from property management—rose to €5.0 million from 

-€3.1 million in the previous year. This shows that opera-

tionally we became significantly more profitable in 2020. 

At €11.5 million, our earnings before tax exceeded our 

original goal of €11.1 million. Accordingly, we are very 

satisfied with earnings development in 2020. Since the 

previous year, we have conducted our accounting in ac-

cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). In compliance with these standards, our entire real 

estate portfolio is independently audited at regular inter-

vals. The revaluations resulted in a gain of €0.8 million 

across the total portfolio.

We sold seven properties during the financial year, the 

same number as the previous year. However, sales pro-

ceeds were lower than in the previous year due to the fact 

that we sold the Salzgitter Shopping Arcade for a sum in 

the double-digit million range in 2019. Our revenues from 

property management rose from €21.6 million in the pre-

vious year to €25.2 million in 2020. Of this amount, rev-

enues from asset management amounted to €22.7 million 

(previous year: €19.1 million). This increase reflects the 

expansion of our asset portfolio as well as the successful 

work of our asset management team. Here, we benefited 

appreciably from the software we developed in-house that 

uses artificial intelligence to optimize the core areas of our 

value chain. Our total revenue in 2020 came to €38.9 mil-

lion, in comparison to €49.6 million in the previous year.

At the close of the financial year, FCR Immobilien AG held 

an asset portfolio of 78 properties with a total leasable 

floor space of 342,000 m² compared with 326,000 m² the 

year before. We also have a development and trading port-

folio that held five properties at the end of the year. These 

properties are for sale, with the sales earnings earmarked 

for reinvestment in the expansion of our asset portfolio. In 

total, our real estate portfolio grew over the past year to 

€315 million by the close of 2020, compared with €299 

million the year before.

FCR Immobilien AG also grew in 2020. Our new size also 

makes us increasingly interesting for new groups of inves-

tors. After switching our accounting to IFRS last year, the 

next logical growth step for us was a move to the General 

Standard regulated market, which we completed in the fall. 

By doing so, we have already been able to acquire sever-

al new institutional investors for the company over the 

past few months. The move was also intended to show our 

strong focus on the capital market.

The past year accelerated the worldwide trend toward 

digitalization. As an innovation leader in the real estate 

sector, we are well positioned thanks to our proprietary 

software. We also acquired an interest in the Immoware24 

real-estate software platform at the beginning of the year, 

which enabled us to further strengthen our technological 

foundation. We aim to harness the benefits of our technol-

ogy to an even greater extent in the future.

I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to our employ-

ees for the positive development of FCR Immobilien AG 

during the past year. By using home offices and virtual 

conferences, we were able to help protect our employees’ 

health and react flexibly to our changing business envi-

ronment. I would also like to thank our business partners 

for the excellent collaboration in the past year and, last 

but not least, you, our shareholders, for the trust you have 

placed in us. Stay safe!

Sincerely yours,

Falk Raudies, CEO

Pullach im Isartal, April 2021

Letter from the CEO 2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG

Dear  Shareholders and Business Partners,
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HANJO SCHNEIDER
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

•  C-level positions at prestigious international 

corporations (Dun & Bradstreet, Danzas) 

•  Longtime member of the Executive Board and 

Supervisory Board of the Otto Group (a global 

trade and services corporation): CEO of the 

Hermes Group, Chairman of the Board of the 

Otto Group and Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board of the Hermes Group

•  In 2016, Mr. Schneider decided to once more 

take his professional life in a new direction, 

and has dedicated himself, among other 

things, to social causes in his second home of 

South Africa since 2018. 

•  Well-known and sought-after dialogue partner 

for global companies 

LUDWIG A. FUCHS
Member of the Supervisory Board

•  Consultant and partner at renowned 

management and business consultancies 

(Roland Berger, BFW)

•  Founder and CEO of Realtime Technology 

AG (a leading global 3D/VR provider), suc-

cessful sale of the company to a French 

corporation 

•  Member of the Board of Directors of Traxx-

all Technologies Inc., Montreal, Canada

•  Managing Partner of FAMe Invest & Man-

agement GmbH (with holdings in some 

20 technology startups and high-growth 

companies worldwide)  

In the 2020 financial year, the Supervisory Board per-

formed the duties incumbent on it under the law, the Ar-

ticles of Association and the Rules of Procedure, continu-

ously supervised the CEO, regularly advised the CEO with 

respect to the management of the company while examin-

ing the lawfulness, expediency and propriety of the com-

pany’s management on the basis of the documents pre-

sented by the CEO. During this period, we were at all times 

satisfied of said lawfulness, expediency and propriety. The 

CEO performed his information obligations and reported to 

us regularly, promptly and comprehensively, both verbal-

ly and in written form, regarding all questions relevant to 

the Group concerning strategy, planning, business devel-

opment, risk situation and risk development.

In the 2020 financial year, four ordinary meetings of the 

Supervisory Board and one Annual General Meeting were 

held, in which all members of the Supervisory Board par-

ticipated, including partially by telephone. During these 

meetings, the members of the Supervisory Board had suf-

ficient opportunity to engage critically with the reports 

and proposed resolutions of the CEO and to contribute 

their own ideas at all times. The Supervisory Board was 

also able to gain an impression of business activities on 

site. Beyond the ordinary Supervisory Board meetings, 

decisions were also made by circular resolution following 

coordination by telephone, especially as regards the acqui-

sition of new properties.

Key advisory points of the Supervisory Board

The object of discussions and decisions in Supervisory Board 

Meetings were projects and developments of particular im-

portance as well as measures subject to approval and the 

earnings development, financial position, corporate planning 

and business performance of the FCR Immobilien Group.

The Supervisory Board examined the proposals made by 

the CEO and discussed all significant business transactions 

within the Supervisory Board on the basis of written and 

oral explanations.

The situation of the company and FCR Immobilien Group 

was discussed with the CEO at all Supervisory Board meet-

ings. During the Supervisory Board meetings, business 

transactions that require the approval of the Supervisory 

Board were also discussed.

For all new acquisitions, the CEO presented extensive doc-

umentation and detailed revenue planning as well as li-

quidity and financing plans on a five-year basis.

The Supervisory Board also discussed the plans for the 

2020 financial year with the CEO. This also included the 

plausibility of the revenue and liquidity plans presented as 

well as an analysis of liabilities from lines of credit, loans 

and bonds, their conditions and maturities, and an assess-

ment of earnings opportunities and risks. 

Further topics included the development of commercial 

property prices at secondary locations, expectations for 

interest rate trends and discussions about the develop-

ment of new projects.

The Supervisory Board is persuaded that the CEO conducts 

the company’s business matters properly and that he has 

taken all necessary measures. All processes are designed 

appropriately given the size of the company. This also ap-

plies to the controlling systems established by the CEO for 

the company and the FCR Immobilien Group about which the 

Supervisory Board was informed regularly. Alongside the fi-

nance department of FCR Immobilien AG, the controlling sys-

tems also encompass the subsidiaries’ operating activities.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board / Supervisory Board Report 2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG

FALK RAUDIES
Founder and CEO

•  Successful business owner for over  

25 years

•  Many years of experience in the valuation 

and purchase of real estate

•  Years of experience as managing director 

and CEO of several IT companies

DR. FRANZ-JOSEPH BUSSE 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

•  Faculty member of the College of Business 

Administration at the Munich University of 

Applied Sciences since 1982

•  Teaching area: Banking and financial services, 

risk management

•  Founder of the Munich-based Institute 

for Finance and Investment Management, 

INFINANZ (advisory services for banks/finan-

cial service providers)

•  Co-founder of FECIF (European Federation of 

Financial Advisers and Financial Intermediaries)

Members of the  Executive Board and Supervisory Board Report of the Supervisory Board to the Annual General 
Meeting of FCR Immobilien AG
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Members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board

During the 2020 financial year, the Supervisory Board of FCR 

Immobilien AG was comprised of the following members up 

to the date of its Annual General Meeting on May 28, 2020:

Dr. Franz-Joseph Busse (Chairman)

Former Minister of State Dr. Kurt Faltlhauser (Vice Chairman)

Frank Fleschenberg

Since the date of its Annual General Meeting on May 28, 

2020, the Supervisory Board of FCR Immobilien AG has 

been comprised as follows:

Dr. Franz-Joseph Busse

Hanjo Schneider

Ludwig A. Fuchs

During its inaugural meeting on June 5, 2020, the Super-

visory Board elected Dr. Busse as Chairman and Mr. Hanjo 

Schneider as Vice Chairman.

There were no other changes during the 2020 financial 

year. Due to its size of three members, the Supervisory 

Board did not form any committees. The composition of 

the Executive Board, with Mr. Falk Raudies as CEO and sole 

member, remained unchanged in the 2020 financial year.

.

Munich, March 23, 2021

Dr. Franz-Joseph Busse

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Audit of Annual and Consolidated Financial Statements

Due to the transition in exchange segments from Scale to 

General Standard during the 2020 financial year, the Mu-

nich Local Court appointed Auditor Mantey of MSW GmbH, 

auditors and tax consultants, Strasse des 17. Juni 106 – 

108, D-10623 Berlin, as auditor for 2020 in its correspon-

dence of January 11, 2021.

During the Supervisory Board’s balance sheet review 

meeting on March 23, 2021, the auditor was present to 

answer the questions of the Supervisory Board and the 

company CEO. All questions were answered in full.

The Supervisory Board approved the Financial Statement 

for FCR Immobilien AG (separate financial statement in ac-

cordance with the German Civil Code) on December 31, 

2020 and the Consolidated Financial Statement in accor-

dance with IFRS standards on December 31, 2020. The Fi-

nancial Statements are thereby adopted. The Supervisory 

Board declared its approval of the Management Report and 

the Group Management Report from the Executive Board/

CEO for the 2020 financial year by circular resolution.

Thanks

The Supervisory Board would like to express its gratitude 

to the company’s CEO, Mr. Falk Raudies, along with all em-

ployees of FCR Immobilien AG for their work in the past 

financial year.

Supervisory Board Report / FCR Immobilien AG—fast-growing, profitable and innovative
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FCR Immobilien AG—fast-growing, profitable and innovative

Profitable growth with innovative technologies—this is what 

FCR Immobilien AG stands for. Under this principle, our 

company was able to continue the successful growth of the 

preceding years during the 2020 financial year. By the end 

of the year, we were able to expand our real estate port-

folio—consisting of the asset portfolio and the trading and 

development portfolio—to 83 properties in comparison with 

76 properties a year before. Leasable floor space rose to 

342,000 m² compared with 326,000 m² at the end of 2019. 

At  €38.9 million, rental income for 2020 lay below the 

previous year’s figure of €49.6 million. Here it must be 

pointed out that the earnings comprise both the rental in-

come and the revenue from property sales. While rental in-

come remained largely stable despite Covid-19, sales rev-

enue lay below that of the previous year. While a total of 

seven properties were sold during the financial year—the 

same amount as the year before—the figure for the previ-

ous year included earnings from the sale of the Saltzgitter 

Shopping Arcade valued in the double-digit millions. Earn-

ings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 

(EBITDA) amounted to €14.8 million compared with €18.5 

million in the previous year. Our NAV rose to €107 million 

at the end of 2020.

Our strategic focus on commercial properties with a super-

market, local supplier or drug store as the anchor tenant 

proved itself once again in 2020. Thanks to a stronger 

emphasis on property management, the rental income 

developed through our active asset management is now 

available to the company. The purchase of properties at 

attractive prices—preferably out of extraordinary situa-

tions—and our value-adding work with portfolio assets re-

sult in above-average returns.

As an innovation leader in the real estate sector, FCR Im-

mobilien AG implements its proprietary AI-driven software 

across the core areas of the value chain. This software solu-

tion enables us to design our processes much more effi-

ciently and also identifies leasing potential and tenants. This 

gives us a competitive advantage in property management. 

Specialist retail center in 
Eilenburg
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Meetingplaces People have been 

trading from early in 

our history. Even as early as the Classical Era, fixed market-

places appeared that offered vast varieties of goods. These 

places brought farmers and artisans together with their cus-

tomers. The marketplace was always a center of exchange—

not only for household and everyday needs, but also of in-

formation. Access to the market was typically free. When this 

was denied, it was often the source of considerable conflict. 
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FCR Immobilien AG holds real estate almost exclusively in its 

own property companies. These subsidiaries have the form 

of a limited liability company (GmbH & Co. KG under German 

law) each having FCR Verwaltungs GmbH as the general part-

ner. The latter is wholly owned by FCR Immobilien AG. 

As of December 31, 2020, FCR Immobilien AG owned 83 

properties, of which 78 were accounted for by the asset 

portfolio and a further five by the trading and develop-

ment portfolio. Of the 83 objects in the total portfolio, 81 

properties were held in property companies and two were 

held directly by FCR Immobilien AG. 

FCR Immobilien AG also holds 100% of the shares in FCR 

Innovation GmbH. This company handles our activities in 

the areas of artificial intelligence and digitalization. 

Corporate structure of the FCR Group as of December 31, 2020*

FCR Immoblien AG

100% 100%

100%

100% held directly100% 100%

FCR Verwaltungs 
GmbH

limited 
partnership
interest

FCR Service 
GmbH

FCR Innovation 
GmbH

FCR Monument 
Investment S.L.

Shopping center 
Dessau

FCR Immobilien AG is an investor specializing in commer-

cial real estate. We achieve above-average returns through 

the purchase of properties at attractive prices as well as 

value-adding work with our portfolio assets. As a supple-

ment to our core business, we invest in properties from 

other segments of the real estate market where we see 

attractive opportunities. The most important areas in this 

regard are logistics, office and residential.

Shift in focus to asset management

In 2020, FCR Immobilien AG shifted its focus to asset man-

agement. Here the attractive returns from the company 

real estate portfolio are earmarked for the value-enhanc-

ing development of FCR Immobilien AG. That is why prop-

erty sales are primarily concentrated on the trading and 

development portfolio. This includes both opportunistic 

properties as well as the area of project development.

FCR Immobilien AG invests across Germany. Correspond-

ingly, rental income is almost exclusively generated with-

in Germany. Our rental income also reflects our clear focus 

on commercial properties. Approximately 80% of our rental 

earnings originate from the commercial sector. In addition 

to shopping centers and specialist retail centers, our anchor 

tenants also include local suppliers and drug stores. Addi-

tional creditworthy tenants round out our tenant structure.

Commercial properties account for roughly 80% of rental 

income

The positioning of FCR Immobilien AG has also remained 

strong during the Covid-19 pandemic. We preferably in-

vest in properties in secondary locations. These are typ-

ically established retail locations that play an important 

role in supplying their local regions. In our experience, 

these tend to have low fluctuation rates despite the B-rat-

ed locations while also yielding attractive rental income.

Thanks to the excellent network we have built over the 

years, FCR Immobilien AG is generally able to acquire 

these properties significantly below market prices. Addi-

tionally, we have access to a proprietary software solution 

that enables us to estimate locations and property prices. 

This software also supports our asset management, thus 

creating an efficient company structure that is capable of 

recognizing and capitalizing on market potential. With this 

AI-driven solution, FCR Immobilien AG is considered an in-

novation leader in the real estate sector.

€315 million real estate portfolio

FCR Immobilien AG usually purchases individual properties 

or portfolios valuing €1–25 million, although the volume 

may be up to €100 million in individual cases. Returns 

from these acquisitions lie between 8% and 12%. FCR Im-

mobilien AG receives offers for roughly 300 properties per 

month, which then undergo comprehensive due diligence. 

We ultimately purchase between one and three properties 

each month. At the end of 2020, we held 78 properties in 

our real estate portfolio and five in our trading and de-

velopment portfolio. The total value according to external 

expert valuation amounted to €315 million.

In the 2020 financial year, FCR Immobilien AG had an average 

staff size of 95 employees. Through the use of our proprietary 

software, we can manage a further expansion of our real es-

tate portfolio with a below-average increase in new staff. This 

also offers additional earning potential for the future. 

Strategy and business model / Group structure
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Strategy and business model Corporate structure 

FCR Aken 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Altena 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Aschersleben 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bad Kissingen 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bamberg  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bergisch Gladbach 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bottrop 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Brandenburg  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Brandenburg Logistik  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bremervörde 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Buchholz  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bückeburg 2  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Burg  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Cadolzburg  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Cloppenburg  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Cottbus  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Datteln  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Duisburg 2  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Ehrenfriedersdorf  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Eilenburg  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gera AMTP  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gera BIBC  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Glückstadt  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Görlitz  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Görlitz Hugo-Meyer  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Grimmen  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gronau  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Guben  
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gummersbach 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gummersbach 2 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Hagen 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Hagen 2 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Hambühren 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Hamm 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Hennef 
GmbH & Co. KG **

FCR Herford 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Höchstadt 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Jüterbog 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Kaiserslautern 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Kaltennordheim 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Kitzbühel 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Köpenick 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Landau 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Magdeburg 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Meerane 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Munster 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Neumünster 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Neustrelitz 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Nienburg 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Pelagone 
GmbH & Co. KG / 
Il Pelagone s.r.l.

FCR Prettin 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Rastatt 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Ruhla 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Salzwedel 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Schesslitz 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Schleiz 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Schwalbach 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Schwandorf 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Seesen 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Söhlde 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Soltau 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Soltau Zentrallager 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Strullendorf 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Teistungen 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Uelzen 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Uelzen Office 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Wasungen 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Weidenberg 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Weißenfels 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Welzow 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Westeregeln 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Wismar 2 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Wittenberge 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Wittingen 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Würselen 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Zeithain 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Zerbst 
GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Zeulenroda 
GmbH & Co. KG

 *  The total portfolio consists of 83 properties. In accordance with the company structure, 
 81 properties are held in 78 property companies and two are held directly by FCR Immobilien AG.
**includes the property in Frankenberg
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Markets Over time, specialized commercial 

centers developed alongside the 

general markets. Fruit markets, cattle markets, fish markets 

and craft markets represent an early form of specialization. 

These were places where specific types of goods were sold. 

And the markets became more varied. Exotic wares found 

their way into the marketplaces, enriching the local selection. 

Starting in 1409, the home of the van der Beurse merchant 

family in Bruges was the first venue for trading goods that 

were not physically present. The stock exchanges were born. 
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Interview with the CEO

In 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic significantly impacted 

economic development in Germany. What influence did 

the pandemic have on the business development of FCR 

Immobilien AG?

Falk Raudies: Overall, the effects were only very moder-

ate. Our rental income saw losses in the range of 1% of 

the total. We also secured advance extensions to numerous 

lease agreements by offering tenants a rent-free month 

in exchange for extending their leases by one year. This 

program was very well received. Primarily in the second 

quarter, but also somewhat in the third, Covid-19 restric-

tion measures had a noticeable negative impact on prop-

erty showings for our real estate acquisitions. If not for 

that, we certainly would have been able to acquire more 

properties than the 16 reported for the year. On the oth-

er hand, our strong focus on supermarkets, local suppliers 

and drug stores proved itself once again. The year 2020 

was a successful one for FCR Immobilien AG.

How did you address Covid-19 restrictions in your compa-

ny organization?

Falk Raudies: Thanks to our strong tech integration in the 

real estate market due to our proprietary AI-driven soft-

ware, we were able to react flexibly to the development of 

the coronavirus pandemic. Additionally, a lot of our em-

ployees worked from the home offices, and we also used 

conference software. The health of our employees—and 

naturally of our customers and service providers as well—

is obviously very important to us, so we used sound judg-

ment, and we also made sure to act with great care when 

meeting with tenants on site. This approach enabled us to 

handle the restrictions very well.

You’ve decided to focus more on asset management. What’s 

the reason for that?

Falk Raudies: We can purchase at favorable prices and then 

create and maintain value with our active asset manage-

ment program. Obviously, here we also benefit from the in-

house software I mentioned. We want to be able to make 

more long-term use of the attractive rental income from 

our assets—which are also good in terms of reliable plan-

ning—for the development of FCR. This approach has been 

greeted very positively by many investors I’ve spoken with. 

Will FCR Immobilien AG continue to focus on commercial 

properties in the future as well?

Falk Raudies: Commercial real estate in Germany will re-

main our main focus. In the 2020 financial year as well, 

local suppliers, supermarkets and drug stores have shown 

their ability to maintain stable development thanks to 

their important supply function. This is especially true for 

the B-rated locations we prefer. Then there’s also the fact 

that we are still able to buy with purchase returns between 

8% and 12% in this segment thanks to our well-established 

network. In combination with favorable financing condi-

tions, this also results in very attractive interest rates.

What does this mean for real estate from other segments?

Falk Raudies: We will continue to acquire individual prop-

erties from other segments where opportunities arise—here 

I can imagine real estate in logistics, residential or office. 

But these will only be a supplement to our portfolio. The 

commercial real estate sector simply continues to offer very 

good opportunities, and we want to take advantage of them.

 

The FCR share has been listed on the regulated market 

since October 30, 2020. Why the move from Scale? 

Falk Raudies: For us, this was the next logical growth step. 

We had already fulfilled the General Standard require-

ments in any case by communicating transparently and 

preparing our accounts in accordance with IFRS interna-

tional reporting standards. This move now makes it possi-

ble for other groups of investors to invest in FCR shares. 

And we already have managed to attract several new in-

vestors. Feedback on the move has been very positive.

Interview with the CEO 2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG

Falk Raudies



18  19  19 

Making communities
Permanent shops, local suppliers and shopping centers 

evolved from the marketplaces. They secure the supply of 

necessities and offer much more besides. These aren’t only 

places for pick-up-and-go shopping—they’re also places where 

people meet. E-commerce can obviously supplement this sup-

ply source, but it can never replace it. Today, retail floor space 

in Germany comes to 1.45 m² per capita. That’s practically a 

small market stall for every person in the country.
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FCR Immobilien AG was able to continue the successful ex-

pansion of its real estate portfolio in the 2020 financial year 

as well. In total, we acquired 14 properties and sold seven. 

At the end of 2020, the portfolio had grown to 83 properties 

with an external expert valuation of approximately €315 

million. Leasable floor space rose to 342,000 m² compared 

with 326,000 m² at the end of the preceding financial year.

 

Due to Covid-19 restrictions, it was not possible to conduct 

property viewings as previously—this primarily affected 

the second quarter of 2020, but was also noticeable during 

the third. On-site property viewing and inspection are an 

important building block of property assessment and ac-

quisition and therefore are impossible to replace entirely 

through online tools. Without the restrictions, the number 

of acquisitions would certainly have been higher.

FCR Immobilien AG divides its real estate into two seg-

ments: the asset portfolio and the trading and develop-

ment portfolio. The overall focus is on the management 

of portfolio properties with an emphasis on commercial 

properties such as shopping and specialist retail centers, 

The FCR Immobilien AG portfolio

Total portfolio: Distribution of actual net rent not includ-
ing utilities by German state (annualized, in € thousand)

Lower Saxony 3,512 17.9%

Saxony 3,375 17.2%

Baden-Württemberg 2,865 14.6% 

North Rhine-Westphalia 2,629 13.4%

Thuringia 2,001 10.2%

Brandenburg 1,942 9.9%

Saxony-Anhalt 1,177 6.0%

Bavaria 726 3.7%

Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania 432 2.2%

Schleswig-Holstein 412 2.1%

Rhineland-Palatinate 275 1.4%

Saarland 118 0.6%

Berlin 39 0.2%

Total portfolio: Distribution of actual net rent not includ-
ing utilities by region (annualized, in € thousand)

Germany 19,503 99.4%

Outside of Germany 118 0.6%

Total 19,621

Total portfolio: Distribution of actual net rent not includ-
ing utilities by asset class (annualized, in € thousand)

Retail 15,952 81.3%

Office 1,825 9.3%

Logistics 1,373 7.0%

Residential 353 1.8%

Hotel 118 0.6%

Properties

Market value  

(in € million)

Actual rent not 

including utilities  

(in € million)

Potential rent not 

including utilities  

(in € million)

Asset portfolio 78 268.3 19.5 21.6

Trading and development portfolio 5 46.2 0.1 0.1

Total portfolio 83 314.5 19.6 21.7

2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG

The  FCR Immobilien AG portfolio
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local suppliers and drug stores. At the 

end of the 2020 financial year, the 

asset portfolio consisted of a total of 

78 properties with an external expert 

valuation of approximately €270 

million. Annualized net portfolio rent 

amounted to roughly €20 million. 

Over the course of the financial year, 

we were able to significantly reduce 

the vacancy rate, which also had a 

noticeable positive effect on rental 

income. 

In line with our partnership philoso-

phy, FCR Immobilien AG offered ten-

ants affected by the Covid pandemic 

one rent-free month in exchange for 

the advance extension of their lease 

agreements by one year. This enabled 

us to negotiate millions of euros in 

rental income for the coming years.

At the end of 2020, the occupancy 

rate for the asset portfolio lay at 

90.3%. The goal of FCR Immobilien 

AG’s active asset management is the 

continued reduction of the vacancy 

rate through active asset manage-

ment supported by our proprietary 

AI-solution. The potential rent for 

the spaces not yet leased amounts to 

approximately €2 million per year. 

There is therefore further earnings 

potential in this area for the coming 

years. At the end of the past year, 

the average weighted residual term 

for the lease agreements in the asset 

portfolio lay at 5.1 years. 

The trading and development port-

folio segment includes the compa-

ny’s project developments as well as 

properties held as sales opportuni-

ties. At the end of the financial year, 

the trading and development portfo-

lio consisted of a total of 5 properties 

with an external expert valuation of 

approximately €46 million. Included 

here is the student residence under 

construction in Bamberg as well as 

the hotel properties. Over 80% of 

rental income from the total portfo-

lio was generated by the commercial 

segment in 2020. This reflects the 

strategic focus of FCR Immobilien 

AG. We invest in further segments 

of the real estate market where we 

see significant earnings potential on 

the basis of extensive due diligence. 

During the past year, office prop-

erties amounted to 9.3% of rental 

income, with spaces from logistics 

making up 7.0%. Rental income from 

residential properties and the hotel 

properties held as sales opportuni-

ties was of only minor significance. 

The latter category contributed less 

than 1% of the rental income. Due 

to the company’s strong focus on 

supermarkets, local suppliers and 

drug stores along with further cred-

itworthy tenants, overall FCR Immo-

bilien AG felt only moderate effects 

from the Covid-19 pandemic during 

the financial year.

In the 2020 financial year, FCR Im-

mobilien AG sold a total of seven 

properties—six commercial proper-

ties and one hotel property. All com-

mercial properties were sold at pric-

es higher than the valuations listed 

in the balance sheet, which reveals a 

conservative approach to the assess-

ments. The hotel property was sold at 

the listed valuation. 

FCR Immobilien AG actively invests 

across Germany. This results in a 

broad regional distribution. At ap-

proximately 99.4%, virtually all rent-

al income was generated in Germa-

ny. These properties are preferably 

located in secondary locations be-

cause these offer significantly higher 

returns than the top locations. Addi-

tionally, our experience from the past 

years shows that these locations ex-

hibit more stable development than 

A-rated locations due to the fact that 

the businesses located there often 

take on an important supply function.

The FCR Immobilien AG portfolio 2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG

Asset portfolio

Supermarket in Aken
Saxony-Anhalt

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,043

Occupancy rate 100%

Mixed residential and commercial building Altena

North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 12,057

Occupancy rate 35%

Supermarket in Aschersleben 
Saxony-Anhalt

Usable floor space (in m²) 996

Occupancy rate 93%

Specialist retail center in Buchholz
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 4,800

Occupancy rate 100%

Logistics property in Brandenburg 
Brandenburg

Usable floor space (in m²) 8,103

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Bremervörde
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,713

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Brandenburg
Brandenburg

Usable floor space (in m²) 12,189

Occupancy rate 100%

Commercial building in Bottrop
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 5,137

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Bergisch Gladbach 

North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,725

Occupancy rate 100%

Supermarket in Bad Kissingen
Bavaria

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,037 

Occupancy rate 100%
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Specialist retail center in Cadolzburg
Bavaria

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,133

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Cottbus
Brandenburg

Usable floor space (in m²) 4,513

Occupancy rate 47%

Specialist retail center in Cloppenburg
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 3,111

Occupancy rate 100%

Shopping center in Gera (Amthor-Passage)

Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 8,471 

Occupancy rate 62%

Specialist retail center in Eilenburg
Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 14,548 

Occupancy rate 100 %

Specialist retail center in Ehrenfriedersdorf 

Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,891

Occupancy rate 100%

Supermarket in Datteln 
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,037

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Duisburg
North Rhine-Westphalia 

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,200

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Dessau
Saxony-Anhalt

Usable floor space (in m²) 3,749

Occupancy rate 73%

Shopping center in Gera (Bieblach-Center)

Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 17,901 

Occupancy rate 90 %

Mixed residential and commercial buildings in Görlitz

Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 15,900 

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Glückstadt
Schleswig-Holstein

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,000

Occupancy rate 100%

Supermarket in Guben 
Brandenburg

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,830

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Gronau
North Rhine-Westphalia 

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,305

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Grimmen 
Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,045 

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Görlitz
Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,004

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Burg 
Schleswig-Holstein

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,047

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Bückeburg 
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,010

Occupancy rate 100%
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Specialist retail center in Hagen 
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 408

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Hagen 
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,561

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Hambühren 
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 5,379

Occupancy rate 96%

Specialist retail center in Hamm
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,032

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Herford
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,540

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Höchstadt
Bavaria

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,725 

Occupancy rate 100%

Shopping center in Jüterbog
Brandenburg

Usable floor space (in m²) 4,962 

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Kaiserslautern
Rhineland-Palatinate

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,350

Occupancy rate 100%

Supermarket in Kaltennordheim
Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,045

Occupancy rate 100%

Residential building in Köpenick
Berlin

Usable floor space (in m²) 474

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Landau
Bavaria

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,329 

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Magdeburg
Saxony-Anhalt

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,825 

Occupancy rate 86%

Specialist retail center in Meerane
Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,698 

Occupancy rate 91 %

Specialist retail center in Neumünster
Schleswig-Holstein

Usable floor space (in m²) 3,100

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Munster
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,347

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Neustrelitz
Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,596

Occupancy rate 99%

Shopping center in Gummersbach 
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 4,030 

Occupancy rate 95%

Commercial building in Gummersbach
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 4,543 

Occupancy rate 100%
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Supermarket in Schesslitz
Bavaria

Usable floor space (in m²) 930

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Schleiz
Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 6,540

Occupancy rate 59%

Supermarket in Schwalbach
Saarland

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,740 

Occupancy rate 100 %

Specialist retail center in Schwandorf
Bavaria

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,346 

Occupancy rate 100%

Shopping center in Seesen
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 8,257 

Occupancy rate 51%

Supermarket in Söhlde
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,710 

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Strullendorf
Bavaria

Usable floor space (in m²) 873 

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Soltau
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 3,600

Occupancy rate 100%

Office and logistics building in Soltau
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 8,430

Occupancy rate 100%

Office building in Uelzen 
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 5,018

Occupancy rate 100%

Supermarket in Teistungen
Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,034 

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Uelzen
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 5,082

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Uelzen
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 2,514

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Salzwedel
Saxony-Anhalt

Usable floor space (in m²) 6,017

Occupancy rate 100%

Supermarket in Ruhla
Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,153 

Occupancy rate 100%

Shopping center in Rastatt
Baden-Württemberg

Usable floor space (in m²) 21,548 

Occupancy rate 79%

Supermarket in Prettin
Saxony-Anhalt

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,046 

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Nienburg
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 3,029

Occupancy rate 100%
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Shopping center in Zeulenroda
Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 4,803 

Occupancy rate 65%

Residential buildings in Weissenfels (3 properties)

Saxony-Anhalt

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,764 

Occupancy rate 55%

Supermarket in Westeregeln
Saxony-Anhalt

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,509 

Occupancy rate 95 %

Specialist retail center in Welzow
Brandenburg

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,553 

Occupancy rate 100%

Shopping center in Wismar
Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania

Usable floor space (in m²) 3,759 

Occupancy rate 54 %

Supermarket in Wittenberge
Brandenburg

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,697 

Occupancy rate 76%

Specialist retail center in Wittingen
Lower Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 4,261

Occupancy rate 100%

Student residence in Bamberg
Bavaria

Project development

Frankenberg
Hesse

Project development

Specialist retail center in Würselen
North Rhine-Westphalia

Usable floor space (in m²) 3,380

Occupancy rate 100%

Logistics property in Zeithain 
Saxony

Usable floor space (in m²) 45,045

Occupancy rate 100%

Shopping center in Zeulenroda
Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 4,803 

Occupancy rate 65%

Monument
Mallorca (Spain)

Project development

Hotel Kitzbühel
Tyrol (Austria)

Hotel

Hotel Il Pelagone
Tuscany (Italy)

Hotel

Trading and  
development 
portfolio

Supermarket in Wasungen
Thuringia

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,064

Occupancy rate 100%

Specialist retail center in Weidenberg
Bavaria

Usable floor space (in m²) 1,719

Occupancy rate 100%
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Developments on the German 
commercial real estate market 

The first quarter of 2020 on the German commercial real es-
tate market essentially passed without noticeable effects from 
the Covid-19 pandemic. According to various market reports 
by leading international brokerages, investors exhibited a ten-
dency towards more cautious activity from the beginning of 
the second quarter of 2020 to the end of the year. 

According to analysis by JLL, almost €81.6 billion moved on 
the German real estate market in 2020. This represents a de-
cline of approximately €10.1 billion compared with 2019. 
While the number of portfolio deals rose, proportion of one-
off deals in particular decreased. According to JLL, investor 
focus in this market remains fixed on the Big 7 locations. In 
2020, nearly 49% of the total transaction volume was traded 
at these locations. In comparison with the 2019 financial year, 
however, this proportion declined while interest in areas out-
side of established investment locations rose by close to 7%.1

According to all sources (CBRE, BNP Paribas, JLL, Colliers), 
the retail segment represents the second strongest asset class 
in the national commercial real estate market. This segment 
accounts for between 13% of market shares as per JLL2 and 
slightly over 20% as stated by CBRE3. When considered as a 
transaction type, portfolio transactions accounted for up to 
67% of total volume for the year 2020 according to BNP Pari-
bas4 and Colliers5. Both BNP Paribas6 and Colliers7 show an in-
crease in the proportion of portfolio transactions on the retail 
investment market of up to 10%. 

Investments in the residential and commercial real estate markets

Investment demand in 2020 was concentrated increasing-
ly on properties that are also able to generate stable cash 
flows during the Covid-19 pandemic and are less affected by 
Covid-related closures. In the commercial real estate market, 
this particularly includes logistics properties, supermarkets 
and office properties with long-term leases.

Real estate market assessment by imtargis GmbH, external real 
estate appraiser for FCR Immobilien AG

Concerning the distribution of German commercial invest-
ments by asset class, BNP Paribas cites office properties as the 
source of the majority for the entire 2020 year at almost 41% 
(previous year 52.7%). The total investment volume amounts 
to roughly €24.7 billion, which corresponds to a total decline 
of almost €14 billion compared with 2019 (€38.7 billion).8 

The second strongest commercial real estate asset class were 
retail properties. With an investment volume of approximately 
€12.3 billion, the proportion of total investment volume for this 
category rose in comparison with the previous year. In total, 
however, the investment volume declined slightly by €0.6 bil-
lion from €12.9 billion in 2019 to roughly €12.3 billion in 2020. 
9 In the current annual review, specialty retail products account-
ed for a large portion of retail investment volume. According to 
BNP Paribas, discounters, supermarkets and specialty retailers 
continued to dominate retail investment in 2020. In total, these 
hold a share of roughly 57% of total volume (2019: 40%). With 
a share of roughly 19%, department stores follow in second 
place. Depending on the property and location, revitalizations 
and conversions are projected for the future. BNP Paribas cites 
commercial buildings and shopping centers as respectively con-
stituting approximately 14% and 11% of total volume.10

Toward the end of 2020, logistics properties take third place in 
the German commercial investment market. According to BNP 
Paribas, this year saw the second highest turnover of all time 
at €7.9 billion, which represents growth of roughly €0.4 billion 
compared with the previous year 2019.

According to JLL, the demand for residential real estate remained 
high in 2020, and the investment volume was again able to rise 
again in comparison with the preceding year. This category’s 
share of total transaction volume (€81.6 million, including Living 
properties from: multiple family dwellings, residential portfolios 
of 10 units, apartment buildings, student residences, clinics and 
nursing properties) grew from 24% to 31%, which represents an 
absolute volume of roughly €25.3 billion. Thus the transaction 
volume in the market segment Living thus rose by ca. €3.3 billion 
compared with the previous year (2019: €22 billion). 

According to BNP Paribas, transaction revenue for hotel in-
vestments lay at €2.2 in the past year. Revenue from hotel real 
estate was reduced by more than half in comparison with the 
record year of 2019. In the previous year, the volume lay at 
roughly €5.0 billion.11, 12 

Industry developments in retail 

Revenue growth in food retail continued without interruption 
in 2020. The Covid-19 pandemic has shown the great impor-
tance of a working local supply for the population. In compar-
ison with 2019, consumer spending in private households in 
the areas of food, drinks and tobacco products rose significant-
ly in the full 2020 year by roughly 5.9% from €242 billon to 
€256 billion.13 Depending on the type of business, various de-
velopment tendencies can be observed despite this increase. 

In the year 2020—similarly to the previous years—the business 
types consumer retailers and drug stores increased in market 
share. Despite positive performance for the year, the opera-
tors of supermarkets, discounters and hypermarkets continued 
their consolidation strategies in many places, optimizing and 
revitalizing their location and branch types. Here the trend 
of downsizing large hypermarkets and transforming them into 
consumer markets continues. At the same time, non-food ten-
ants are then settled in the freed up spaces.

With a market share of over 34% of total food retail space, the 
discounter business type continues to hold first place in the 
German market. Hypermarkets have a share of roughly 12%, 
consumer markets over 26% and drug stores approximately 9%.

According to the Hahn Real Estate Report 2020/2021 and cur-
rent statistical revenue assessment of TextilWirtschaft, reve-
nues in stationary textile retail have been in decline for some 
time now. The reasons for this can especially be found in ris-
ing online earnings in the textile retail segment. The Covid-19 
pandemic has presumably accelerated this development even 
further. In the assessment of TextilWirtschaft, fashion retailers 
in Germany lost roughly a third of their revenues in the pan-
demic-stricken year 2020 (2019: losses of 2.0%).14 Among the 
major textile retailers, however, sales are growing overall due 
to the rising proportion of online business while the number of 
physical stores is tending to decline. Stationary trade remains 
the most important sales channel in shoe retail. Almost 52% of 
shoe sales were generated there. 

Sales for home improvement and garden centers has been on 
the rise for several years. In 2019, total gross revenue lay at 
€19.46 billion. Compared to the previous year, sales rose by 
€600 million, which represents a new growth record. Despite 
Covid-related restrictions, sales of €11.82 billion were already 
recorded for the first half of 2020. The number of stores for 
the top 20 home improvement center chains rose by 21. Total 
retail floor space fell slightly for this period. Overall, a trend 
toward smaller-scale concepts and markets is evident.

Among non-food discounters, developments are positive and 
providers are on a course for growth. Due to the Covid pan-
demic and the associated optimization of locations in other 
industries, non-food discounters were able to open up new 
locations that were previously inaccessible. In particular the 
retailers Tedi, Kodi, Euro Shop, Woolworth and Action showed 
strong expansion in 2020.

Outlook for 2021 

Various market prognoses predict a widespread recovery for 
the German economy by the end of 2021. Especially the in-
crease in investment volume in the area of retail properties 
during 2020, which was so heavily impacted by the pan-
demic, highlights the fact that Germany will continue to be a 
sought-after investment location. Overall, the pandemic is ac-
celerating the existing concentration processes in retail. At the 
same time, the crisis has also shifted the importance of sta-
tionary retail into focus, especially as a source of local supply. 

According to CBRE, it can be assumed that the ongoing lock-
down will continue to affect the retail investment market 
during the first half of 2021. With this in mind, a continuing re-
duction in product selection can be anticipated for 2021, since 
supply, especially among properties characterized by specialty 
retail with a high proportion of food products, will be unable to 
meet demand in many places.15 

Colliers states that the non-food sector specializing in leisure, 
sports and DIY goods can also profit sustainably from the cri-
sis. Thus minimum sales of roughly €10 billion are anticipated 
in the area of retail investment.16

Developments on the German commercial real estate market
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13 https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Wirtschaft/Volkswirtschaftliche-Gesamtrechnungen-Inlandsprodukt/Publikationen/Downloads-Inlandsprodukt/inlandsprodukt-erste-ergeb

 nisse-pdf-2180110.pdf?__blob=publicationFile, published January 2021

14 https://www.textilwirtschaft.de/news/media/19/Umsatzstatistik-2020-188174.pdf, published January 2021 (German)

15 https://www.cbre.us/research-and-reports/Germany-Commercial-Investment-MarketView-H2-2020, published February 2021

16 https://www.colliers.de/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Colliers_Research_Marktbericht_Einzelhandel.pdf (German)
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Commerce 
connects us The markets have 

changed, but the way 

they bring us together remains the same. Seeing, touching, 

trying things on and asking questions in the shop. Interper-

sonal exchange. There’s no substitute. Whether it’s a trip to 

the supermarket for daily needs or the full shopping experi-

ence: Markets are meetingplaces, and they share in making 

communities. The butterfly is a symbol of this transforma-

tion. Why? Because the individual species have found mul-

tifaceted ways to adapt to their environments during every 

phase of development. Yesterday, today and tomorrow.

But the butterfly doesn’t only stand for the transformation 

of the markets—it also stands for the transformation of FCR 

Immobilien AG into a specialized asset manager for German 

commercial real estate. 
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FCR Immobilien AG has recognized the key importance of 

environment, social and governance (ESG) and actively in-

tegrated this into its business operations. In doing so, the 

company gave equal consideration to all three areas, and 

applied them both in-house as well as during real estate 

acquisitions and property management. 

In the area “environment,” FCR Immobilien AG strove for 

sustainable water usage and low CO
2
 emissions and high 

energy efficiency during the past year. As an example, we 

installed facilities for the collection of rainwater for bath-

room use. For our building materials, we turned to regional 

providers in order to cut down on CO
2
 emissions; we used 

state-of-the-art thermal insulation in our buildings and 

installed geothermal and photovoltaic systems wherever 

possible. FCR will outfit over 30 properties with a lockable 

storage system to guarantee efficient pickup and delivery. 

All of our real estate properties have energy certificates. We 

equipped our supermarket parking spaces with solar roofs 

and charging stations for electric vehicles. 

Within our own company, we place great value on environ-

mentally friendly office communication and technology. In 

this light, all of FCR’s daily business this past year was paper-

less thanks to the use of digital alternatives. Our offices use 

energy-saving lighting and the latest technology. We even 

digitalized our communication with employees at external 

locations, and we largely replaced business trips with tele-

phone and video conferences. We are progressively moving 

our company vehicles to electric and hybrid models. 

In the area of “social,” FCR Immobilien AG primarily sup-

ports social causes through the FCR Andrea & Falk Charity 

Foundation e.V. The foundation of FCR founder and CEO Falk 

Raudies and his wife Andrea supports charitable projects, 

such as its current undertaking to build a school in the Bare-

foot Addo Elephant Lodge in South Africa. The FCR Andrea & 

Falk Charity Foundation also actively cooperates with part-

ners and partner organizations like the EAGLE Charity Gold 

Club e.V., the German Youth Arthritis Foundation and the 

Franz Beckenbauer Foundation. Mr. Raudies is also active in 

the EAGLES Business Club, where well-known German per-

sonalities volunteer to help good causes. 

Introducing charitable projects supported by FCR 

Project in South Africa: Building a school

Education is the key to a better future and should obvi-

ously be available to all children. Unfortunately, this is far 

from the case. In South Africa, for example, many children 

in rural areas are not able to attend school, especially due 

to a lack of financial means, but also of the corresponding 

infrastructure. FCR would like to help here, which is why 

we are supporting the construction of the EAGLES Interna-

tional School South Africa. 

The new school will be built in the Barefoot Addo Elephant 

Lodge. The Lodge is located in the Greater Addo region, an 

hour’s drive from the entrance to the well-known Addo Ele-

phant National Park. The important port city Port Elizabeth 

Regional projects

FCR also offers ongoing support for regional projects that 

help people who face health-related or social challenges. This 

was also the case for our latest initiative during Easter 2021, 

which was also overshadowed by the Covid-19 pandemic. 

FCR donated 5,000 FFP2 masks and 50 filled Easter egg bas-

kets to the Isartaler Tisch e.V. charity in Pullach. The Isartaler 

Tisch association organizes the supply of food and daily ne-

cessities for people in the region who live below the poverty 

level. The charity’s goal is providing concrete relief for acute 

need, helping others as equals and maintaining human dignity. 

lies approximately 100 kilometers to the south. Alongside 

construction, FCR also makes sure that the classrooms are 

well-equipped, that the school is able to hire three teach-

ers, and that students and teachers alike have access to the 

necessary materials like schoolbooks, notebooks, and other 

school supplies. FCR, however, is not only a partner for the 

implementation of the initial building project, but has also 

committed to support the subsequent ongoing operation of 

the school. This provides a long-term guarantee that chil-

dren will be able to attend school here and thus profit from 

opportunities to shape their own futures. 

Together with the EAGLES Charity Golf Club e.V., the con-

struction project is also supported by the 1990 world 

champion German soccer team under team manager Franz 

Beckenbauer and captain Lothar Matthäus. During the anni-

versary celebration “Italia Novanta – 30 Years of the World 

Cup Title in Rome” in October 2020 at the Il Pelagone Hotel 

& Golf Resort in Tuscany, the World Cup champions collected 

a €15,000 donation to help build the school in South Africa. 

FCR Immobilien AG fulfills the requirements of a socially re-

sponsible employer internally as well. For example, the com-

pany offers its employees regular training programs, flexible 

hours, modern office equipment and facilities in attractive 

central locations, employee stock ownership options, compa-

ny events and monetary incentives for employee recruiting 

and product or process innovations. FCR Immobilien AG was 

also committed to the responsible treatment of its employees 

during the Covid crisis as well: For example, employees were 

offered the home office option early on and could continue 

regular employment without reduced working hours. Addi-

tionally, we offered fair programs for tenants with rent de-

ferrals and offered rent waivers in exchange for the advance 

extension of lease agreements. 

The FCR business model supports the necessary supply of 

food and basic necessities at secondary locations in Germa-

ny. Thanks to the purchase and subsequent optimization of 

retail properties in B- and C-rated locations, we are able to 

avoid or reduce vacancies and secure the long-term supply 

of daily needs for the local population.

In consideration of the ESG pillar “governance,” FCR Immo-

bilien AG implemented comprehensive risk management 

and quality management systems. In doing so, we strive for 

a high degree of transparency and thus map our core pro-

cesses entirely on the FCR intranet. In order to verify com-

pliance with ESG rules, we hired a Compliance Officer and 

conduct regular internal and external audits and extensive 

due diligence inspections.

At FCR Immobilien AG, we want to proactively help shape 

today’s necessary social change, and with this in mind have 

already successfully implemented numerous activities in 

the sustainability categories environment, social and gover-

nance. Our goal is to continue expanding on these measures 

while also holistically implementing new activities with 

short-, medium-, and long-term effects.

ESG report 2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG

Activities in the field of environment, 
social and governance

In a rural area of South Africa 

FCR is helping to build a new school.

Support for the construction of a school in South Africa: Franz 

Beckenbauer, EAGLES President Frank Fleschenberg, FCR CEO Falk 

Raudies, Lothar Matthäus

Fast help on location: FCR CEO Falk Raudies together with his wife 

Andrea, Heike Burges, Johannes Schuster (both of Isartaler Tisch e.V.)
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Development of the share price
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The FCR Immobilien AG share (WKN A1YC91, ISIN 

DE000A1YC913) has been listed on the regular market 

(General Standard) since October 30, 2020. With this shift 

from the previous Scale segment, FCR Immobilien AG aims 

to open the possibility of investing in its share to a larger 

number of investors. The share’s listing in m:access on the 

Munich Stock Exchange also remains unchanged. 

The effects of the significant price decline in international 

stock markets due to the spread of the Covid-19 pandemic 

in spring 2020 were also felt by the FCR share: A few days 

after reaching its annual peak at a Xetra closing price of 

€13.50, the share’s value declined sharply. It hit its lowest 

point for the year on March 23, 2020 at the Xetra clos-

ing price of €9.10. At the end of 2020, the stock exited 

trading with a Xetra closing price of €12.40. Ultimately, 

the FCR share ended the year 2020 with gains of 4.2%. 

Added to this is the dividend of €0.30 per share that was 

resolved by the Annual General Meeting on May 28, 2020. 

The FCR share was thus able to develop better than Ger-

many’s leading DAX exchange, which recorded an annual 

increase of 3.5%. The FTSE EPRA Nareit Germany Index, 

which encompasses listed real estate companies in Germa-

ny, increased by 11.3% during the reporting period.

An average of 3,647 FCR shares per trading day were trad-

ed across all exchanges in total, with Xetra, the electronic 

trading segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, account-

ing for 68% of revenue. 

General Meeting

The General Meeting of FCR Immobilien AG was conducted 

on May 28, 2020. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Gen-

eral Meeting was held online for the first time. All items on 

the agenda were approved by more than 99% of the votes. 

These also include the payment of a dividend of €0.30 per 

share. This move was aimed at enabling shareholders to 

also profit directly from the company’s strong business de-

velopment in 2019. 

Research

The independent research agencies Alster Research and 

SMC Research published analyses of the FCR share during 

the financial year. On November 24, 2020, Alster Research 

set a target price of €14.80 and recommended buying the 

share. SMC Research published and analysis on March 3, 

The company provides information about current business 

developments and publishes its Semi-annual and Annual 

Reports in the Investor Relations Center available on the 

company’s website at https://fcr-immobilien.de/. The suc-

cessful investor relations work of FCR Immobilien AG is 

supported by Frankfurt-based investor relations consul-

tancy edicto GmbH.

2020 with a target price of €14.40. Its assessment was 

also “buy.” Edison Investment Research also reported on 

the FCR Immobilien AG share.

Bonds

In March 2020, FCR Immobilien AG began issuing the new 

2020/25 bond (WKN A254TQ, ISIN DE000A254TQ9). After 

the subscription phase, the bond was issued throughout the 

year in a private placement. FCR Immobilien AG did not in-

volve a bank in issuing the bond, which reduced the compa-

ny’s placement costs. The interest coupon amounts to 4.25%. 

The bond features quarterly interest payment and has been 

listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange since March 27, 2020. 

The funds flowing from the issue are intended to be used for 

the expansion of the company’s real estate portfolio. Howev-

er, these only represent one building block in total real estate 

financing, in which FCR Immobilien AG flexibly uses various 

financing options depending on the individual case. The price 

of the bond as of December 30, 2020 lay at 99%.

Furthermore, the three previously issued FCR corporate 

bonds are still listed on the exchange. The 2019/2024 cor-

porate bond (WKN A2TSB1) with a volume of €30 million 

and an interest coupon of 5.25% was listed at 97% at the end 

of the year. The 2018/2023 corporate bond (WKN A2G9G6) 

with a volume of €25 million and an interest coupon of 6.0% 

exited trading at a price of 98.50% on the last trading day of 

2020. The 2016/2021 corporate bond (WKN A2BPUC) with 

a total volume of €15 million and an interest coupon of 7.1% 

was listed at 101.00% at the end of the year. 

Communication

FCR Immobilien AG places great value on transparent and 

comprehensive communication with the capital market, 

which is further reflected by the shift to General Standard. 

In the 2020 financial year, FCR Immobilien AG again partic-

ipated in several capital market conferences and informed 

the financial community about the company’s current 

course of development and future outlook. This also in-

cluded the German Equity Forum in November. Due to the 

Covid-19 pandemic, the capital market conferences took 

place virtually this year. The Executive Board of FCR Im-

mobilien AG also had many conversations with investors 

and journalists, which were also primarily virtual. Contact 

with journalists, investors and analysts should also be 

maintained and further intensified in the future. 

FCR Immobilien AG on the capital market

Key data on the FCR Immobilien share

WKN / ISIN:  A1YC91/ DE000A1YC913

Stock exchange symbol: FC9

Share type: No-par ordinary shares

Share capital: €9,146,404.00

Market capitalization: €111 million

Exchange:  Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Also traded on: Xetra; m:access of the Munich Stock Exchange

Transparency level: General Standard (regulated market)

Designated sponsor: Baader Bank AG, BankM AG

2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG

FCR Immobilien AG on the capital market

January to December 2020
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Performance of the 2019/2024 corporate bond
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Key data for the 2020/2025 bond

WKN/ISIN: A254TQ / DE000A254TQ9

Issue volume (€): Max. 30 million

Denomination (€): 1,000.00 

Maturity: 5 years (ending March 31, 2025)

Interest coupon: 4.25% p.a.

Issue price: 100.00% of the nominal amount per bond

Repayment amount: 100.00%

Interest payment: quarterly

First interest payment: July 01, 2020

Due date: April 01, 2025

Listing: Open market (regulated unofficial market), Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Paying agency: Bankhaus Gebr. Martin AG

Purpose: Investment-related, expansion of real estate portfolio

Collateral security: Unregistered land charges (via trustee)

Key data for the 2019/2024 bond

WKN/ISIN: A2TSB1/DE000A2TSB16

Issue volume (€): Max. 30 million, fully placed

Denomination (€): 1,000.00 

Maturity 5 years (ending April 29, 2024)

Interest coupon: 5.25% p.a.

Issue price: 100.00% of the nominal amount per bond

Repayment amount: 100.00%

Interest payment: semiannual

First interest payment: October 30, 2019

Due date: April 29, 2024

Listing: Open market (regulated unofficial market), Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Paying agency: Bankhaus Gebr. Martin AG

Purpose: Investment-related, expansion of real estate portfolio

Collateral security: Unregistered land charges (via trustee)

FCR Immobilien AG on the capital market

Performance of the 2020/2025 corporate bond:
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Performance of the 2016/2021 corporate bond:
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Performance of the 2018/2023 corporate bond:

104

100

96

92

88

84

80

76

72

Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May Jun. Jul. Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec.

FCR Immobilien AG on the capital market

Key data for the 2018/2023 bond

WKN/ISIN: A2G9G6 / DE000A2G9G64

Issue volume (€): Max. 25 million, fully placed

Denomination (€): 1,000.00 

Maturity: 5 years (ending February 20, 2023)

Interest coupon: 6.0% p.a.

Issue price: 100.00% of the nominal amount per bond

Repayment amount: 100.00%

Interest payment: semiannual

First interest payment: August 20, 2018

Due date: February 20, 2023

Listing: Open market (regulated unofficial market), Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Paying agency: Baader Bank AG

Purpose: Investment-related, expansion of real estate portfolio

Collateral security: Unregistered land charges (via trustee)

Key data for the 2016/2021 bond

WKN/ISIN: A2BPUC/ DE000A2BPUC4

Issue volume (€): Max. 15 million, fully placed

Denomination (€): 1,000.00

Maturity: 5 years (ending October 18, 2021)

Interest coupon: 7.1% p.a.

Issue price: 100.00% of the nominal amount per bond

Repayment amount: 100.00%

Interest payment: annual

First interest payment: October 18, 2016

Due date: October 18, 2021

Listing: Open market (regulated unofficial market), Frankfurt Stock Exchange

Paying agency: Baader Bank AG

Purpose: Investment-related, expansion of real estate portfolio

Collateral security: Unregistered land charges (via trustee)

2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG
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2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AGConsolidated Financial Statements of FCR Immobilien AG

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

in EUR Notes no. Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

A. Non-current assets

 Intangible assets 4.1.1 1,499,538.49 197,114.77

	 Properties	held	as	financial	investments 4.1.2 314,538,108.00 298,985,902.57

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment 4.1.3 845,712.00 848,752.67

	 Investments 4.1.4 5,762,500.00 0.00

	 Long-term	and	other	lendings 4.1.5 188,104.00 194,868.00

Total non-current assets 322,833,962.49 300,226,638.01

B. Current assets

	 Inventories 4.2 4,220,765.17 1,866,886.00

	 Financial	instruments	available	for	sale	on	short	notice 4.3 3,116,056.64 970,478.24

	 Trade	receivables 4.4 5,152,194.81 9,651,381.57

	 Receivables	from	affiliated	companies 4.4 517,152.14 2,973,487.62

	 Other	current	assets 4.4 7,101,580.10 1,840,264.87

	 Tax	claims	with	short	maturities 4.6 103,846.76 311,791.60

	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents 4.7 5,605,315.92 9,142,565.23

Total current assets 25,816,911.54 26,756,855.13

Total assets 348,650,874.03 326,983,493.15

in EUR Notes no. Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

A. Equity

	 Subscribed	capital 5.1.1 9,146,404.00 9,146,404.00

	 Capital	reserve 5.1.2 5,763,920.41 5,763,920.41

	 Other	reserves 5.1.3 278,915.16 278,915.16

 Retained earnings 5.1.4 77,243,138.93 70,432,798.05

Total equity 92,432,378.50 85,622,037.62

B. Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

	 Non-current	deferred	tax	liabilities 6.10 15,588,604.21 14,449,847.97

	 Non-current	provisions 5.3 0.00 5,000.00

	 Non-current	bonds 5.2 55,021,354.62 66,643,441.67

	 Non-current	bank	loans 5.2 156,098,717.79 144,886,966.94

Total non-current liabilities 226,708,676.62 225,985,256.58

Current liabilities

	 Current	provisions 5.3 731,525.71 1,124,532.90

	 Ongoing	income	tax	liabilities 700,766.31 2,184,093.35

 Current bonds 5.2 14,960,751.74 0.00

	 Current	bank	loans 5.2 9,568,092.84 7,424,855.81

	 Prepayments	received 81,217.03 166,144.36

 Trade liabilities 5.4 1,491,290.74 2,172,088.59

	 Other	current	liabilities 5.4 1,976,174.54 2,304,483.94

Total current liabilities 29,509,818.91 15,376,198.95

Total equity and liabilities 348,650,874.03 326,983,493.15

Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	
as	of	December	31,	2020
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Consolidated Financial Statements of FCR Immobilien AG

in EUR Notes no. Jan. 01 - Dec. 31, 2020 Jan. 01 - Dec. 31, 2019

Revenues 6.1 26,562,529 21,645,390

Revenues	from	the	sale	of	properties	held	as	financial	investments 6.1 12,350,000 28,025,000

Portfolio	movements 6.2 172,070 451,860

Other	capitalized	personal	contributions 6.3 863,540 0

Other	operational	income 6.4 2,166,828 2,174,046

Proceeds	from	initial	consolidation	or	deconsolidation	of	subsidiaries 5,064 0

Total turnover and operating income 42,120,031 52,296,296

Cost	of	materials 6.5 -6,601,935 -7,740,822

Expenses	for	purchased	services -95,746 -197,542

Expenses	from	the	disposal	of	properties	held	as	financial	investments 4.1.2 -10,879,984 -27,868,207

Personnel expenses 6.6 -4,700,625 -6,550,675

Change	in	the	value	of	properties	held	as	financial	investments 4.1.2 795,874 13,673,540

Other operational expenses 6.7 -5,455,906 -5,132,082

Impairment	of	trade	receivables	and	contractual	assets -344,716 -10,423

Income	from	participating	interests 810 93

EBITDA 14,837,803 18,470,177

Amortization	and	impairment	of	other	intangible	assets	and	property,	

plant	and	equipment
6.8 -415,906 -360,915

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 14,421,897 18,109,262

Earnings	from	financial	activities 6.9 468,828 730,115

Fair	value	reversal	of	impairment	losses	from	investments 6.9 3,762,500 0

Expenses	from	financial	activities 6.9 -7,146,613 -6,903,976

Earnings before tax (EBT) 11,506,612 11,935,402

Taxes	on	income	and	earnings 6.10 -1,945,888 -2,185,892

Consolidated earnings after taxes 9,560,724 9,749,509

Total earnings in the reporting period 9,560,724 9,749,509

Of	which	attributable	to:

Quota attributable to the shareholders of FCR Immobilien AG 9,560,724 9,749,509

Earnings per share (undiluted) based on 6.11 9,560,724 9,749,509

Shares	issued	(weighted	for	changes	in	capital) 9,146,404 6,682,996

Earnings per share (undiluted) 1.05 1.46

The	reader	is	referred	to	the	supplementary	explanations	in	the	Notes	to	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.

Consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income	
for	the	period	January	1	to	December	31,	2020



2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AG

47  

General disclosures

FCR Immobilien AG (referred to as FCR AG, FCR of the Group hereafter) is a listed corporation limited by shares under Ger-

man law. The registered office of the company is in 82049 Pullach im Isartal, Germany (Munich Local Court, HRB 210430). 

The registered business address is in Paul-Heyse-Strasse 28, 80336 Munich, Germany. The shares of FCR Immobilien AG 

have been listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange since November 07, 2018 and are also listed in m:access on the Munich 

Stock Exchange. Since October 30, 2020, the FCR share has been listed—after a segment upgrade—on the regulated market, 

General Standard, of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. As of the balance sheet date, the company is listed in the regulated 

market, General Standard, of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under identification number ISIN DE000A1YC913 and securities 

identification number A1YC91.

Nature of Business – In financial year 2020, FCR further streamlined its business strategy. As a result, the clear focus of 

business activities is on holding real estate, i.e. the existing portfolio. Continuous portfolio development is an integral part 

of portfolio management. The steady expansion of stable rental income is thus at the core of FCR’s business policy. This core 

business is supplemented by the so-called trading and development portfolio. This portfolio includes trading and develop-

ment properties (hotels and project developments) that will be sold in full in financial year 2021. As a result, FCR will be 

able to fully complete the transformation process initiated in 2020 and position itself purely as a portfolio holder in 2021.

As part of its business and growth strategy as a portfolio holder, FCR is primarily focusing on penetrating the German mar-

ket in the core asset class retail, with a focus on supermarkets, specialist stores, local suppliers and drugstores. Thus, FCR’s 

real estate portfolio is also characterized by anchor tenants with strong credit ratings who are predominantly operating 

in the food sector. In order to qualitatively and quantitatively expand the real estate portfolio, which is also significantly 

supported by ongoing measures in the area of digitalization, corresponding purchases are also made in the asset classes 

office, logistics and residential. 

The Group had an average of 95 employees (previous year: 127) (FTE) throughout the year.

1  Fundamental information about preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements

As of December 31, 2020, RAT Asset & Trading AG, Pullach i. Isartal, (parent company as defined in Section 285 No. 14 HGB) 

held 49.43% (previous year: 66.1%) and CM Center Management GmbH held 17.74% (previous year: 0%) of the shares in FCR 

Immobilien AG.

FCR Immobilien AG prepares the consolidated financial statements for the largest and smallest group of companies.

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2020, prepared by the parent company FCR Immobilien AG, 

have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter IFRS), as adopted by the 

EU and in compliance with the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB. All 

mandatory rules published by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and endorsed by the EU, i.e. published 

in the EU Official Journal, by the balance sheet date were applied in the preparation.

IFRS – Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2020 
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The consolidated financial statements are generally prepared using the amortized cost method. This particularly excludes 

investment properties, which are measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of FCR Immobilien AG and its subsidiaries as of 

December 31 of each financial year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using uniform accounting 

and measurement methods as of the same balance sheet date as the financial statements of the parent company.

The Statement of Financial Position is oriented by the maturity of the respective assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities 

are considered current of their realization or repayment is expected within the ordinary course of the Group’s business. 

The total cost method was applied in the preparation of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income was also prepared on the basis of the total cost method. The finan-

cial year of FCR Immobilien AG and the companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements is the calendar year. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements are denominated in Europe because all transactions conducted within the Group 

were denominated in this currency and the euro thus represents the functional currency used by the Group. Unless stated 

differently, all amounts are stated in thousand Euro (€ thousand). We note that the commercial rounding of amounts and 

percentages may result in differences in some of the data presented in tables. This also concerns the total and subtotal 

amounts presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The reporting for financial year 2020 applies the mandatory standards and portrays a net asset, financial and earnings 

position that reflects the actual circumstances.

Rounding may cause amounts that should be identical to deviate slightly.

1.1	 Accounting	standards	to	be	applied	for	the	first	time	in	the	financial	year	

At the time these Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared, the following new and changed standards and inter-

pretations must be applied for the first time in the reporting year:

Standard Title

Framework Amendments to the Framework

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Materiality

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform”

The standards or interpretations to be applied for the first time as of January 1, 2020 had no impact on the consolidated 

financial statements.

1.2	 New	accounting	standards	to	be	applied	in	future	financial	years

The following standards, changes of standards and interpretations had already been published by the IASB at the time the 

Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared, but only become applicable in later reporting periods and the Group 

does not apply them ahead of their respective effective dates:

Standard Title
Date of initial 

application
Intended initial 

application

Endorsed

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases – Deferral of Leases due to Covid-19 Jun. 01, 2020 Jan. 01, 2021

Endorsement pending

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts Jan. 01, 2021 Jan. 01, 2021

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of liabilities Jan. 01, 2022 Jan. 01, 2022

Amendments to IFRS 3, 

IAS 16, IAS 37 

Business Combinations, Property, Plant and Equipment, 

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Jan. 01, 2022 Jan. 01, 2022

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance contracts Jan. 01, 2020

Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

“Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2” Jan. 01, 2020

FCR does not expect the new published standards and interpretations to have a material impact on its financial statements.
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2 Scope and methods of consolidation

2.1 Scope of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of FCR AG include the financial statements of the parent company and the financial 

statements of the companies controlled by the parent company (its subsidiaries). The Company gains control if

• it has the power to dispose over the company in which it holds an interest

• its own return depends on the performance of the company in which it holds an interest

• its power to dispose allows it to influence the amount of the return

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls a company in which it holds an interest if there are facts or circum-

stances that point to a change in one or a number of the three criteria determining control stated above.

A subsidiary is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the point in time at which the Company gains control 

over the subsidiary until the point in time at which the Company’s control over it ends. The results of the subsidiaries acquired 

or disposed over the course of the year are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and the other 

consolidated earnings after taxes beginning on the actual acquisition date, or respectively until the actual disposal date.

The consolidation fully eliminates all intragroup assets, liabilities, equity positions, earnings, expenses and cash flows as-

sociated with transactions between group companies.

All companies included in the consolidated financial statements of FCR AG are specified in the list of shareholdings under 

other disclosures [see: 8.10 Shareholdings pursuant to Section 313 (2) in conjunction with Section 285 No. 11 of the Ger-

man Commercial Code (HGB)]. All subsidiaries listed in the table make use of the simplification rule provided for in Section 

264 (3) German Commercial Code. The business partnerships also listed in the table of participating interests make use of 

the simplification rule provided for in Section 264b German Commercial Code.

In addition to the parent company, the scope of consolidation includes 97 (2019: 99) subsidiaries. They have been included 

in the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with the full consolidation rules.

The balance sheet dates of the subsidiaries included in the Consolidated Financial Statements are identical to the balance 

sheet date of the parent company. The financial statements are prepared on the basis of uniform accounting and measure-

ment principles.

As of the balance sheet date, one (2019: none) company is not included in the scope of consolidation because it has only 

minor or no business operations and is thus of minor importance for the Group and for the presentation of a true and fair 

view of the net asset, financial and earnings position. 

Acquisitions and disposals of companies

The number of group companies that are fully consolidated in the Consolidated Financial Statements has developed as 

follows in the reporting period:

2019 2020

as	of	January	1 64 99

Acquisitions 0 0

New company formations 34 4

Deconsolidated 0 1

Initial consolidations 4 0

Associated companies 3 8

Companies sold 0 1

as of 12/31 99 93

We refer the reader to the explanations set out below.

Transactions of a material nature for the Group are explained under acquisitions and disposals of companies below.

New company formations or initial consolidations 

In the following table, the companies' registered office is located in Pullach and the capital contribution is €100 in each case. 

The general partner of the limited partnerships (a GmbH & Co. KG under German law) presented below is in each case FCR 

Verwaltungs GmbH, which is part of the consolidation scope. The voting rights and capital share held by FCR Immobilien 

AG and FCR Verwaltungs GmbH each amount to 100%.

All companies included in the financial statements were fully consolidated. 

In financial year 2020, all companies, including those of minor importance, were included in the consolidated financial 

statements. The only exception is FCR Fieberbrunn GmbH & Co. KG, which was removed from the scope of consolidation as 

of January 1, 2020, due to its subordinate role.

The following companies were newly established in financial year 2020:

Company

FCR Eilenburg GmbH & Co. KG FCR Walsrode GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Ludwigslust GmbH & Co. KG FCR Westeregeln GmbH & Co. KG
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Acquisition of subsidiaries

General	information

The companies are, as a general rule, established as limited partnerships (a GmbH & Co. KG under German law) with a lim-

ited liability company as the limited partner. The shares are generally held by a company of the FCR Group. Following the 

company formation, the newly established company then acquires the assets (properties).

Intragroup accrual

The sale of a property held in a limited partnership (GmbH & Co. KG) results in FCR Immobilien AG relinquishing its role as 

the general partner and the company accruing to FCR Verwaltungs AG.

The following companies accrued to FCR Verwaltungs GmbH in 2020:

Company

FCR Aue GmbH & Co. KG FCR Hof GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Brandis GmbH & Co. KG * FCR Lichtentanne GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Duisburg GmbH & Co. KG * FCR Pössneck GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Freital GmbH & Co. KG * FCR Stuhr GmbH & Co. KG

* Sale of real estate as of December 31, 2019, accrual occurred as of January 1, 2020.

Overview of fully consolidated subsidiaries

Voting shares

Name Registered	office Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Subscribed 

capital/share 

capital

Il Pelagone s.r.l. Gavorrano, Italy 100% 100% 10,200,000

FCR Pelagone GmbH & Co. KG Kitzbühel, Austria 100% 100% 1,000

FCR Aken GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Altena GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Aschersleben GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Aue GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany - 100% 100

FCR Bad Kissingen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Bamberg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Bergisch Gladbach GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Bottrop GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Brandenburg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Brandis GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany - 100% 100

Voting shares

Name Registered	office Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Subscribed 

capital/share 

capital

FCR Brandenburg Logistik GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Bremervörde GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Buchholz GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Burg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Bückeburg 2 GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Cadolzburg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Cloppenburg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Cottbus GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Datteln GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Duisburg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany - 100% 100

FCR Duisburg 2 GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Ehrenfriedersdorf GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Eilenburg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% - 100

FCR Freital GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany - 100% 100

FCR Fieberbrunn GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100%* 100% 1,000

FCR Gera AMTP GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Gera BIBC GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Glückstadt GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Grimmen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Gronau GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Guben GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Gummersbach GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Gummersbach 2 GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Görlitz GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Görlitz Hugo-Meyer GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Hagen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Hagen 2 GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Hambühren GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Hamm GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Hennef GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Herford GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Hof GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany - 100% 100
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Voting shares

Name Registered	office Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Subscribed 

capital/share 

capital

FCR Höchstadt GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Jüterbog GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Kaiserslautern GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Kaltennordheim GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Kitzbühel GmbH & Co. KG Kitzbühel, Austria 100% 100% 1,000

FCR Köpenick GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Landau GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Lichtentanne GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany - 100% 100

FCR Ludwigslust GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% - 100

FCR Magdala GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Magdeburg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Meerane GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Monument Investment S.L. Balearic Islands, Spain 100% 100% 100,000

FCR Munster GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Neumünster GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Neustrelitz GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Nienburg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Prettin GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Pössneck GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany - 100% 100

FCR Pulsnitz GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Rastatt GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Ruhla GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Salzwedel GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Schesslitz GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Schleiz GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Schwalbach GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Schwandorf GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Seesen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Söhlde GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Soltau GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Soltau Zentrallager GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Stendal GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

Voting shares

Name Registered	office Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Subscribed 

capital/share 

capital

FCR Strullendorf GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Stuhr GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany - 100% 100

FCR Teistungen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Uelzen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Uelzen Office GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Wasungen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Walsrode GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% - 100

FCR Weidenberg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Weissenfels GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Welzow GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Westerburg GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 5.1% 100% 100

FCR Westeregeln GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% - 100

FCR Wismar 2 GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Wittenberge GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Wittingen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Würselen GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Wohnen Alpha GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Wohnen Beta GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Wohnen Gamma GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Wohnen Delta GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Zeithain GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Zerbst GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Zeulenroda GmbH & Co. KG Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 100

FCR Innovation GmbH Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 25,000

FCR Service GmbH Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 25,000

FCR Verwaltungs GmbH Pullach, Germany 100% 100% 25,000

* 100% subsidiary, but not included in the Group in financial year 2020 due to immateriality.

2.2 Capital consolidation through full consolidation

All subsidiaries are fully consolidated in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The accounting of the acquired subsidiaries 

followed the acquisition method pursuant to IFRS 3.
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According to the acquisition methods, the return consideration in a corporate merger is measured at its attributable fair 

value. This is derived from the total of the attributable fair values of the transferred assets at the acquisition date, the 

liabilities assumed by the former owners of the acquired company, and the equity instruments issued by the Group in ex-

change against control over the acquired company. Transaction costs associated with the corporate merger are recognized 

through profit or loss at the time they are incurred. 

A subsidiary is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the point in time at which the Company gains con-

trol over the subsidiary until the point in time at which the Company's ceases control over the subsidiary. The acquisition 

costs are comprised of the funds used for the acquisition. The goodwill results as the surplus of the total amount of the 

return consideration paid and the amount of all non-controlling shares in the acquired company that exceeds the balance 

of the determined attributable fair values of the identifiable assets and absorbed liabilities as of the acquisition date. In the 

event this results - including after a reassessment - in a negative difference, the difference is recognized immediately as 

income through profit or loss. The profit or loss and all components of the other comprehensive income must be allocated 

to the shareholders of the parent company rather than the non-controlling shareholders. This must be observed even the 

result is a negative balance for the non-controlling shareholders. As of the balance sheet dates on December 31, 2019 and 

December 31, 2020, FCR Group did not have any non-controlling shareholders.

2.3	 Consolidation	of	liabilities,	expenses	and	income	and	elimination	of	interim	results

Intragroup balances, transactions, profits and expenses of companies that are fully consolidated in the Consolidated Fi-

nancial Statements are eliminated completely. Deferred tax items are formed for temporal differences resulting from the 

elimination of profits and losses attributable to intragroup transactions.

2.4	 Currency	translation

Business transactions in foreign currency are translated at the relevant currency exchange rates prevailing at the transac-

tion date. The monetary assets and liabilities are measured at their balances on the balance sheet date and the resulting 

currency translation differences are recognized through profit or loss. Non-monetary items are measured at historical 

acquisition and production costs in foreign currency and translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date.

No material business transactions denominated in foreign currency occurred during the presented reporting periods.

3  Summary of essential accounting and measurement methods

3.1 Principle

The individual financial statements included in the Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared on the basis of uniform 

accounting and measurement principles. The accounting and measurement principles used to prepare the Consolidated Fi-

nancial Statements are presented in the following. Additional information on selected items of the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of financial position together with corresponding figures can be 

found in the explanations presented below. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in observance of the go-

ing-concern principle and under application of the acquisition cost principle (with the particular exemption of the revaluation 

of properties held as financial investments, which are measures at their attributable fair value using the revaluation method).

3.2 Attributable fair value

The attributable fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid for the assignment of a 

liability in a ordinary business transaction between market participants. This applies independent of whether the price was 

directly observable or estimated using a measurement method.

In determining the attributable fair value of an asset or liability, the Group considers certain characteristics of the asset or 

liability (e.g. the condition and location of the asset or restrictions on its use and resale) in cases where market participants 

would also give consideration to these characteristics in determining the price for the acquisition of the respective asset 

or assignment of the respective liability on the balance sheet date. In the present Consolidated Financial Statements, the 

attributable fair value adopted in measurements and/or mandatory disclosures is generally determined on this basis. The 

following are exempt from this rule:

• Share-based payments within the scope of IFRS 2,

• Leasing transactions recognized in accordance with IFRS 16, and

• Measurement methods similar but not identical to the attributable fair value, 

 e.g. net disposal value pursuant to IAS 2 or value-in-use pursuant to IAS 36. 

The attributable fair value is not always available as a market price. It must frequently be determined on the basis of a 

number of different measurement parameters. Depending on the availability of observable parameters and the signifi-

cance of these parameters for determining the fair value as a whole, the attributable fair value is categorized as level 1, 2 

or 3. The categorization observes following: 

•  Level 1 input parameters are listed prices (unadjusted) on active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are avail-

able to the company on the measurement date.

•  Level 2 input parameters are input parameters that are different from the listed prices contained in level 1 and that are 

directly observable for the asset or the liability, or that can be derived indirectly from other prices.

• Level 3 input parameters are parameters that are not observable for the asset or liability.
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3.3	 Equity	instrument

An equity instrument is a contract that constitutes a residual claim to a company's assets after deduction of all associated 

liabilities. Equity instruments are recognized at the issue proceeds received less directly attributable issue costs. Issue 

costs are costs that would not have been incurred without the issue of the equally instrument. 

Repurchases of own equity instruments are directly deducted from the equity balance. Purchases, sales, issues or cancella-

tions of own equity instruments are not recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Debt and equity instrument issued by a group company are classified as financial liabilities or equity in accordance with 

the commercial substance of the contractual agreement and the definitions.

3.4 Revenue recognition and disclosure

IFRS 15 states that revenues must be recognized in the amount of the return consideration a company can ordinarily expect 

to receive in return for the transfer of goods or services to a customer. The customer gains control either at a certain point 

in time or within a certain period of time. In the case of property sales conducted by FCR AG, control transfers at a certain 

point in time. The revenue is measured on the basis of the return consideration provided for in a contract with a customer.

The probability of deriving future economic benefit and the reliable quantification of the proceeds are essential prerequisites 

for the realization of profits from the sale of properties. In addition, the essential opportunities and risks associated with 

ownership of the assets must transfer to the purchaser, the legal or factual control over the assets must be relinquished and 

it must be possible to reliably determine the expenses already incurred for the sale or to be incurred in the future.

In the property rental and hotel operations business, proceeds are usually realized after the performance has been ren-

dered. The reader is referred to the information in point 6 .1 with respect to the accounting and measurement methods 

under IFRS 15.

3.5	 Realization	of	other	income	and	interest	income

Other income is recognized in accordance with its realization. Interest income is recognized in accordance with the effec-

tive interest method.

3.6 Realization of expenses and interest expense

Expenses are recognized at the time a performance is utilized or at the time they are incurred. Interest expenses are rec-

ognized in accordance with the effective interest method.

3.7 Intangible assets

Intangible assets and software are recognized at their acquisition costs at the time they are acquired. In subsequent peri-

ods, they are measured at their acquisition costs less accumulative scheduled amortization and any relevant impairments.

The acquisition costs include the directly attributable purchase and delivery costs.

Production costs comprises the costs incurred to get the intangible asset ready for use.

Scheduled amortization is applied using the straight line method. Amortization commences as soon as the asset is ready for 

use and ends upon expiry of the useful economic life or disposal of the asset. The amortization period is determined by the 

expected useful economic life. Purchased software is amortized over a period of three to six years. Other intangible assets 

are amortized over a period of three to seven years using the straight line method. The internally generated intranet is amor-

tized over 10 years. Amortization begins when the intranet is put into operation, after the testing phase has been completed.

The amortization on intangible assets is combined with the amortization on property, plant and equipment and recognized 

in the item amortization, depreciation and impairment of assets in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Research costs are expensed in full as incurred. Development costs for internally generated intangible assets are recog-

nized as assets if they meet the recognition criteria of IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”, section 57.

For further information, we refer the reader to the deliberations in item 4.1.1 under the heading “Intangible assets”.

3.8	 Properties	held	as	financial	investments	(investment	property)

The qualification of properties as financial investments is based on a corresponding management resolution to use these 

properties for the generation of rental income and to realize their potential for rental increases over an extended period 

of time as well as resulting increases in value. The hotel buildings held by the company are also intended to be held for 

value appreciation in order to sell them at a profit at a later point in time. 

Properties held as financial investments are initially recognized at their value measured at acquisition or production costs. 

In subsequent periods, they are measured at attributable fair values that reflect the market conditions on the balance 

sheet date. A profit or loss from a change in the attributable fear values is recognized through profit or loss. Subsequent 

expenses for the extension and redevelopment of the properties are recognized in as far as they contribute to an increase 

in the property's attributable fair value. The value measurement also considers the best-possible use of the respective 

property. Changes in the use of a property are considered in the value measurement in as far as they are technically and 

financially feasible and legally permitted.

The value of properties held as financial investments is measured on an annual basis. If there are significant changes to 

the relevant input factors on the balance sheet date, the values are adjusted accordingly. The attributable fair value of 

properties held as financial investments is determined on the basis of reports prepared by independent external expert 

values using recognized valuation methods. The contracted independent expert valuers possess the necessary profession-

al qualifications and experience required to carry out the valuation. The valuation reports are essentially based on the 

information made available by the company, such as current rents, maintenance and administrative expenses or currently 

vacant space, as well as assumptions made by the expert on the basis of market data and evaluated on the basis of the 

valuer's professional qualifications, e.g. future market rents, typical maintenance and administration expenses, structural 

vacancy rates or discount and capitalization interest rates.

The Executive Board analyzes the information made available to the expert valuer, the assumptions made and the results 

of the property valuation before being considered in the valuation.
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All properties held by the Group as financial investments are leased or generate revenues from hotel operations, food & 

beverage and other hotel-related services. 

If there is certainty on the balance sheet date that a property classified as an investment property will be sold, based on 

a letter of intent to purchase or signed purchase contract with settlement after the balance sheet date, the property will 

be recognized in the item Inventories. 

Valuation	of	investment	property	held	for	sale

FCR accounts for investment properties as assets held for sale when notarized purchase agreements are in place at the 

balance sheet date, but the transfer of ownership occurs later. Properties held for sale are measured at fair value.

3.9	 Business	and	office	equipment

Business and office equipment is recognized on the acquisition date at their acquisition or production costs. In subsequent 

periods, they are measured at their acquisition or production costs less accumulative scheduled amortization and any 

relevant impairments.

The acquisition costs include the directly attributable purchase and delivery costs.

Scheduled amortization is applied using the straight line method. Amortization commences as soon as the asset is ready 

for use and ends upon the disposal of the asset. The amortization period is determined by the expected useful economic 

life. Business and office equipment is amortized over a period of three to 13 years. Assets of a low value are fully written 

off in the year of their acquisition.

3.10	 Investments

Investments include shares in companies in which FCR cannot exercise significant influence. They are measured at fair 

value. In this context, the changes in value are presented in full in the profit or loss for the period (at fair value through 

profit or loss, FVTPL) under the financial result as “Fair value reversal of impairment losses from investments”. The option 

under IFRS 9 to recognize income and expenses in other comprehensive income (at fair value through other comprehensive 

income, FVTOCI) has been waived.

3.11	 Impairment	of	assets

Impairment testing is carried out for intangible assets with a limited useful economic life. It is carried out for property 

plant and equipment if there is concrete reason. An impairment is recognized through profit or loss in as far as the asset's 

recoverable amount is lower than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is generally determined separately for each 

asset. If this is not possible, it is determined the basis of a group of assets that generate independent cash flows. The recov-

erable amount is the higher amount of the attributable fair value less disposal costs and the value-in-use. All impairments 

are immediately recognized through profit or loss. If the reason for an impairment recognized in previous years no longer 

applies, an impairment reversal up to the amount of the amortized acquisition costs will be recognized.

3.12 Inventories

The item inventory is recognizes CAM for leased properties that remain unbilled on the balance sheet date, as well as 

assets acquired for resale.

3.13 Financial assets

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset in one company and a financial instrument or equity 

instrument in another company. A market-standard purchase or sale of financial assets is recognized on the trading date, 

i.e. the day on which the Group enters into a contract to purchase or sell the asset. Financial instruments are initially mea-

sured at their attributable fair value. In as far as subsequent measurements do not recognize the financial instrument at its 

attributable fair value through profit or loss, the transaction costs must also be taken into account.

The attributable fair value is determined in accordance with the following measurement levels:

Level 1: prices listed on active markets for identical assets or liabilities (adopted unchanged)

Level 2: Input factors that are not listed prices in the meaning of level 1 above, but that are directly or indirectly (i.e. derived 

from prices) observable for the asset or liability

Level 3: factors for the measurement of the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (non-observable 

input factors)

The fair value of the investments was determined on the basis of level 3 as described above. Furthermore, all fair values 

determined for financial instruments are based on information and input factors that fall within level 2 described above.

Financial assets are classified depending on the business model selected by the company and the characteristics of the 

contractually agreed cash flows. 

Financial assets held for the purposes of a business model that pursues the objective of holding financial assets to generate 

contractually agreed cash flows and for which cash flows result in principal repayments and interest payments on deter-

mined dates are measured at their amortized acquisition costs.

Financial assets held for the purposes of a business model that pursues the objective of generating contractually agreed 

cash flows and reselling the asset and for which cash flows result in principal repayments and interest payments are mea-

sured at their attributable fair value and recognized as other comprehensive income outside of profit or loss.

Financial assets are measured at their attributable fair value and recognized through profit or loss if they are neither held 

for the purpose of generating cash flows, nor for the purpose of generating cash flows and resale proceeds.

The financial assets of the Group are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, receivables from loans 

advanced, other receivables and financial assets. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at the time 

of their initial recognition.
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FCR AG exclusively uses the simplified impairment model, which requires a risk provision in the amount of the losses 

expected over the entire residual term of the instrument to be recognized for all instruments, irrespective of their credit 

quality. Historical default probabilities are taken into account. For each balance sheet date, FCR AG determines whether 

financial assets measured at amortized acquisition costs are affected by a credit impairment. A financial asset is affected 

by a credit impairment if one or a number of events with detrimental implications for the financial asset’s expected future 

cash flows have occurred. A credit impairment is not automatically determined if an instrument is more than 90 days past 

maturity, but always on the basis of the individual assessment made by credit management.

3.14 Financial liabilities

IFRS 9 retains most of the existing requirements resulting from IAS 32 with respect to the classification of financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities must be measured at either their amortized acquisition costs or attributable fair value through profit 

or loss.

The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at the time of their initial recognition. The Group's finan-

cial liabilities are comprised of trade liabilities, other liabilities, current account lines of credit and loans.

Financial assets and liabilities are only offset and reported as the net balance in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Position if there is a current legal entitlement to offset the recognized amounts against each other and if it is intended to 

either arrive at a net balance or to repay the associated liability with the proceeds from the respective asset. Liability to 

banks are offset against receivables from the same bank if the receivables are pledged as collateral for liabilities and the 

maturities of the receivables and liabilities are almost identical.

3.15	 Derecognition	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities

A financial	asset is derecognized if claims for the receipt of cash flows from the financial assets have expired or been 

assigned, and if the group has essentially transferred all opportunities and risks resulting from the ownership in the asset.

A financial	liability is derecognized as soon as the contractual obligation has been settled, waived or expired. The differ-

ence between the carrying amount of a financial liability that is derecognized or assigned to another party and the return 

consideration received, including transferred non-cash assets or assumed liabilities, is recognized as other comprehensive 

income or financing expenses through profit or loss.

If an existing financial liability is replaced by another financial liability owed to the same lender with substantially dif-

ferent contractual terms, or if the terms of an existing liability are modified to a significant extent, such a replacement or 

modification results in the derecognition of the original liability and recognition of a new liability. The difference between 

the respective carrying amounts is recognized through profit or loss.

Impairments are measured on the basis of the expected losses model. The model provides for three levels. 

Level 1 contains all financial assets and measures the losses expected over the next 12 months. If a financial asset is af-

fected by a significant credit impairment, the financial asset must be reclassified to level 2. 

Level 2 determines the expected loss over the entire term of the financial asset. 

The financial asset must be reclassified to level 3 if there are objective indicators for a value impairment in addition to the 

significant credit impairment. The company considers the default probability at the time the asset is recognized for the first 

time and also considers a significantly increase in the default risk in all reporting periods. In order to determine whether 

the default risk has increased significantly, the company compares the default risk for the asset on the balance sheet date 

against the default risk at the time of the asset's initial recognition. Available reasonable and reliable forward-looking 

information is also considered.

3.16 Cash and cash equivalents

The cash and short-term deposits reported in the Statement of Financial Position are comprised of credit balances with 

banks with an original term of less than three months.

3.17 Other Provisions

Provisions are liabilities with uncertain amounts and maturity dates. The recognition of a provision generally requires a 

current obligation resulting from a past event with a probably resource outflow and a reliably estimable amount of the 

resource outflow. Provisions are measured at the best-possible estimated liability amount. They are discounted for any 

significant interest effects.

3.18 Taxes

ACTUAL TAXES ON INCOME AND EARNINGS

The actual tax claims and tax liabilities for the current and previous periods are measured at the expected amount of the 

refund from the tax authority or payment to the tax authority. The calculation of the amount is based on the tax rates and 

tax laws applicable on the balance sheet date.

Tax claims and tax liabilities are offset against each other if the Group has an enforceable claim to offset the actual claims 

for tax refunds against actual tax liabilities and these claims relate to taxes levied on the same text subject by the same 

tax authority.

DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred taxes are formed in application of the liability method for temporary differences between the recognized value 

of an asset or liability in the statement of financial position and the recognized value for tax purposes as of the balance 

sheet date.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, underutilized tax losses carried forward and 

underutilized tax credits to the extent it is likely that taxable income, against which the deductible temporary difference 

and the underutilized tax losses carried forward and tax credits can be offset, will be available.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax asset is reviewed on each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent it is no 

longer likely that a sufficient taxable income, from which the deferred tax assets can at least be offset partially, will be 

available. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reviewed on each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent it has be-

come unlikely that a future taxable income will allow for the realization of the deferred tax asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates likely to apply in the period in which an asset is realized 

or a liability discharged. This is based on the tax rates and tax laws applicable on the balance sheet date. Future changes 

to the tax rate must be considered on the balance sheet date, provided material prerequisites for the effectiveness in the 

context of a legislative procedure are satisfied.

Deferred taxes that relate to items recognized directly in the equity are not recognized through profit or loss but also 

capitalized as equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset against each other if the Group has an enforceable claim to offset 

the actual claims for tax refunds against actual tax liabilities, the deferred taxes relate to income taxes levied by the same 

taxable entity and the deferred taxes are levied by the same taxation authority.

3.19 Cost of borrowed capital

The costs of borrowed capital that relate to the creation of a qualified asset are capitalized. A qualified asset is an asset 

that requires a significant amount of time to be brought into the desired condition for use or sale. All project developments 

conducted by the Group satisfy this condition. All other costs of borrowed capital are recognized as expenses in the period 

in which they were incurred.

3.20 Leases

The determination whether an agreement contains a lease is made on the basis of the commercial substance of the agree-

ment at the time of its conclusion. This requires an appraisal of whether the performance of the contractual agreement 

depends on the use of one or number of certain assets and whether the agreement grants a right-of-use to the asset.

Until the end of the financial year, leases that do not provide for a transfer of essentially all opportunities and risks as-

sociated with the asset from the lessor to the lessee are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred for the 

negotiations and conclusion of an operating lease are attributed to the carrying amount of the least item and recognized 

as expenses over the lease term, analogous to rental income. Conditional rent payments are recognized in the period in 

which they accrued.

3.21	 Accounting	estimations	and	determinations

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements to a certain degree required assumptions and estimates to made. 

These have had an effect on the amounts and recognition of the assets and liabilities, the income and expenses as well as 

the contingent receivables and liabilities reported for the reporting period. Estimations are made on the basis of the latest 

reliable information available. The assets, liabilities, income, expenses as well as contingent receivables and contingent 

liabilities reported on the basis of estimations may differ from their future actual amounts. 

This applies in particular against the background of the coronavirus pandemic, which is causing disruptions in global sup-

ply chains, end markets and overall economic development. Developments in the course of the pandemic are dynamic, so 

that it cannot be ruled out that actual results will differ from the estimates and assumptions made in these consolidated 

financial statements or that adjustments to the estimates and assumptions will be necessary in the future; it may also have 

a material impact on FCR’s net asset, financial and earnings position. The estimates and assumptions used in the prepara-

tion of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2020, were based on the best knowledge and information 

available at the time. Although the coronavirus pandemic has developed into a global economic crisis, the impact on the 

real estate sector and FCR has not been as severe as in other industries. 

FCR’s operations, and therefore its net asset, financial and earnings position, were affected by the coronavirus pandemic 

in terms of revenue and earnings, but not to a material extent. At this time, we are noticing very little impact on tenant 

delinquencies. COVID-19 may continue to impact the consolidated financial statements as a result of declining and more 

volatile stock prices, interest rate adjustments in various countries, increasing volatility in foreign currency exchange rates, 

deteriorating creditworthiness, defaults or late payments by tenants, or the difficulty in making forecasts and projections 

due to uncertainties regarding the amount and timing of cash flows. These factors may affect recognized fair values and 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, the amount and timing of earnings realization and cash flows. Potential future 

effects on the net asset, financial and earnings position are analyzed on an ongoing basis.

Estimates and assumptions of a material nature are explained in further detail in the following:

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Assumptions and estimations with respect to the other intangible assets are in particular necessary for future cash flows, 

returns and capitalization interest rates. Furthermore, estimates are used for capitalization of the internally generated the 

intranet by computing the time required by employees for development and for the testing phase.

As of the balance sheet date, the carrying amount of the intangible assets, including the computer software, amounts to 

€1,500,000 (previous year: €197,000).

PROPERTIES HELD AS FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

With regard to the real estate held by the company, the Executive Board is required to decide on each balance sheet date 

whether it is to be held for long-term rental or capital appreciation purposes or if it should be held for sale. Depending on 

this decision, the properties are recognized in accordance with the principles for investment properties, as land held for 

sale with unfinished and finished buildings (inventories) or as non-current assets held for sale and measured at (amortized) 

acquisition costs or fair value in accordance with the classification.
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The assumptions and estimations that entail a material risk of having to adjust the carrying amounts of assets and lia-

bilities essentially relate to the determination of the attributable fair values of properties held as financial investments 

(investment properties).

The best indicator for the attributable fair value of investment properties are the current prices for comparable properties avail-

able on an active market. Due to the fact that the available data is incomplete, FCR AG relies on standardized valuation methods.

A detailed description of the applied valuation method can be found in Chapter 4.1.2 under the heading “Properties held 

as financial investments”.

For reporting purposes, the respective market values of the investment properties held by FCR are determined in accor-

dance with IAS 40 in conjunction with IFSR 13. Changes in relevant market conditions, such as current rent levels and 

occupancy rates, may affect the valuation. Changes in the attributable fair value of the property portfolio are recognized 

in the consolidated income for the period and may significantly affect the earnings position of FCR.

For the financial year, the attributable fair values of investment properties consisting of rental apartments, retail units and 

hotel buildings were determined by independent experts on the basis of the gross rental method, the values for properties 

in development on the basis of the residual value method; they amount to €314,538,000 (previous year: €298,986,000) 

for the properties for which the ownership benefits and burdens are held by FCR.). For valuation purposes, certain fac-

tors such as future rental income and discounting rates and potential total sales proceeds and attributable costs for the 

construction of the properties must be estimated and have a direct and significant impact on the attributable fair value. 

INVESTMENTS

The assumptions and estimates that may entail a significant risk in the form of an adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets mainly relate to the determination of the fair values of the investments.

PROVISIONS

The determination of provisions is to significant degree based on estimations. The Group forms provisions for follow-up 

costs from already invoiced contracts. These estimations may change if new information becomes available. The Group 

forms provisions for warranty claims if the amount or date of a warranty payment is uncertain. Other provisions are 

formed for individual risks with uncertain amounts or payment dates. The formation of provisions requires certain factors 

to be estimated. The actual payment amounts and dates may differ from the original estimations.

TAXES ON PROFITS AND EARNINGS

When determining the amount of actual and deferred taxes, the Group gives consideration to the effects of uncertain tax 

positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be payable. This determination is made on the basis of estimations 

and assumptions and may involve a number of discretionary decisions with respect to future events. New information that 

may cause the company to change discretionary decisions with respect to the adequacy of the existing tax debt may become 

available; these changes to the tax debt will affect the tax expenses in the period in which the determination is made.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent it can be demonstrated that there will be future taxable income that can 

be offset against the temporary difference. The deferred tax assets are reviewed on each balance sheet date and reduced 

to the extent it is no longer likely that a sufficient taxable income will become available in the future for utilizing the 

deferred tax claim.

Additional assumptions and estimations essentially concern the group-wide uniform determination of useful economic 

lives and assumptions with respect to the impairment of land parcels and buildings.

3.22	 Earnings	uncertainties	(contingent	liabilities	and	receivables)

Earnings uncertainties are potential obligations or assets that result from past events and that are conditional on the oc-

currence or non-occurrence of one or number of uncertain future events that are not entirely controllable by the Group. 

Contingent liabilities also include current obligations resulting from past events for which the outflow of economically 

beneficial resources is unlikely, or for which the extent of the liability cannot be reliably estimated. Contingent liabilities 

are recognized at their attributable fair values, provided they were assumed in the context of a corporate acquisition. 

Contingent receivables are not recognized. In as far as an outflow of economic benefits is not improbably, the Notes to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements contain disclosures with regard to contingent liabilities. The same applies to contingent 

receivables, provided they are likely to be collected.

3.23	 Employee	benefits	

Expenses incurred from payments to public pension insurance bodies for defined contribution pension insurance plans are 

recognized as personnel expenses. FCR does not currently operate any defined benefit pension plans.

Defined contribution pension plans essentially consist of the employer's contributions to the public pension insurance for 

employees.

The expenses for defined benefit pension plans recognized in the consolidated income statement amount to €807,000 

(previous year: €1,205,000).
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4 Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position – Assets

4.1 Non-current assets

The structure and development of the non-current assets as well as the amortization expenses in the financial year and 

the previous year are shown below:

4.1.1 Intangible assets

2020 2019

in € thousand Acquisition costs Amortization

Deconsolida-

tion

Carrying	

amounts

Acquisition 

costs Amortization

Carrying 

amounts

as	of	January	1 316 -119 0 197 224 -70 154

Additions 1,568 -177 0 1,391 92 -49 43

Changes to the consoli-

dation scope
0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Disposals -5 0 -83 -88 0 0 0

as	of	December	31 1,878 -295 -83 1,500 316 -119 197

With the exception of internally generated intangible assets, all additions to the intangible assets were acquired for con-

sideration. The amortization expenses relate exclusively to schedule amortization.

In the financial year, an intranet was developed using external service providers and employees of FCR Immobilien AG, 

which is used for corporate management, controlling and communication. This intranet is being continuously developed 

and a new version is scheduled to go live in financial year 2021.

The capitalized personnel expenses amount to €864,000.

Reference is also made to the accounting and measurements methods described in Chapter 3.4 under the heading “Other 

intangible assets”.

The COVID-19 pandemic had no effect on the carrying amounts of capitalized intangible assets.

4.1.2 Properties held as financial investments

2020 2019

in € thousand

Properties	held	as	finan-

cial	investments Number

Properties held as finan-

cial investments Number

as	of	January	1 298,986 81 237,441 56

Additions 1 34,430 14 71,865 18

Deposits paid on additions in the next year 1 151 1 3,874 14

Changes due to changes in the scope of consolidation 1 -86 -1 0 0

Disposal -17,489 -7 -27,868 -7

Reclassifications to inventories -2,250 -1 0  

Positive change in market values 8,653 43 16,054 34

Negative change in market values -7,857 35 -2,381 16

as	of	December	31 314,538 82 298,986 81

1 Acquisition costs and subsequent acquisition costs

	Total	usable	space	in	thousand	m²	 342 327

The item “investment property” includes retail units and rental apartments amounting to €268,332,000 (previous year: 

€254,604,000) and hotels amounting to €27,118,000 (previous year: €25,832,000), as well as properties still under de-

velopment amounting to €19,088,000 (previous year: €14,675,000); it also includes deposits paid on properties, whose 

ownership will not be transferred until after the balance sheet date but will be reported as investment property in the 

future, amounting to €151,000 (previous year: €3,874,000).

For details on rental income, please refer to item 6.1 Revenue. Expenses of €8,104,000 (previous year: €6,857,000) were 

incurred for maintenance of the leased properties held in the existing portfolio. The operating expenses directly related 

to these properties amounted to €7,094,000 in the financial year (previous year: €4,107,000). They include expenses for 

maintenance, non-transferable operating costs and costs for property management.

As was the case in the previous year, expenses for the maintenance of properties under development were of subordinate 

significance.

As of the balance sheet date, there were a total of 82 investment properties (as of December 31, 2019: 81).

The additions break down into newly acquired properties and subsequent acquisition costs of €34,430,000 (previous year: 

€70,927,000) and additions from construction measures amounting to €4,327,000 (previous year: €938,000). Borrowing 

costs of €219,000 were capitalized in financial year 2020. 
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The vacancy rate of rental properties in FCR’s existing portfolio (excluding hotels and development) developed as follows:

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Vacancy rates 9.6% 17.9%

In the previous year’s report, the vacancy rate across the entire portfolio was stated at 12%.

Tenancy agreements with long terms:

FCR has leased the properties under tenancy agreements with long terms. These are tenancies have indefinite terms and 

will generate future income from minimum rental payments as follows:

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Total	minimum	lease	payments 124,358 104,218 

Maturing within one year 21,753 17,956 

Maturing in between 1 and 5 years 69,468 51,788 

Maturity after 5 years (max. 15 years) 33,137 34,474 

In the above table, tenancy agreements with indefinite terms are assumed to have a term of 15 years.

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the presentation of the minimum lease figures did not include the estimated 

minimum lease payments of the hotels as of December 31, 2020. In order to make the information comparable, the estimated 

minimum lease payments from the hotels included in the previous year have also been corrected.

Fair value:

All properties in the portfolio were assessed by an external expert appraiser as of the balance sheet dates. The valuation 

reports are based on the following methodology:

Land value determination:

The land value is generally determined by comparing the prices for comparable land parcels. The value of the land parcels 

to be assessed can be obtained from comparison values or standard land values.

Building valuation:

The determination of building values takes place on the basis of an inspection by an accredited expert valuer. The valuation 

is based on the documents on the valuation property met available by FCR, which are assessed on their plausibility by the 

expert valuer. The market values are determined the basis of the current Real Property Valuation Regulation [ImmoWertV]. 

This method of valuation also assures that the valuation principles under RICS or Red Book are observed.

The properties are used to generate returns. The valuation therefore takes place on the basis of the expected earnings 

value in accordance with the ImmoWertV. 

The input factors used to determine the attributable fair values reflect IFRS 13 level 3 of the fair value hierarchy based on 

the following valuation models. No investment properties that are under operating leases were recognized.

Valuations were carried out analogously for the investment properties under construction. The expected average rental 

income achievable for these properties are estimated on the basis of market values.

A property rate is defined for the purposes of the valuation. The property interest rate (also called capitalization interest 

rate) is the average interest rate at which the market values of different types of land parcels bear interest. This must be 

derived in accordance with the principles of the gross rental method on the basis of suitable purchase prices and the cor-

responding net income for similarly developed and used land parcels and in consideration of the residual useful economic 

life of the buildings.

The following table shows the key assumptions used in the valuation reports as part of described valuation method, broken 

down by the location of the properties:

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Northern	Germany Mean value Range Mean value Range

Carrying	value	on	the	balance	sheet	date

Land value

 Land value in €/m² 50 15 to 110 51 12 to 100

Gross	rental	method

Gross	annual	income	(€	thousand) 242 73 to 714 231 86 to 716

Property	management	expenses 15.3% 10.2% to 21.6% 15.5% 10.7% to 21.4%

Remaining	useful	life	(in	years) 24 30 to 24 25 17 to 31

Property	rate 4.8% 4.4% to 5.7% 5.1% 4.5% to 6.2%

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Eastern	Germany Mean value Range Mean value Range

Carrying	value	on	the	balance	sheet	date

Land value

 Land value in €/m² 104 15 to 1,201 83 15 to 951

Gross	rental	method

Gross	annual	income	(€	thousand) 276 23 to 1,089 279 24 to 1,098

Property	management	expenses 16.8% 10.2% to 37.0% 16.0% 9.8% to 35.7%

Remaining	useful	life	(in	years) 25 10 to 51 24 10 to 51

Property	rate 4.8% 1.5% to 6.2% 5.1% 1.5% to 6.3%
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Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Southern	Germany Mean value Range Mean value Range

Carrying	value	on	the	balance	sheet	date

Land value

 Land value in €/m² 134 35 to 350 132 35 to 350

Gross	rental	method

Gross	annual	income	(€	thousand) 548 53 to 3,494 786 75 to 3,494

Property	management	expenses 14.6% 10.5% to 18.7% 12.5% 10.3% to 17.8%

Remaining	useful	life	(in	years) 30 16 to 70 32 13 to 70

Property	rate 4.5% 2.9% to 5.3% 4.7% 3.3% to 5.3%

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Western	Germany Mean value Range Mean value Range

Carrying	value	on	the	balance	sheet	date

Land value

 Land value in €/m² 208 15 to 1,960 293 40 to 1,960

Gross	rental	method

Gross	annual	income	(€	thousand) 236 58 to 662 265 58 to 833

Property	management	expenses 14.4% 9.4% to 20.0% 14.4% 11.0% to 20.0%

Remaining	useful	life	(in	years) 22 14 to 30 22 12 to 41

Property	rate 5.1% 3.7% to 6.9% 5.3% 3.7% to 7.0%

The assumptions used in the valuation of the investment properties are made by an independent expert valuer on the basis 

of his professional experience and are subject to uncertainties.

The positive changes in market value in the presented financial years are mainly the result of improved occupancy rates 

and optimized rental agreements.

The properties were generally financed through bank loans, for each of which a mortgage totaling €182,711,000 (previous 

year: €152,312,000) was registered.

The sale of the properties generated the following earnings:

in € thousand 2020 2019

Revenues from the sale of properties held as financial investments 12,350 28,025

Expenses from the disposal of properties held as financial investments -10,880 -27,868

Cumulative change in value of sold properties held as financial investments  

(including prior years)
1,558 13,398

Profit	from	the	sale	of	properties	held	as	financial	investment 3,028 13,554

The revenues from the sale of properties held as financial investments include the contractually agreed purchase prices in 

the amount of €12,350,000. 

The expenses from the disposal of properties held as financial investments corresponds to the values reported in the re-

spective previous year.

The change in value of properties held as financial investments results from measurement at fair value, where changes in 

value were recognized directly in profit or loss.

 

4.1.3 Property, plant and equipment

2020 2019

in € thousand Acquisition costs Amortization

Carrying	

amounts Acquisition costs Amortization

Carrying 

amounts

as	of	January	1 5,713 -4,864 849 5,056 -4,552 504

Additions 305 -239 66 657 -312 345

Disposals -105 35 -69 0 0 0

as	of	December	31 5,913 -5,068 846 5,713 -4,864 849

With the exemption of the changes explained, the additions were acquired against payment within the consolidation scope. 

The amortization expenses relate exclusively to schedule amortization.

The COVID-19 pandemic had no significant impact on the carrying amounts in the balance sheet in the financial year.

4.1.4 Investments

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Investments 5,763 0

Total 5,763 0

FCR acquired a strategic equity investment of 10% in Immoware24 GmbH during the financial year. The company, based in 

Halle (Saale), offers a professional and innovative property management system that can be used entirely as software as a 

service (SaaS) via the internet. The acquisition costs amounted to €2,000,000. The valuation as of the balance sheet date 

is at fair value in the amount of €5,763,000. The income resulting from the valuation in the amount of €3,762,000 was 

recognized in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income.
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4.1.5 Long-term and other lendings

2020 2019

in € thousand Acquisition costs Impairments

Carrying	

amounts Acquisition costs Impairments

Carrying 

amounts

as	of	January	1 195 0 195 159 0 159

Additions 38 0 38 48 0 48

Disposals -45 0 -45 -12 0 -12

as	of	December	31 188 0 188 195 0 195

The investments and divestments in non-current financial assets resulted in a repayment of b, but the received funds were 

expended again.

Loans classified at amortized cost bear interest rates of 2% or 4% and have a remaining term of up to 10 years. 

There were no overdue receivables at any balance sheet date, nor did the COVID-19 pandemic have any effect on their 

recoverability at the balance sheet date.

4.2 Inventories

The inventories recognize unbilled ancillary rental costs from rental properties as well as inventories of the hotels in the 

company’s portfolio.

The inventories are comprised as follows:

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Assets held for sale (Magdeburg) 2,250 0

Merchandise 1,245 1,235

Unbilled CAM 701 505

Stock on hand 24 126

Total 4,221 1,867

The property in Magdeburg was reported as a property held as financial investment in the previous year. Due to the pend-

ing sale of the property in January 2021, it is classified under inventories.

The reduction in inventories is mainly due to the sale of the hotel property in Westerburg and the associated inventory. 

Conversely, the Group holds respirators and protective suits in inventory, which are sold in the open market. They were 

acquired to meet the demand for protective masks resulting from the government lockdown and the now resulting obliga-

tion to wear protective masks. 

The merchandise held in inventory in the previous year was sold at a profit.

The merchandise held in inventory is not facing any impairment due to the coronavirus pandemic. On the contrary, the 

management expects a potentially profitable sale, especially of the masks.

4.3	 Financial	instruments	available	for	sale	on	short	notice

For the purpose of an active liquidity management, liquid funds were invested in short-term near-money market financial 

investments. Therefore, €3,116,000 (prior year: €970,000) was invested in short-term securities. They are reported in a 

separate item in the Statement of Financial Position. 

4.4 Current receivables and other current assets

The current receivables and other current assets are comprised as follows:

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Trade receivables 5,152 9,652

 Receivables from property sales 3,500 8,143

 Receivables from rental contracts 1,378 1,285

 Receivables form hotel operations 189 224

 Other 85 0

Other	current	(non-financial)	assets 7,102 1,840

Total 12,254 11,492

Specific bad debt allowances of €288,000 (previous year: none) were recognized in the financial year, partly as a result of 

the COVID-19 pandemic. 

No other significant receivables or current assets were impaired, since there was no apparent risk of default or credit loss. 

None of above receivables and current assets were overdue. 

The current assets are comprised as follows:

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Receivables from related companies 3,609 31

Short-term loans advanced 1,156 569

Receivables from KfW (German government-owned development bank) loan repayment subsidy 629 0

Deferred expenses and accrued income 368 365

Maintenance reserve 277 402

Reimbursement claim from overpayments 237 0

Security deposits from tenants 87 43

Deutsche Bank Bauspar AG 66 0

Other 672 429

Total 7,102 1,840
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The reported receivables and current assets have a residual term of less than one year. The carrying amounts of the re-

ported receivables and current assets correspond to their attributable fair values.

No impairments, reversals of impairments or write-offs due to non-recoverability were recognized as of the stated report-

ing dates. With the exception of the trade receivables, the COVID-19 pandemic had no effect on the recoverability of the 

receivables presented above.

Receivables from related parties at the balance sheet date mainly relate to Wasserschloss Westerburg GmbH & Co. KG in 

the amount of €3,578,000 (previous year: €0). The receivable will be settled by December 31, 2021, at the latest.

4.5	 Receivables	from	affiliated	companies

As of the balance sheet date on December 31, 2020, all receivables from affiliated companies existing in the previous year 

that were related but not included in the scope of consolidation were settled. The receivables from affiliated companies 

reported in the previous year that were settled in full related to RAT Asset & Trading AG in the amount of €2,493,000, 

MAMBO Vermögensverwaltung GmbH in the amount of €400,000 and Suiten am Schloss in the amount of €80,000.

As of the balance sheet date, there are receivables amounting to €517,000 from FCR Fieberbrunn GmbH & Co. KG, which 

is a wholly owned subsidiary of FCR Immobilien AG; however, this is of minor importance to the Group and has thus not 

been consolidated.

Because there was no default risk and/or credit loss risk, neither the financial year nor the previous year recognized any 

impairment of material receivables or current assets. 

4.6 Tax assets

Current tax assets amounting to €104,000 (previous year: €312,000) mainly consist of receivables from tax overpayments 

and refund claims for VAT and import VAT.

The full carrying amount of tax receivables are not overdue on the balance sheet dates, no impairment was recognized 

for them.

4.7 Cash and cash equivalents

The item cash and cash equivalents is on all reporting dates comprised of credit balances with bank with maturities of not 

more than three months and cash at hand. The carrying amount of these assets corresponds to their attributable fair value.

5  Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position –  

Equity and liabilities

5.1	 Equity

The development of the company’s equity is presented in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

5.1.1 Subscribed capital

The share capital of €9,146,404 (previous year: €9,146,404) is divided into 9,146,404 (previous year: 9,146,404) ordinary 

shares with a par value of €1.00 each and was fully paid up at all balance sheet dates.

The shares are registered shares. They carry one vote each and are eligible for dividends.

Disclosures concerning the authorized capital

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on May 28, 2020, the cancellation of Authorized Capital 2019/I and the cre-

ation of Authorized Capital 2020/I with the option to exclude subscription rights was adopted. Accordingly, the Executive 

Board is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital on one or more occasions on 

or before June 3, 2025, by a total of up to €4,573,202 against cash contributions and/or contributions in kind by issuing 

new registered no-par value shares (Authorized Capital 2020/I).

Disclosures concerning the conditional capital

The conditional capital amounts to €237,036 as of the balance sheet date. 

5.1.2 Capital reserve

No capital increase was carried out in financial year 2020. The capital reserve therefore remains unchanged from the pre-

vious year at €5,764,000. The costs for the capital increases that took place are deducted directly from equity. 

5.1.3 Other reserves

The legal reserve of €279,000 (previous year: €279,000) is reported under Other Reserves.

5.1.4 Retained earnings

The retained earnings recognize the profits brought forward, the earnings for the period, effects from the switch to IFRS 

and effects from the initial consolidation.

In financial year 2020, a cash dividend of €0.30 per share (total amount: €2,744,000) was distributed for financial year 2019

 

The changes in equity are presented in the statement of changes in equity.
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5.2 Bonds and bank loans

The bonds and bank loans have the following remaining terms:

Remaining	maturities	as	of	December	31,	2020:	  

in € thousand 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 after 2025 Total

 Bonds 14,961 0 0 24,838 29,801 382 69,982

 Bank loans 9,568 7,608 7,302 12,518 7,121 121,550 165,667

Total 24,529 7,608 7,302 37,356 36,922 121,932 235,649

             

 

Pursuant to the agreements as of December 31, 2020, the following future interest will be payable:      

  

in € thousand up	to	1	year 1-5	years
more	than	5	

years

 Bonds * 4,025 5,559 0

 Bank loans 2,728 9,621 27,551

Total 6,753 15,180 27,551

      

* Calculation based on subscription volume as of December 31, 2020. 

 

Remaining	maturities	as	of	December	31,	2019:

                   

in € thousand 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 after 2024 Total

 Bonds 0 14,911 0 24,762 26,970 0 66,643

 Bank loans 8,072 7,582 16,249 6,431 7,826 106,152 152,312

Total 8,072 22,493 16,249 31,193 34,796 106,152 218,955

             

 

Purs. to the agreements as of December 31, 2019, the following future interest will be payable:

in € thousand up	to	1	year 1-5	years
more	than	5	

years

 Bonds 2,601 4,791 0

 Bank loans 1,821 7,625 15,480

Total 4,422 12,416 15,480

      

At the balance sheet date, liabilities for bonds and bank loans totaled €235,649,000 (previous year: €218,955,000). 

Bonds include subscribed bonds.

The company issued a new bond in the financial year with securities identification number A254TQ. The issue volume is 

capped at €30 million. The interest rate is 4.25%. The bond has a term of five years and ends on March 31, 2025. The bond 

was listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on March 27, 2020.

Land charges amounting to €182,711,000 were registered for the Group’s existing financial liabilities to banks (bank loans). 

The bonds were secured by land charges amounting to €70,000,000 (previous year: €67,229,000).

The assets secured for the bank loans and bonds are fully recognized in the balance sheet as properties held as financial 

investments.

The assets pledged as collateral may be liquidated by lenders if the Group fails to satisfy its obligations from interest and 

principal repayments for the financial liabilities.

There is an unused overdraft line in the amount of €25,000 at all balance sheet dates. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has no discernible impact on the accounting treatment of the bonds and loans.

5.3 Provisions

The provisions recognize unpaid invoices for which the performance was rendered in the financial year and obligations 

related to compliance with the retention period. Provisions for property management, ancillary cost allocation and closing 

costs are included.

The provisions for redundancy payments concern potential liabilities of the company in Italy related to the dismissal of 

employees and are compulsory in Italy. 

The provision for purchase price adjustments concerned the inherited liabilities resulting from the acquisition of Il Pel-

agone S.r.l. that have not materialized to date, but that will have to be borne up to a maximum total purchase price of 

€10,250,000 upon materialization. 

The non-current provisions resulted from the discharge of the retention obligations.

The provisions as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, in each case reflect the expected cash outflow within 

the respective following year. 

The total current and non-current other provisions have developed as follows:    

in € thousand Jan. 01, 2020 Additions Reversal Utilization Dec. 31, 2020

Provisions for purchase price adjustments 446 0 446 0 0

Provisions for financial reporting and audit 201 298 0 201 298

Provisions for property management 183 254 129 54 254

Provisions for redundancy payments 175 153 0 175 153

Other Provisions 125 27 0 125 27

as	of	December	31 1,130 732 575 554 732

of which non-current 5 0 0 5 0

of which current 1,125 732 575 549 732
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5.4 Current liabilities

The current liabilities are comprised as follows: 

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Other current liabilities 1,976 2,304

Trade liabilities 1,491 2,172

Prepayments received 81 166

Total 3,549 4,643

The current liabilities have a residual term of less than twelve months. Due to the short maturities, there are no material 

differences between the debts’ carrying amounts and attributable fair values.

The prepayments received concern deposits paid on guest reservations for the coming year and guest reservations that 

were not used due to the COVID-19 pandemic but were replaced with vouchers instead of refunds.

Other current liabilities consist of the following: 

      

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Interest liabilities from bonds 1,043 1,012

from personnel liabilities 392 352

from taxes 168 740

Deferred income and accrued expenses 33 66

from social obligations 43 57

other liabilities 298 78

Total 1,976 2,305

of which other financial liabilities 1,043 1,012

of which other non-financial liabilities 933 1,292

As in the previous year, the remaining term of other liabilities is less than one year.

The interest liabilities from bonds were recognized as current financial liabilities on all balance-sheet dates.

5.5 Financial assets and liabilities

Due to the fact that all financial assets and liabilities were, without exemption, measured at their carrying amounts or at 

amortized cost, reference is made here to the measurement risks in the Group Management Report.

 

6 Notes to the consolidated income statement

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is prepared in accordance with the total cost method.

Due to the additions made to properties held as financial investments in the year under review, the annual figures and the 

previous year’s figures in the consolidated income statement are only comparable to a limited extent.

6.1 Revenues

In accordance with the business model, revenues are generated from the sale of real estate, its management and adminis-

tration and the performance of all associated transactions. In addition, the hotels generate revenues from hotel operations, 

such as revenues from overnight stays, food & beverage and the associated hotel & golf resort in Italy.

The revenues are comprised as follows:

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Income from rental of properties held as financial investments (including operating costs) 22,734 19,073

Income from the sale of properties held as financial investments 12,350 28,025

Revenues from hotel business/golf resort 2,469 2,572

Revenue from sale of merchandise 1,360 0

Total 38,913 49,670

    

6.1.1 Performance obligations and income recognition methods

The revenue is measured on the basis of the return consideration provided for in a contract with a customer. The Group 

recognizes income at the time it transfers control over a good or service to a customer.

Income	from	property	rentals	

The rental income is recognized at the time the performance is rendered. The performance is rendered by making the 

premises, for which FCR in turn receives monthly rent payments, available.

Rent-free periods or other rental incentives are distributed over the expected term of the tenancy contract.

In addition to the income from property rentals, the CAM incurred for the rental properties are charged to the tenants.

Revenues	from	ancillary	costs

Revenue from ancillary costs is recognized over the period in which the services are rendered. The tenant is granted and 

at the same time utilizes the benefit. The revenues are recognized on the basis of input-based methods, which means that 

the revenues are recognized on the basis of the incurred costs and/or consumed resources in proportion to the total input 

expected for the full performance of this obligation. The agreed return consideration is payable monthly. The consumed 

resources are the leased residential and commercial premises used by the tenants. They are reported under revenue from 

the rental of properties held as financial investments, including incidental costs.
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Proceeds	from	the	sale	of	properties	held	as	financial	investments

Proceeds from the sale of properties held as financial investments are recognized at the time control over the properties 

has transferred to the customer.

The purchasers obtain control over properties at the time ownership, benefits and encumbrances transfer to them. An en-

forceable claim for payment accrues at this point in time. The revenues correspond to the contractually agreed transaction 

price. In most cases, the return consideration falls due after the legal title has transferred. The transaction price therefore 

does not include any significant financing component.

6.2	 Portfolio	movements

The effects of already incurred CAM that are yet to be billed to the tenants are recognized through profit or loss in the 

item portfolio movements. Furthermore, merchandise purchased but not yet resold is included in changes in inventories.

6.3 Other capitalized personal contributions

The capitalization of overhead costs for the internally generated intranet is presented under other capitalized personal 

contributions; they amounted to €864,000 in the financial year (previous year: €0).

6.4	 Other	operational	income

Other operating income of €2,167,000 (previous year: €2,174,000) is mainly attributable to income relating to other 

periods of €607,000 (previous year: €14,000) and repayment subsidies for KfW loans of €629,000 (previous year: €0). 

Compared to the previous year, no income was generated from depreciated receivables (previous year: €1,650,000). 

 

6.5	 Cost	of	materials

The cost of materials includes the costs directly attributable to the revenues incurred at the time the performances ren-

dered and is comprised as follows:

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Expenses for the generation of rental income 4,380 6,077

Land tax 818 851

Purchasing of hotel & retail goods 1,403 813

Total 6,602 7,741

    

The following expenses are recognized as expenses for the generation of rental income:

      

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Costs for gas, electricity, water, heat 1,506 1,499

Costs for janitor 700 782

Costs for maintenance & repair 566 1,400

Costs for property management 431 504

Costs for insurances 267 307

Prepaid CAM 253 297

Costs for cleaning 239 396

Costs for elevator system 164 136

Property and security guard 139 165

Other non-apportionable costs 18 93

other expenses recoverable from tenants 97 499

Total 4,380 6,077

 

6.6 Personnel expenses

The personnel expenses are comprised as follows:

      

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Wages and salaries 4,183 5,931

Social security levies and retirement benefits 518 620

Total 4,701 6,551

    

The reduction in personnel expenses is mainly due to the sale of the Westerburg company and the coronavirus-related 

short-time work and personnel reductions at the hotels. 

The FCR intranet was also further developed in 2020 by expanding existing functionalities and designing and integrating 

new features. The FCR intranet is an internally developed software solution based on artificial intelligence, among other 

things, which FCR uses to automate core processes along the value chain as well as corporate management to continuously 

optimize both of them. Proportionate wage costs for the responsible personnel were capitalized for further development.
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6.7 Other operational expenses

The other operational expenses are comprised as follows:

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Legal and consultancy fees 1,020 1,004

Advertising expenses 612 693

Occupancy expenses 569 634

Purchased services 553 691

Out-of-period expenses 533 117

Vehicle and travel expenses 515 553

Insurances and contributions 287 134

Loss from disposal of current assets 263 0

License fees 189 157

Sales commissions 178 193

Incidental costs for monetary transactions 66 109

Repairs and maintenance 64 214

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 40 56

Telephone and telecommunications 32 20

Donations to charitable organizations 5 40

Other operational expenses 529 517

Total 5,456 5,132

6.8	 Amortization

They result from the amortization of purchased and internally generated intangible assets and the depreciation of prop-

erty, plant and equipment.

Scheduled depreciation amounted to €416,000 (previous year: €361,000).

Since the properties held as financial investments pursuant to IAS 40.33-55 have been recognized at their attributable fair 

value, they are not subject to scheduled amortization. The buildings are valued annually by an independent expert and 

recognized at fair value in the balance sheet.

6.9 Financial result 
      

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

 Interest on bank deposits and receivables 84 39

 Interest on receivables from affiliated but unconsolidated companies 11 0

 Bond interest income 233 637

 Income from the valuation of securities 141 0

 Interest from compounding 0 54

Earnings	from	financial	activities 469 730

Fair	value	reversal	of	impairment	losses	from	investments 3,763 0

 Interest on current account balances and loans 2,749 3,218

 Bond interest 4,376 3,633

 Interest from discounting 21 53

Expenses	from	financial	activities 7,147 6,904

Total -3,384 -6,173

The interest income from bonds concerns purchased bonds that bear annual interest.

The interest expense on bonds relates to the subscribed bonds reported under bonds, on which interest is paid annually, 

semi-annually, or quarterly. 

In August 2019, FCR Immobilien AG entered into negotiations with the management of Immoware24 GmbH regarding an 

investment in the company in order to expand the technological foundation provided by FCR. Immoware24 GmbH has 

experienced strong growth in recent years. Early negotiations and growth were key in increasing the fair value of the in-

vestment by €3,763,000 within one year. 

6.10	 Taxes	on	profits	and	earnings

Some of the companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements are, depending on your legal form and activities, 

liable for German corporation tax (including solidarity surcharge) and trade tax. The determination of the tax assessment 

bases frequently entails additions and reductions to/from certain expense and income items. The amount of the taxes on 

profits and earnings is determined by the resulting taxable income or business earnings. Deferred taxes were calculated on 

the basis of temporary differences between tax value and the carrying value in the IFRS-conforming balance sheet. Where 

deferred tax assets unlikely are unlikely to be realized, and impairment up to the amount of the deferred tax liability 

formed for the respective tax subject is recognized.

It should be noted that the real estate management companies and the companies that merely generate income from 

investments make use of the extended reduction pursuant to Section 9 No. 1 of the German Trade Tax Act (GewStG) and 

thus generate profits that are de facto exempt from trade tax. This mainly includes the commercial partnerships and the 

investment income from the limited partnerships (GmbH & Co. KG under German law) at FCR Immobilien AG and FCR Ver-

waltungs GmbH. 

In most cases, the calculation of deferred taxes applied the relevant combined tax rate of 15.825% (previous year: 15.825%).
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The deferred taxes are attributable to the following essential balance sheet items:

in € thousand

Deferred  

tax assets  

December	31,	2020

Deferred  

tax liabilities  

December	31,	2020

Deferred  

tax assets  

December 31, 2019

Deferred  

tax liabilities  

December 31, 2019

Non-current assets     
 Internally generated intangible assets 0 82 0 0

 Properties held as financial investments 134 14,914 61 14,453

 Investments 0 595 0 0

Current assets     
 Trade receivables 6 2 7 6

Non-current liabilities     
 Non-current bonds  71  93

 Non-current bank loans 32 97 50 16

Current liabilities     
 Current bonds     

 Current bank loans     

Balance -173 -173 -118 -118

Deferred	taxes	reported	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	
of Financial Position

0 15,589 0 14,450

No deferred taxes, tax income or tax expenses were recognized for discontinued activities. 

The changes in deferred taxes were recognized in the item taxes on profits and earnings in the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.

The taxes on profits and earnings are comprised as follows:      

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Actual expenses for taxes on profits and earnings 807 1,588

Deferred taxes (expenses + /income -) 1,139 598

Total 1,946 2,186

 

The deferred taxes reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income essentially result from the measurement of the 

value of the properties held as financial investments, the different realization of rental income due to rental incentives, 

and application of the effective interest method for financial liabilities.

Development of deferred taxes:

in € thousand 2020 2019

Deferred	taxes,	balance	at	the	end	of	the	previous	financial	year 14,449 13,851

Deferred tax income (or expenses), through profit or loss:

 from continued activities 1,139 598

Deferred	taxes	recognized	directly	in	the	retained	earnings	(equity):
 Deferred taxes on investment properties 0 0

Deferred	taxes,	balance	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year 15,588 14,449

    

The actual taxes in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are presented in the following:     

in € thousand 2020 2019

Tax claims with short maturities 104 312

Ongoing income tax liabilities 701 2,184

Total -597 -1,872

The claims for tax refunds essentially concern VAT/sales tax input tax credits and import sales tax that are refunded with 

the regular VAT/sales tax activity statements.

The ongoing liabilities from taxes on profits and earnings essentially relates to provisions for corporation income tax for 

the current year.

Tax reconciliation

The tax reconciliation deals with the relationship between the effective tax expenses and the expected tax expenses re-

sulting from the year’s consolidated earnings before tax by applying a tax rate of 15.825% (previous year: 15.825%). The 

tax rate for taxes on profits and earnings is composed of 15% corporate income tax plus solidarity surcharge at around 

5.5% on the resulting corporate income tax amount:

in € thousand 2020 2019

Earnings before tax 11,507 11,935

Group tax rate (%) 15.825% 15.825%

Expected tax expenses 1,821 1,889

Permanent differences 0 -369

Taxes from previous periods -320 0

Utilization of tax loss carryforwards -7 0

Other tax effects 452 666

Total tax expenses 1,946 2,186

Effective tax rate 16.915% 18.313%

    

6.11 Earnings per share      

in € 2020 2019

Quota of the Group's shareholders in the earnings 9,560,724 9,749,509

Number of shares 9,146,404 6,682,996

Earnings	per	share	in	€ 1.05 1.46

    

The undiluted earnings per share is calculated from the consolidated result divided by the weighted average number of 

shares in circulation during the reporting period. 

No diluted financial instruments were in circulation as of the end of the reporting period. The undiluted result is identical 

to the diluted result.
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7 Disclosures on the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

The cash flow statement illustrates how the Group’s cash and cash equivalents have changed as a result of cash in- and 

outflows over the course of the reporting year. A distinction is made between cash flows from ongoing business activities, 

from investment activities and from financing activities. 

The cash flow statement breaks the cash flows down into the cash flow from ongoing business activities, the cash flow from 

investment activities and the cash flow from financing activities. Effects of changes to the consolidation scope are eliminated 

from the respective items. The determination of the cash flow from ongoing business activities follows the indirect method.

The cash flow from investment activities recognizes the cash investments and disposals, in particular those into or from 

properties held as financial investments and property, plant and equipment.

Among other items, the cash flow from financing activities includes deposits and withdrawals on loan accounts associated 

with the financing of current and non-current assets.

In the reporting year, a dividend of €2,744,000 was distributed to shareholders for financial year 2019 (previous year: 

€1,542,000 for financial year 2018).

The change in inventories, receivables and other assets not attributable to investing activities was adjusted for the prop-

erty in Magdeburg classified as inventories in the amount of €2,250,000.

In the previous year’s cash flow statement, interest paid was not shown in full under the item “Interest paid” in the cash 

flow statement for financing activities. Instead, they were reported under loan repayments and in the operating section 

of the cash flow statement as a cash outflow. After adjusting this reporting error, the cash outflow/inflow from operating 

activities for 2019 amounts to €-2,619,000 instead of the reported €-3,674,000. The cash inflow from financing activities 

amounts to €64,670,000 instead of the reported €65,725,000 in the previous year.

The company had unlimited power to dispose over the cash and cash equivalents.

 

8 Other explanatory notes

8.1	 Geographical	segments
 

Geographically, sales and non-current assets are divided into domestic (Germany) and other EU countries. 

Germany EU	countries	outside	of	Germany

in € thousand 2020 2019 2020 2019

Revenues 24,582 18,960 1,980 2,686

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 1,500 197 0 1

Properties held as financial investments 285,865 270,510 28,673 28,476

Property, plant and equipment 241 159 604 689

Investments 5,763 0 0 0

other non-current assets 188 195 0 0

Non-current assets 293,557 271,060 29,277 29,166

 

     

8.2	 Additional	information	pertaining	to	IFRS	9

Classes	of	financial	instruments	purs.	to	IFRS	9 IFRS	9	measurement	category

Financial assets

Investments Fair value by adjustment in the income statement

Long-term and other lendings Measured at amortized acquisition costs

Financial instruments available for sale on short notice Measured at fair value

Trade receivables Measured at amortized acquisition costs

Cash and cash equivalents Measured at amortized acquisition costs

Financial liabilities

Non-current bonds Measured at amortized acquisition costs

Non-current bank loans Measured at amortized acquisition costs

Current bonds Measured at amortized acquisition costs

Current bank loans Measured at amortized acquisition costs

Trade liabilities Measured at amortized acquisition costs

Other financial liabilities Measured at amortized acquisition costs
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Measured value purs. to IFRS 9 and attributable fair values as of December 31, 2020

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

in € thousand Carrying	amount	

fair 

Fair value Carrying	amount	

fair 

Fair value

Assets

Investments 5,763 5,763 0 0

Long-term and other lendings 188 188 195 195

Financial instruments available for sale on short 

notice
2,974 3,116 970 970

Trade receivables 5,152 5,152 9,651 9,651

Cash and cash equivalents 5,605 5,605 9,143 9,143

Liabilities

Non-current bonds 55,021 54,740 66,643 66,643

Non-current bank loans 156,124 156,537 149,104 149,104

Current bonds 14,961 15,060 0 0

Current bank loans 9,543 9,769 3,208 3,208

Trade liabilities 1,510 1,510 2,172 2,172

Other financial liabilities 1,043 1,043 1,012 1,012

No reclassifications between the categories of financial instruments pursuant to IFRS 9 occurred in financial years 2019 

and 2020.

The fair value of the investments is based on unobservable market data and is determined on the basis of expected future 

cash flows discounted at a current market interest rate (level 3).

For the category “At amortized acquisition costs” under IFRS 9, it is assumed that the fair values correspond to the carrying 

amounts. The same assumption applies to the trade liabilities and other current liabilities allocated to the “Other financial 

liabilities” category.

The attributable fair value of current and non-current financial liabilities measured at amortized acquisition costs is based 

either on the prices listed on the balance sheet date (level 1), or determined on the basis of the expected future cash 

flows. They are discounted using a current market interest rate (level 3), whereby variable interest rates are assumed to 

correspond to the market interest rate.

8.3	 Business	transactions	with	related	companies	and	persons

Related parties of the company include the members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board as well as the 

board members of subsidiaries, in each case including their close family members; they also include companies on which 

members of the Executive Board or the Supervisory Board of the company or their close family members can exercise a 

significant influence or in which they hold a significant share of the voting rights. The related companies also include com-

panies that form a corporate group with the reporting company, or in which the reporting company holds a participating 

interest that allows it to exercise significant influence on the business policy of the company in which it holds an interest, 

as well as the major shareholders of the reporting company including its group subsidiaries. 

FCR is involved in the following business relationships with related persons: 

Shareholdings	in	FCR	by	members	of	the	Executive	Board	and	persons	closely	associated	with	members	of	the	Executive	Board

The sole member of the Executive Board holds 49.43% (previous year: 66.1%) in FCR Immobilien AG via RAT Asset & Trad-

ing AG, 17.74% (previous year: 0%) via CM Center Management GmbH and 1.62% (previous year: 0%) in private assets and 

should be regarded as a controlling person as defined in IAS 24.13.

Contracts	and	business	relationships	directly	between	the	members	of	the	Management	Board	and	FCR

As of the balance sheet date, a loan of around €1.1 million (previous year: €0.5 million) was outstanding to the Executive 

Board. The loan bears interest at 2% per year and was repaid in full by Mr. Raudies after the balance sheet date. 

Apart from the aforementioned contract, there were no other contracts between the Executive Board and FCR at any of 

the balance sheet dates.

Activities	of	members	of	the	Supervisory	Board	in	companies	outside	of	FCR

Dr.	Franz-Joseph	Busse:

Dr. Busse studied business administration at the Universities of Würzburg, Grenoble and Munich after completing high 

school, military service and a traineeship at BfG Bank AG. In 1973, he graduated from Ludwig Maximilian University in Mu-

nich with a degree in business administration and a doctorate. He then held various management positions in the private 

sector, for example in the Generalikon Group and later as Chairman of the Board of a German-Arab joint stock company 

based in Cairo. Since 1982, Dr. Busse has been teaching finance and banking management, bank insurance model, insurance 

and risk management at the University of Applied Sciences in Munich. He is the founder of Infinanz GmbH in Munich. In 

addition, he has held advisory and consulting mandates and 13 supervisory board mandates to date. He currently holds 

an advisory and consultancy mandate. Dr. Busse is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Scheelen AG, Waldshut-Tiengen 

and Chairman of the Supervisory Board of FCR Immobilien AG. 

The following overview shows the functions held by Dr. Busse in the last five years as a member of the administrative, 

management, or supervisory body or as a partner (i.e. shareholder of a partnership) in companies outside the FCR Group:

Company Function From	–	to

Finance base AG, Munich Chairman of the Supervisory Board 2014 to 2017

Dr. Peters Asset Finance GmbH & Co. KG, Dortmund Advisory Board 2014 to 2019

Scheelen AG, Waldshut-Tiengen Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 2003

Hanjo	Schneider:

Hanjo Schneider has completed his MBA in the USA. He started his professional career in 1986 with well-known interna-

tional groups (Dun & Bradstreet, Danzas) and worked for these companies in management positions in various countries 

throughout Europe, Asia and the USA. In less than 10 years, he built up the primarily German Hermes Group into the largest 

private parcel service provider in Europe (sales volume in 2018 over €3 billion). In 2002, he initially acted as CEO of the 

Hermes Group and in 2008 he was appointed to the Executive Board of the Otto Group. In 2015, he took over as Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board of the Hermes Group.
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The following overview lists the functions held by Mr. Hanjo Schneider in the last five years as a member of the administra-

tive, management or supervisory body or as a partner (i.e. shareholder of a partnership) in companies outside the FCR Group:

Company Function From	–	to

Otto Group CEO 2008 to 2017

Hermes Europe Chairman of the Supervisory Board 2015 to 2017

Ludwig	A.	Fuchs:	

Ludwig A. Fuchs graduated from Ludwig Maximilian University in 1992 with a degree in business administration. In 1996 

he completed an MBA at INSEAD. After holding positions at Roland Berger and PFW Partner, he founded Realtime Tech-

nology AG in 1999, a global leader in 3D/Virtual Reality for industrial applications, which he managed as CEO until 2014. 

He pushed the growth of Realtime Technology AG from three to over 750 employees and led Realtime Technology AG to 

the stock exchange in an IPO. Since 2014, he has been managing partner of FAMe Investment & Management GmbH, which 

holds approximately 20 investments in technology start-ups and growth companies worldwide.

The following overview lists the functions held by Mr. Fuchs in the last five years as a member of the administrative, 

management, or supervisory body or as a partner (i.e. shareholder of a partnership) in companies outside the FCR Group:

Company Function From	–	to

FAMe Invest & Management GmbH Managing Director since 2014

Fuchs Asset Management Managing Director since 2014

LFL Inc, London Managing Director since 2009

LAF Inc, London Managing Director since 2014

Oimara Capital, London Managing Director since 2020

Traxxall Technologies, Montreal Member of the Board of Directors since 2018

Transactions with related parties

Mr. Falk Raudies acquired the Westerburg property from the portfolio of FCR Immobilien AG for his own account. The acqui-

sition was made via the limited partnership interest, namely 94.9%. Equity at the time of acquisition amounted to €-5,000.

There are receivables from Wasserschloss Westerburg GmbH & Co. KG amounting to €3,578,000. In the financial year, Wass-

erschloss Westerburg undertook to assume the loss in value in the valuation that arose as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

This has been reflected in the outstanding amount. The receivable will be settled by December 31, 2021, at the latest.

As of January 1, 2020, RAT Asset & Trading AG had a loan of €2,914,000 from FCR Immobilien AG. The loan was repaid in 

full by RAT Asset & Trading AG in financial year 2020.

The loan agreement stipulated that FCR Immobilien AG would receive 80% of the sales profit of the acquired property in 

Arenal as compensation for the loan; in addition, a minimum interest rate of 2% was set.

Contracts with other related persons

FCR Kitzbühel GmbH & Co. KG has leased the apartments it owns to the operating company Suiten am Schloss GmbH, based 

in Kitzbühel, Austria, since 2017 for an annual rent of €113,000 (previous year: €120,000).

Managing Director of Suiten am Schloss GmbH is Mr Thorsten Raudies, the brother of the reporting company’s sole Exec-

utive Board member.

A contractual relationship exists with the wife of Mr. Falk Raudies (Executive Board) for the provision of management 

services. The remuneration for these services amounted to €140,000 in the financial year.

8.4	 Related	parties	in	key	positions

The related parties in key positions are the members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board presented below for 

the financial year.

Members	of	the	Executive	Board	of	the	parent	company

There were no changes with effect on the Executive Board of FCR Immobilien AG during the reporting period. Mr. Falk 

Raudies has represented the Company as a member of the Executive Board since the Company was founded.

The remuneration of Mr. Falk Raudies totaled €678,000 in financial year 2020. The financial statements for the financial 

year include remuneration not yet paid to the Executive Board in the amount of €156,000.

Members	of	the	Supervisory	Board	of	the	parent	company

The members of the Supervisory Board are:

• Dr. Franz-Joseph Busse (Chairman), University Professor

• Hanjo Schneider (Vice Chairman), Entrepreneur (appointed as of May 28, 2020)

• Ludwig A. Fuchs, Managing Director (appointed as of May 28, 2020)

• Dr. Kurt Faltlhauser (Vice Chairman), Member of the Bavarian State Government, Parliamentary State Secretary to the 

Federal Minister of Finance in the Federal Government, Munich (recalled as of May 28, 2020)

• Frank Fleschenberg, business administrator, Munich (recalled as of May 28, 2020)

The Supervisory Board received fixed remuneration of €35,000 in financial year 2020 (previous year: €35,000). 

8.5	 Other	financial	commitments	and	contingent	items

Other	financial	liabilities

The liabilities from existing lease and tenancy agreements amount to:

up	to	1	year 1	to	5	years more	than	5	years

in € thousand Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019  Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019  Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019  

Lease, tenancy and service agreements 275 263 304 363 0 0

         

The reported amounts are minimum payments.
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FCR has leased office space. This also serves the purpose of reducing the tied-up capital and leaves the investment risk 

with the lessor. The lease agreement for the company headquarters in Munich results in an annual rental expense of 

€128,500. The rental, lease and service agreements relate to “operating” lease agreements and cover office space, compa-

ny vehicles and IT equipment.

Contingent liabilities and contingent receivables

The following contingent liabilities existed as of the balance sheet date. There are no contingent assets in this respect.

Contingent liabilities

Amount 

€ thousand

From guarantees, bill and check guarantees 3,600 (previous year: 0)

The contingent liabilities above are not recognized in the balance sheet for the following reasons:

Due to the fact that the company has assets of a value that exceeds the liabilities of affiliated companies secured by the 

aforementioned contingent liabilities, it is unlikely that the contingent liabilities will invoked.

 

8.6	 Risk	management	of	the	Group

The business activities of FCR Immobilien AG and its property holding companies are exposed to a number of different 

risks. The company deliberately tolerates some of these risks with the aim of exploiting the opportunities awaiting on the 

property market. The Executive Board minimizes potential risks by continuously monitoring essential risk parameters that, 

if necessary, allow it to rapidly implement any necessary counter-measures.

FCR Immobilien AG has developed numerous risk management tools to identify potential risks that could have an unfavor-

able impact on the future development of the company and thus jeopardize its continued existence. The system is geared 

to the currently small size of the company with its flat hierarchy. 

The objectives of FCR risk management are to ensure that all value creation potential is exploited, to safeguard the com-

pany’s objectives against disruptive events and to sustainably increase the value of the company. To this end, our risk 

management involves the systematic identification, analysis and evaluation as well as monitoring of all significant risks 

by the FCR Executive Board. Close involvement of the Executive Board in all key activities in the FCR core areas of Trans-

action Management, Asset Management, Finance, Operations Management and Innovation Management ensures ongoing 

monitoring of the relevant risks. Flat hierarchies support this important process. 

In this context, our company has clearly defined guidelines/procedural instructions focusing on company- and market-re-

lated risks. They include risks in the selection of real estate, real estate portfolio risks, valuation risks, leasing risks, con-

struction risks, financing, liquidity and interest rate risks, legal risks (e.g. HGB, AktG, WpHG), economic risks and sector 

risks. 

Our company also has a compliance officer who is responsible for implementing the guidelines, further developing com-

pliance management and reporting to the company’s management. In this regard, compliance is regularly addressed in 

the training and/or continuing education of FCR employees. Our company reports on the implementation of compliance 

measures as well as compliance targets and violations. To detect violations, internal (and external, if necessary) audits are 

conducted on a regular basis. 

As part of risk management, FCR uses numerous tools. Here are a few of them: 

• Liquidity	Plan:	

 The liquidity plan can be used to view daily updated account balances of FCR Immobilien AG and the limited partner-

ships as well as income and expenses (e.g. loan payments). Furthermore, current and planned income from property 

sales and expenses for property purchases are recorded in it. With the liquidity plan, FCR is able to manage the group 

with 12-month foresight. It is ensured at all times that appropriate liquidity is available for the respective measures. 

•	 Financing	plan:	

 Among other things, the financing plan records the end of fixed-interest periods for loans. It allows FCR to get an early 

picture of expiring fixed-interest agreements and to talk to banks early to negotiate extending the fixed-interest peri-

od and/or to check alternative means of financing (variable) through other banks. 

•	 Rental	income	plan:	

 The rental income plan is an integral part of the FCR intranet and makes it possible to identify discrepancies between 

the list of tenants from the FCR intranet (according to the lease agreement) and the actual rents posted (according to 

DATEV). This control option ensures that all tenants are recorded correctly and completely. 

•	 Receivables	management:	

 This overview gives FCR the possibility to evaluate overdue rents and tenants and to create the foundation for fast, 

proactive initiation of solutions with the respective tenants.

The main risks that could have an adverse impact on the Company’s financial instruments are described below. Currently 

unknown risks or risks assessed as immaterial could also impact on FCR Immobilien AG’s business activities. 

Financial risks

Risks from financing activities: 

To continue its growth trajectory and further expansion of its property assets, FCR Immobilien AG depends on an adequate 

inflow of additional equity or debt capital. If capital cannot be procured, investments in additional properties can only be 

financed to a limited extent from the operational cash flow or the sale of portfolio properties.

Risks from the breach of financial covenants: 

There is the risk of a decline in rental income and/or the properties’ market values. This could result in a deteriorated 

loan-to-value ratio (“LTV”), debt service coverage ratio (“DSCR”) or capacity to service loans. As a consequence, FCR Immo-

bilien AG could be required to provide additional surety in the form of collateral or additional repayments on the principal 

amounts of loans.

Interest rate risk: 

Depending on the planned period for which a property is held in the company’s portfolio, the company enters into loan 

agreements with either short, medium or long terms. There is the fundamental risk of an interest rate increase after expiry 

of the fixed interest period. Due to the currently low interest rate environment, high compensation payments to lenders 

may be incurred if loans are repaid before their maturity, e.g. when a property is sold. To manage this risk, FCR uses the 

“Financing Plan” tool, among others. 

 



2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AGNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

96  97  

Dec. 31, 

2020 Cash	flows	2021 Cash	flows	2022–2025 Cash	flows	>	2026

in € thousand

Carrying	

amount
Fixed 

interest
Variable 
interest

Principal 

repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest
Variable 
interest

Principal 

repay-

ment
Fixed 

interest
Variable 
interest

Principal 

repay-

ment

Bonds 69,982 4,025 0 14,961 5,559 0 55,021 0 0 0

Bank loans 165,667 292 2,436 9,568 899 8,722 34,549 1,659 25,892 121,575

Total 235,649 4,317 2,436 24,568 6,458 8,722 89,978 1,659 25,892 121,575

              

Risks associated with the sale of real estate

Market risk: 

The sale of real estate assets from FCR Immobilien AG’s holdings is subject to the potential risk of falling sales prices, 

misjudgments with respect to the properties’ market values resulting from negative changes concerning the location. An-

other risk lies in increasing refinancing costs that diminish the attractiveness and reduce the sales prices for commercial 

properties.

8.7	 Employees

On average, the Group had a total of 95 full- and part-time employees in 2020 (previous year: 127), including the Executive Board. 

The employees are broken down into the following groups: 

2020 2019

Employees

 Executive Board 1 1

 Administration 26 27

 Service 68 99

Total 95 127

8.8	 	Shareholdings	pursuant	to	Section	313	(2)	in	conjunction	with	Section	285	No.	11	of	the	German	Com-
mercial	Code	(HGB)	

 

Company Interest held Result Equity

FCR Aken GmbH & Co. KG 100% 56,348 100

FCR Altena GmbH & Co. KG 100% -260 -189,238

FCR Aschersleben GmbH & Co. KG 100% 38,926 100

FCR Bad Kissingen GmbH & Co. KG 100% 69,305 100

FCR Bergisch Gladbach GmbH & Co. KG 100% 105,175 100

FCR Bottrop GmbH & Co. KG 100% 55,432 100

FCR Brandenburg GmbH & Co. KG 100% 301,035 100

FCR Bremervörde GmbH & Co. KG 100% 94,847 100

FCR Buchholz GmbH & Co. KG 100% 147,267 100

Company Interest held Result Equity

FCR Burg GmbH & Co. KG 100% 58,500 100

FCR Cloppenburg GmbH & Co. KG 100% 110,013 100

FCR Cottbus GmbH & Co. KG 100% 60,177 100

FCR Datteln GmbH & Co. KG 100% 95,468 100

FCR Duisburg 2 GmbH & Co. KG 100% 117,162 100

FCR Ehrenfriedersdorf GmbH & Co. KG 100% 10,788 100

FCR Gera AMTP GmbH & Co. KG 100% -37,434 -114,756

FCR Gera BIBC GmbH & Co. KG 100% 445,266 100

FCR Glückstadt GmbH & Co. KG 100% 48,464 100

FCR Görlitz GmbH & Co. KG 100% 39,569 100

FCR Görlitz Hugo-Meyer GmbH & Co. KG 100% 876,084 100

FCR Grimmen GmbH & Co. KG 100% 127,005 100

FCR Gronau GmbH & Co. KG 100% 80,666 100

FCR Guben GmbH & Co. KG 100% 53,619 100

FCR Gummersbach GmbH & Co. KG 100% 99,629 100

FCR Hagen GmbH & Co. KG 100% 27,591 100

FCR Hagen 2 GmbH & Co. KG 100% 100,790 100

FCR Hambühren GmbH & Co. KG 100% 211,111 100

FCR Hamm GmbH & Co. KG 100% 43,583 100

FCR Herford GmbH & Co. KG 100% 62,357 100

FCR Kaiserslautern GmbH & Co. KG 100% 149,592 100

FCR Kaltennordheim GmbH & Co. KG 100% 55,841 100

FCR Köpenick GmbH & Co. KG 100% 3,794 100

FCR Magdeburg GmbH & Co. KG 100% 90,235 100

FCR Meerane GmbH & Co. KG 100% 29,660 100

FCR Munster GmbH & Co. KG 100% 50,297 100

FCR Neumünster GmbH & Co. KG 100% 109,223 100

FCR Neustrelitz GmbH & Co. KG 100% 78,731 100

FCR Nienburg GmbH & Co. KG 100% 128,404 100

FCR Prettin GmbH & Co. KG 100% 54,544 100

FCR Rastatt GmbH & Co. KG 100% 420,683 100

FCR Salzwedel GmbH & Co. KG 100% 133,143 100

FCR Schesslitz GmbH & Co. KG 100% 28,262 100

FCR Schleiz GmbH & Co. KG 100% 663 -207,114

FCR Seesen GmbH & Co. KG 100% -81,391 100

FCR Söhlde GmbH & Co. KG 100% 129,556 100

FCR Soltau GmbH & Co. KG 100% 34,803 -10,665
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Company Interest held Result Equity

FCR Soltau Zentrallager GmbH & Co. KG 100% 287,104 100

FCR Uelzen GmbH & Co. KG 100% 195,737 100

FCR Uelzen Office GmbH & Co. KG 100% 113,893 100

FCR Wasungen GmbH & Co. KG 100% 54,294 100

FCR Weidenberg GmbH & Co. KG 100% 10,179 100

FCR Weissenfels GmbH & Co. KG 100% -42,245 -62,292

FCR Welzow GmbH & Co. KG 100% 74,042 100

FCR Wismar 2 GmbH & Co. KG 100% 436 -191,005

FCR Wittenberge GmbH & Co. KG 100% 38,101 100

FCR Wittingen GmbH & Co. KG 100% 80,649 100

FCR Würselen GmbH & Co. KG 100% 125,352 100

FCR Zeithain GmbH & Co. KG 100% 981,515 100

FCR Zerbst GmbH & Co. KG 100% 140,705 100

FCR Zeulenroda GmbH & Co. KG 100% 3,719 0

Properties acquired in 2020

FCR Brandenburg Logistik GmbH & Co. KG 100% 160,798 100

FCR Bückeburg 2 GmbH & Co. KG (formerly Rövershagen) 100% 1,030 100

FCR Cadolzburg GmbH & Co. KG 100% 15,798 100

FCR Eilenburg GmbH & Co. KG 100% -6,423 -6,323

FCR Gummersbach 2 GmbH & Co. KG 100% 102,525 100

FCR Höchstadt GmbH & Co. KG 100% 39,590 100

FCR Jüterbog GmbH & Co. KG 100% 97,135 100

FCR Landau GmbH & Co. KG 100% 38,070 100

FCR Ruhla GmbH & Co. KG (formerly FCR Netzschkau) 100% 5,803 100

FCR Schwalbach GmbH & Co. KG 100% 24,269 100

FCR Schwandorf GmbH & Co. KG 100% 158 100

FCR Strullendorf GmbH & Co. KG 100% 754 85

FCR Teistungen GmbH & Co. KG 100% 62,034 100

FCR Westeregeln GmbH & Co. KG 100% 23,454 100

Properties sold in 2020

FCR Aue GmbH & Co. KG 100% 262,753 100

FCR Hof GmbH & Co. KG 100% 384,765 100

FCR Lichtentanne GmbH & Co. KG 100% 326,505 100

FCR Pössneck GmbH & Co. KG 100% 1,500,067 100

FCR Stuhr GmbH & Co. KG 100% 443,128 100

Company Interest held Result Equity

FCR Westerburg GmbH & Co. KG 100% -323,716 -323,616

Hotels

Il Pelagone s.r.l. 100% 575,070 3,942,415

FCR Kitzbühel GmbH & Co. KG 100% -76,699 -303,567

Project/development	company

FCR Bamberg GmbH & Co. KG 100% -365,229 -723,441

FCR Monuments Investment S.L. 100% -42,733 -150,047

FCR Hennef GmbH & Co. KG 100% -371,550 -371,450

 

Shelf	companies

FCR Wohnen Alpha GmbH & Co. KG (formerly Münchberg) 100% -3,748 -4,625

FCR Wohnen Beta GmbH & Co. KG (formerly Holzhausen) 100% -2,445 -3,062

FCR Wohnen Gamma GmbH & Co. KG 100% -2,531 -3,048

FCR Wohnen Delta GmbH & Co. KG (formerly Zwickau) 100% -3,089 -3,089

FCR Ludwigslust GmbH & Co. KG 100% -2,301 -2,201

FCR Magdala GmbH & Co. KG 100% -2,298 -2,858

FCR Walsrode GmbH & Co. KG 100% -2,709 -2,609

FCR Stendal GmbH & Co. KG 100% -1,863 -2,880

FCR Pulsnitz GmbH & Co. KG (formerly Münster) 100% -10,617 -10,617

other	companies

FCR Innovation GmbH 100% 42,649 -9,192

FCR Verwaltungs GmbH 100% 160,527 -157,574

FCR Service GmbH 100% 19,530 78,112

FCR Pelagone GmbH & Co. KG 100% 479,311 1,000

* Earnings and equity are presented in accordance with HGB.
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8.9	 Exemption	pursuant	to	Section	264	(3)	HGB	and	Section	264b	HGB

The following subsidiaries are legally structured as a partnership as defined in Section 264a HGB and are making use of 

the exemption under Section 264b HGB for the 2020 financial year:

FCR Aken GmbH & Co. KG FCR Hambühren GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Altena GmbH & Co. KG FCR Hamm GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Aschersleben GmbH & Co. KG FCR Hennef GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bad Kissingen GmbH & Co. KG FCR Herford GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bamberg GmbH & Co. KG FCR Höchstadt GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bergisch Gladbach GmbH & Co. KG FCR Jüterbog GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bottrop GmbH & Co. KG FCR Kaiserslautern GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Brandenburg GmbH & Co. KG FCR Kaltennordheim GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Brandenburg Logistik GmbH & Co. KG FCR Köpenick GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bremervörde GmbH & Co. KG FCR Landau GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Buchholz GmbH & Co. KG FCR Ludwigslust GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Burg GmbH & Co. KG FCR Magdala GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Burgdorf GmbH & Co. KG FCR Magdeburg GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Bückeburg 2 GmbH & Co. KG FCR Meerane GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Cadolzburg GmbH & Co. KG FCR Munster GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Cloppenburg GmbH & Co. KG FCR Neumünster GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Cottbus GmbH & Co. KG FCR Neustrelitz GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Datteln GmbH & Co. KG FCR Nienburg GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Duisburg 2 GmbH & Co. KG FCR Prettin GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Ehrenfriedersdorf GmbH & Co. KG FCR Pulsnitz GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Eilenburg GmbH & Co. KG FCR Rastatt GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gera AMTP GmbH & Co. KG FCR Ruhla GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gera BIBC GmbH & Co. KG FCR Salzwedel GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Glückstadt GmbH & Co. KG FCR Schesslitz GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Grimmen GmbH & Co. KG FCR Schleiz GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gronau GmbH & Co. KG FCR Schwalbach GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Guben GmbH & Co. KG FCR Schwandorf GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gummersbach GmbH & Co. KG FCR Seesen GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Gummersbach 2 GmbH & Co. KG FCR Söhlde GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Görlitz GmbH & Co. KG FCR Soltau GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Görlitz Hugo-Meyer GmbH & Co. KG FCR Soltau Zentrallager GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Hagen GmbH & Co. KG FCR Stendal GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Hagen 2 GmbH & Co. KG FCR Strullendorf GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Teistungen GmbH & Co. KG FCR Wittenberge GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Uelzen GmbH & Co. KG FCR Wittingen GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Uelzen Office GmbH & Co. KG FCR Würselen GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Walsrode GmbH & Co. KG FCR Wohnen Alpha GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Wasungen GmbH & Co. KG FCR Wohnen Beta GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Weidenberg GmbH & Co. KG FCR Wohnen Gamma GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Weissenfels GmbH & Co. KG FCR Wohnen Delta GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Welzow GmbH & Co. KG FCR Zeithain GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Westeregeln GmbH & Co. KG FCR Zerbst GmbH & Co. KG

FCR Wismar 2 GmbH & Co. KG FCR Zeulenroda GmbH & Co. KG

8.10 Auditor’s fees

The auditor invoiced fees of €75,000 (previous year: €74,000) for auditing services related to the financial year.

8.11 Events after the balance sheet date

The following events of material significance that may result in a different assessment of the company have occurred after 

the end of the financial year:

After the balance sheet date of December 31, 2020, FCR Immobilien AG implemented a capital increase with subscription 

rights for a total of 616,593 new shares at €10.80 per share. The gross issuing proceeds amount to approximately €6.7 

million. The raised funds will be invested in full in expanding the real estate portfolio. As a result of the capital increase, 

the share capital of FCR Immobilien AG rises to €9,762,997.00, divided into the same number of shares.

The transfer of possession, benefits and burdens of real estate acquired and notarized in 2020 took place after the balance 

sheet date of December 31, 2020:

• Specialist retail store in Pulsnitz/Saxony (BNL February 2021)

 The property in a central location in Pulsnitz was built in 1992 on land of more than 11,000 m² and is home to a 

well-established specialist retail store with a sales area of around 3,300 m² and 178 parking spaces. Tenants of the 

property, which has been continuously upgraded, are the German specialist retail store chain Hammer and the retail 

chain Pfennigpfeiffer.

• Specialist retail center in Ludwigslust/Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania (BNL April 2021)

 Built in 1995 on land of around 16,700 m², the fully leased property offers a leasable area of around 7,600 m² and 

180 parking spaces. The anchor tenant of the specialist retail center, which is well established at the location, is the 

toom DIY store belonging to the REWE Group.
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The transfer of possession, benefits and burdens of real estate sold and notarized in 2020 took place after the balance 

sheet date of December 31, 2020:

• Specialist retail center in Magdeburg/Saxony-Anhalt (BNL January 2021)

 The property was acquired at the beginning of 2018 via the wholly owned subsidiary FCR Magdeburg GmbH & Co. KG. 

The specialist retail center, which was built on an approx. 6,000 m² plot of land, is located north of Magdeburg’s city 

center in a large residential area. This property was fully renovated in 2000 and has a retail floor space of just under 

3,000 m². There are also around 65 car parking spaces. The property’s anchor tenant is food retailer EDEKA.

Due to the measures initiated by the German government to mitigate the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic and the 

increasing spread of the virus, we expect it to have a moderately negative impact on FCR’s earnings situation. However, we 

believe we are well positioned based on our portfolio structure. The majority of the rental income is generated in the retail 

segment—with emphasis on food and local supplies—as well as in the office and logistics segment, which are not affected 

by the lockdown measures. 

There were no other events of particular significance between the balance sheet date of December 31, 2020 and the 

preparation of this report.

8.12	 Proposed	appropriation	of	the	profit

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board propose to the Annual General Meeting that the net profit of €10,516,056.77 

from the past financial year of FCR Immobilien AG be used to distribute a dividend of €0.30 per dividend-bearing share 

and that the remaining amount be carried forward to the new account.

8.13 Corporate Governance

The company has issued the declaration of compliance pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 

and made it permanently available to the public on the company’s website. (https://fcr-immobilien/corporate-governance/).

 

9 Declaration by the Executive Board

The Executive Board of FCR Immobilien AG is responsible for the preparation, completeness and accuracy of the Consoli-

dated Financial Statements and the Combined Management Report for the Company and the Group.

The Executive Board released these financial statements for distribution to the Supervisory Board on March 16, 2021. The 

Supervisory Board is requested to review the Consolidated Financial Statements and declare whether they are approved by it.

The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) applicable within the EU.

The Combined Management Report for the Company and the Group contains analyses on the Group's net asset, financial 

and earnings position as well as further disclosures required pursuant to Section 315 German Commercial Code.

10  Responsibility statement by the legal representatives of FCR Im-

mobilien AG (Group)

I hereby warrant that, in accordance with the applicable accounting principles, the Consolidated Financial Statements 

portray, to the best of my knowledge, a true and accurate picture of the Group’s net asset, financial and earnings position 

and that the Condensed Management Report for the Group and the Company presents the course of business including the 

Group’s business performance and position in a way that conveys an accurate and true picture of the actual circumstances 

and that it describes the essential opportunities and risks inherent in the Group’s expected development.

Pullach im Isartal, March 19, 2021

FCR Immobilien AG

Falk Raudies

CEO
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity  
for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2020

In €

except for the number of shares

Equity	attributable	to	the	shareholders	of	FCR	Immobilien	AG

Notes 

no.

Number	of	

shares in 

circulation

Subscribed 

capital

Capital 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Retained 

earnings Equity

as	of	December	31,	2018 4,219,588 4,219,588 1,085,538 278,915 65,404,728 70,988,768

Result for the period 9,749,509 9,749,509

Capital increase 186,072 186,072 3,070,188 3,256,260

Sale of securities 335,084 335,084 2,848,214 3,183,298

Costs related to the capital increase -184,715 -184,715

Initial consolidation 170,898 170,898

Capital increase from treasury funds 4,405,660 4,405,660 -1,055,304 -3,350,356 0

Dividend payment -1,541,981 -1,541,981

as	of	December	31,	2019 9,146,404 9,146,404 5,763,920 278,915 70,432,798 85,622,038

Result for the period 9,560,724 9,560,724

Change in scope of consolidation -6,462 -6,462

Dividend payment 5.1.4 -2,743,921 -2,743,921

Balance	as	of	December	31,	2020 9,146,404 9,146,404 5,763,920 278,915 77,243,139 92,432,378

The reader is referred to the supplementary explanations in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In € thousand

Jan. 01 -  

Dec. 31, 2020

Jan. 01 -  

Dec. 31, 2019

Consolidated earnings after taxes 9,561 9,750

Adjustments to the net profit/loss for the period for reconciliation with the operating cash flow:

Taxes on income and earnings recognized through profit or loss 1,946 2,186

Financial expenses recognized through profit or loss 7,147 6,904

Financial income recognized through profit or loss -4,231 -730

Income/expenses recognized in profit or loss from investments accounted for using the equity method 0 0

Proceeds from the sale of properties held as financial investments recognized through profit or loss -1,470 -157

Amortization and impairment of other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 416 361

Change in the value of properties held as financial investments -796 -13,674

Proceeds from initial consolidation of subsidiaries -5 0

Change in inventories, receivables and other assets not attributable to investment activities -586 -6,907

Change in liabilities not attributable to financing activities -1,492 421

Payments of taxes on profits and earnings -615 -774

Cash	flow	from	operating	activities 9,874 -2,619

Investments in other intangible assets, software and property, plant and equipment -1,873 0

Proceeds from the sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 0 0

Cash inflows from the sale of properties held as financial investments 16,993 17,650

Cash outflows for properties held as financial investments -34,630 -75,197

Cash outflow for the acquisition of securities and current assets -5,700 -931

Cash inflows from the disposal of securities and current assets 3,414 825

Payments for investments in associates accounted for using the equity method -2,000 0

Cash inflows from the repayment of lendings to companies 2,456 940

Cash outflows for lendings to companies 0 0

Interest received 469 730

Cash	outflow	from	investment/divestment	activities -20,871 -55,984

Cash inflow from the issue of new shares 0 6,440

Issue of bonds 3,200 27,229

Bond repayments 0 -5,676

New loans assumed 27,667 54,280

Loan principal repayments -13,277 -9,210

Cash outflow for dividends paid to shareholders -2,744 -1,542

Interest paid -7,324 -6,851

Cash	inflow	from	financing	activities 7,522 64,670

   

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to initial consolidation/deconsolidation/sale -62 23

   

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -3,538 6,090

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	as	of	January	1 9,143 3,052

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	as	of	December	31 5,605 9,143

Financial	instruments	available	for	sale	on	short	notice 3,116 970

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	including	financial	instruments	available	for	current	disposal 8,721 10,113

The	reader	is	referred	to	the	supplementary	explanations	in	the	Notes	to	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	under	the	

heading	“7.	Consolidated	Cash	Flow	Statement”.

The company had unlimited power to dispose over the cash and cash equivalents.     

Consolidated cash flow statement  
for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2020
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1. Fundamentals of the Company

1.1 Business model

FCR Immobilien AG has positioned itself as a specialist for 

commercial properties that focuses on established second-

ary locations in Germany. On the one hand, the geographic 

location of these secondary locations offers potentials for 

above-average rental yields, on the other side they can 

also be characterized by a development of rental income 

and property values that is more stable than on property 

markets at prime locations that respond with more volatil-

ity to economic cycles. 

In financial year 2020, FCR further streamlined its busi-

ness strategy. As part of this process, a change in strate-

gy was decided and implemented in the third quarter of 

2020. Based on this strategy adjustment, the clear focus 

of business activities is on holding real estate, i.e. the ex-

isting portfolio. Continuous portfolio development is an 

integral part of portfolio management. The steady expan-

sion of stable rental income is thus at the core of FCR’s 

business policy. This core business is supplemented by the 

so-called trading and development portfolio. This portfo-

lio still includes five trading and development properties 

(hotels and project developments) that will be sold in full 

in financial year 2021. As a result, FCR will be able to fully 

complete the transformation process initiated in 2020 and 

position itself purely as a portfolio holder in 2021. 

As part of its business and growth strategy as a portfo-

lio holder, FCR is primarily focusing on penetrating the 

German market in the core asset class retail, with a fo-

cus on supermarkets, specialist stores, local suppliers and 

drugstores. Thus, FCR’s real estate portfolio is also charac-

terized by anchor tenants with strong credit ratings who 

are predominantly operating in the food sector. In order 

to qualitatively and quantitatively expand the real estate 

portfolio, which is also significantly supported by ongoing 

measures in the area of digitalization, corresponding pur-

chases are also made in the asset classes office, logistics 

and residential. 

1.1.2  Financing structure

The proportion of the first-ranking bank finance typically 

covers between 70% and 80% of the acquisition and com-

pletion costs. When the acquired properties are due for 

refinancing, FCR Immobilien AG aims to contract on the ba-

sis of loan agreements that contain a non-recourse clause. 

In these cases, FCR Immobilien AG makes its decision on 

short- or long-term bank loan finance on a case-by-case 

basis and in consideration of the planned period for which 

the property is to be held in FCR Group’s portfolio.

As of the reporting date on December 31, 2020, the weight-

ed remaining term of the fixed-interest agreements was 

just under 5.9 months, with an average interest burden of 

around 1.7% per year. Current debt financing is concluded 

at interest rates between 1.3–1.5%. The average interest 

rate is therefore continuing to fall.

The loan contracts usually take the form of annuity loans 

and in most cases provide for a high proportion of principal 

repayment. This amounted to around 4.1% per year across 

the entire real estate portfolio of FCR Immobilien AG as of 

the balance sheet date of December 31, 2020. Depending 

on the terms of the contract, FCR reserves the right to make 

unscheduled repayments on existing loans. The LTV of 80% 

targeted at the time of property acquisition, which rep-

resents the ratio between the loan amount and the market 

value of the property, will be reduced to below 70% within 

3 years based on the aforementioned average repayment. 

1.1.3  Portfolio management and active asset management

Portfolio management is the core business of FCR. Within 

this core business, active asset management is at the core 

of the business activities. Active asset management mainly 

involves optimizing the structural and economic substance 

of the property as well as optimizing the tenant structure, 

rental income and lease terms. In financial year 2020, FCR 

Immobilien AG was able to conclude numerous new, long-

term leases and lease extensions in this context, notably 

also with anchor tenants, thus securing stable and addi-

tional rental income over the respective period. 

As of the balance sheet date of December 31, 2020, the real 

estate portfolio of FCR Immobilien AG and its subsidiaries 

was comprised of 83 properties with a usable floor space of 

the existing portfolio of approximately 342,000 m². 

Due to successful leasing activities, FCR was able to re-

duce the vacancy rate of the existing portfolio to 9.7% in 

financial year 2020, compared to approximately 18% in 

the previous year, taking into account the 14 properties 

carried forward to 2020. The improvement in the vacancy 

rate, and thus the increase in the quality of the portfolio, 

is due to the change in strategy and active asset manage-

ment initiated in 2020. Project developments and hotels 

are not included in this vacancy rate. 

The shares of FCR Immobilien AG have been listed on the 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange since November 07, 2018 and 

are also listed in m:access on the Munich Stock Exchange. 

Since October 30, 2020, the FCR share has been listed—af-

ter a segment upgrade—on the regulated market, General 

Standard, of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

1.1.1  Acquisition and investment strategy 

FCR Immobilien AG typically invests in existing properties 

located in smaller and medium-sized cities that have es-

tablished themselves sustainably over many years and, 

through their tenant structure, supply a range of everyday 

goods and services that is adapted to the micro-location. 

The tenants generally include discount supermarkets, local 

retailers and drugstores. 

The purchase volume is usually between 1 and 25 million 

euros, but can be as high as 100 million euros if the right 

opportunities arise. 

FCR Immobilien AG further focuses its efforts on the ac-

quisition of properties in extraordinary situations, e.g. in-

solvency assets, with the goal of generating rental yields 

that are significantly above average. FCR Immobilien AG 

scouts these attractive locations via the broad network the 

company has developed as a result of its longstanding ex-

pertise and contacts to banks, real estate companies, mar-

ket intermediaries and investment companies. As a result, 

FCR is able to generate initial yields on the properties that 

range from 8% to a maximum of 12%. 

1.1.4  Earnings model

Based on its business model, FCR Immobilien AG predom-

inantly generates its income from the rental of directly 

and indirectly held portfolio properties. Income from op-

portunistic disposals of individual commercial properties 

complements the FCR earnings model. For 2021, income 

will still be generated from the complete sale of properties 

from the trading and development portfolio. 

 

1.2  Structure of the corporate group

With the change of name and legal form in 2013 of FCR 

Immobilien & Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG to the 

current FCR Immobilien AG, all properties acquired from 

2014 onward are held in independent limited partnerships 

(GmbH & Co. Kommanditgesellschaften). FCR Immobilien AG 

holds 100% of the respective general partner shares. The 

limited partnership (a GmbH & Co. KG under German law) is 

managed by the general partner (FCR Verwaltungs GmbH), 

which is also a wholly owned subsidiary of FCR Immobilien 

AG. FCR Immobilien AG is the principal company and direct-

ly manages the commercial properties held in its portfolio. 

It holds 100% of the shares in the respective subsidiaries. 

a) FCR Verwaltungs GmbH

 FCR Verwaltungs GmbH is a fully owned subsidiary of 

FCR Immobilien AG. The subsidiary’s business activities 

are limited to asset management. 

b) FCR Service GmbH

 FCR Service GmbH was formed in 2017 and is a fully 

owned subsidiary of FCR Immobilien AG. The company 

renders services associated with the acquisition, sale and 

administration of real property. It commenced its opera-

tional activities at the beginning of the 2018 financial year. 

c) FCR Monument Investment S.L.

 FCR Monument Investment S.L was formed in 2017 and 

is a fully owned subsidiary of FCR Immobilien AG. The 

company holds one property in Spain.

Group Management Report of FCR Immobilien AG  
for the financial year 2020
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d) FCR Innovation GmbH

 This company was formed in 2018 and is fully owned 

by FCR Immobilien AG. The company’s object is soft-

ware development and the holding of participating in-

1.3  Real estate portfolio as of December 31, 2020

1.3.1  Changes in the real estate portfolio in 2020

At the beginning of the financial year, on January 1, 2020, 

the directly or indirectly held real estate portfolio of FCR 

Immobilien AG consisted of a total of 76 properties.

14 additional properties with a usable floor space of 

45,000 m² were acquired during the financial year; 7 oth-

er properties with a usable floor space of approx. 24,000 

m² were sold in the same year. This resulted in an expan-

sion of the overall real estate portfolio of FCR Group to a 

total of 83 properties with a total usable floor space of 

just under 342,000 m² and a project development space of 

around 12,000 m² as of December 31, 2020.

New acquisitions:

In 2020, the following 14 new properties were acquired 

(in alphabetical order): Brandenburg Logistik, Bückeburg, 

Cadolzburg, Eilenburg, Gummersbach 2, Höchstadt, Jüter-

bog, Landau, Ruhla, Schwalbach, Schwandorf, Strullendorf, 

Teistungen and Westeregeln. All new acquisitions were in-

tegrated in the portfolio of FCR Group via separate proper-

ty holding companies.

On the sales side, the coronavirus-related restrictions also 

led to cuts in property sales. Consequently, fewer proper-

ties were sold in financial year 2020. Without the coro-

In the past financial year, the FCR Group’s annual net rent-

al income after adjustment for additions and disposals in-

creased to approximately €20.6 million.

Net investments, i.e. the balance of additions and disposals 

of properties, measured at purchase prices excluding inci-

dental expenses, amounted to approximately €9.5 million.

terests in other companies, particularly in the area of 

“artificial intelligence”.

The total net rental income from the newly acquired prop-

erties amounts to approximately €2.6 million per year, 

and the total new investments, meaning the amount of the 

purchase prices (excluding incidental acquisition costs), 

amounted to a total of €28.0 million. 

In terms of property inspections for real estate purchases, 

the coronavirus restrictions had a noticeably negative im-

pact—especially in Q2, but also in Q3 2020. Due to these 

restrictions, FCR Immobilien AG was limited to acquire few-

er properties; without these restrictions, FCR would have 

been able to purchase more properties. However, these 

purchases have merely been postponed and will now take 

place in financial year 2021. 

Property sales:

In addition to generating regular cash flows from rental 

income, hidden reserves were realized through the sale of 

individual portfolio properties.

In financial year 2020, the FCR Group successfully sold 

a total of seven properties. The sale of the properties (in 

alphabetical order) in Aue, Hof, Lichtentanne, Oer-Erken-

schwick, Pössneck, Stuhr and Westerburg, returned a leas-

able floor space of around 24,000 m² to the market.

The total sales price amounted to €18.5 million.

navirus crisis, more sales transactions could have been 

executed, but we will make up for this delay in financial 

year 2021. 

The group’s corporate structure as of the balance sheet date on December 31, 2020, is as follows: Overview of the portfolio change in 2020

1.3.2  The real estate portfolio as of December 31, 2020 

The following table provides an overview of the FCR inventory portfolio as of December 31, 2020:

FCR Immobilien AG

Properties are held by (92 different) limited partnerships (GmbH & Co. KG)

100% 100%

100%

100% 100% 100%

FCR Verwaltungs GmbH
Limited 

partnership 
interests

FCR Service GmbH FCR Innovation GmbH
FCR Monument  
Investment S.L.

held directly

Shopping center 
Dessau

Number  
of properties

Usable  
floor space  

(in thousand m²)

Net rental income  
(in €)

Transaction volume  
(in €)

Purchases in 2020 14 45 2.6 million 28.0 million

Sales in 2020 7 24 1.0 million 18.5 million

Net portfolio growth 7 21 1.6 million 9.5 million

Description Location Floor space in m² Occupancy rate in %

Supermarket in Aken Saxony-Anhalt 1,043 100 

Mixed residential and commercial building Altena North Rhine-Westphalia 12,057 35 

Supermarket in Aschersleben Saxony-Anhalt 996 93 

Supermarket in Bad Kissingen Bavaria 1,037 100 

Specialist retail store in Bergisch Gladbach North Rhine-Westphalia 2,725 100 

Commercial building in Bottrop North Rhine-Westphalia 5,137 100 

Specialist retail center in Brandenburg Brandenburg 12,189 100 

Logistics property in Brandenburg Brandenburg 8,103 100 

Specialist retail store in Bremervörde Lower Saxony 2,713 100 

Specialist retail store in Buchholz Lower Saxony 4,800 100 

Specialist retail store in Bückeburg Lower Saxony 1,010 100 

Specialist retail store in Burg Schleswig-Holstein 2,047 100 

Specialist retail store in Cadolzburg Bavaria 1,133 100 

Specialist retail store in Cloppenburg Lower Saxony 3,111 100 

Specialist retail center in Cottbus Brandenburg 4,513 47 

Supermarket in Datteln North Rhine-Westphalia 1,037 100 
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Description Location Floor space in m² Occupancy rate in %

Specialist retail center in Dessau Saxony-Anhalt 3,749 73 

Specialist retail store in Duisburg North Rhine-Westphalia 2,200 100 

Specialist retail store in Ehrenfriedersdorf Saxony 1,891 100 

Specialist retail center in Eilenburg Saxony 14,548 100 

Shopping center in Gera (Amthor-Passage) Thuringia 8,471 62 

Shopping center in Gera (Bieblach-Center) Thuringia 17,901 90 

Specialist retail store in Glückstadt Schleswig-Holstein 2,000 100 

Mixed residential and commercial building Görlitz Saxony 15,900 100 

Specialist retail center in Görlitz Saxony 1,004 100 

Specialist retail center in Grimmen
Mecklenburg-Western 

Pomerania
2,045 100 

Specialist retail store in Gronau North Rhine-Westphalia 2,305 100 

Supermarket in Guben Brandenburg 1,830 100 

Commercial building in Gummersbach North Rhine-Westphalia 4,543 100 

Shopping center in Gummersbach North Rhine-Westphalia 4,030 95 

Specialist retail store in Hagen North Rhine-Westphalia 408 100 

Specialist retail store in Hagen North Rhine-Westphalia 2,561 100 

Specialist retail center in Hambühren Lower Saxony 5,379 100 

Specialist retail store in Hamm North Rhine-Westphalia 2,032 100 

Specialist retail store in Herford North Rhine-Westphalia 2,540 100 

Specialist retail store in Höchstadt Bavaria 1,725 100 

Shopping center in Jüterbog Brandenburg 4,962 100 

Specialist retail store in Kaiserslautern Rhineland-Palatinate 2,350 100 

Supermarket in Kaltennordheim Thuringia 1,045 100 

Residential building in Köpenick Berlin 474 100 

Specialist retail center in Landau Bavaria 1,329 100 

Specialist retail center in Magdeburg Saxony-Anhalt 2,825 86 

Specialist retail center in Meerane Saxony 2,698 91 

Specialist retail store in Munster Lower Saxony 2,347 100 

Specialist retail store in Neumünster Schleswig-Holstein 3,100 100 

Specialist retail center in Neustrelitz
Mecklenburg-Western 

Pomerania
2,596 99 

Specialist retail store in Nienburg Lower Saxony 3,029 100 

Supermarket in Prettin Saxony-Anhalt 1,046 100 

Shopping center in Rastatt Baden-Württemberg 21,548 79 

Supermarket in Ruhla Thuringia 1,153 100 

Specialist retail store in Salzwedel Saxony-Anhalt 6,017 100 

Supermarket in Schesslitz Bavaria 930 100 

Description Location Floor space in m² Occupancy rate in %

Specialist retail center in Schleiz Thuringia 6,540 59 

Supermarket in Schwalbach Saarland 1,740 100 

Specialist retail store in Schwandorf Bavaria 1,346 100 

Shopping center in Seesen Lower Saxony 8,257 51 

Supermarket in Söhlde Lower Saxony 1,710 100 

Office and logistics building in Soltau Lower Saxony 8,430 100 

Specialist retail store in Soltau Lower Saxony 3,600 100 

Specialist retail store in Strullendorf Bavaria 873 100 

Supermarket in Teistungen Thuringia 1,034 100 

Specialist retail store in Uelzen Lower Saxony 5,082 100 

Specialist retail store in Uelzen Lower Saxony 2,514 100 

Office building in Uelzen Lower Saxony 5,018 100 

Supermarket in Wasungen Thuringia 1,064 100 

Specialist retail center in Weidenberg Bavaria 1,719 100 

Residential buildings in Weissenfels (3 properties) Saxony-Anhalt 1,764 55 

Specialist retail center in Welzow Brandenburg 1,553 100 

Supermarket in Westeregeln Saxony-Anhalt 1,509 95 

Shopping center in Wismar
Mecklenburg-Western 

Pomerania
3,759 54 

Supermarket in Wittenberge Brandenburg 1,697 76 

Specialist retail store in Wittingen Lower Saxony 4,261 100 

Specialist retail store in Würselen North Rhine-Westphalia 3,380 100 

Logistics property in Zeithain Saxony 45,045 100 

Specialist retail store in Zerbst Saxony-Anhalt 6,615 100 

Shopping center in Zeulenroda Thuringia 4,803 65 

Description Location

Project development student residence in Bamberg Bavaria

Project development Frankenberg Hesse

Project development Monument Mallorca (Spain)

Hotel Kitzbühel Tyrol (Austria)

Hotel Il Pelagone Tuscany (Italy)

A variety of measures aimed at improving the tenant and 

building structure of the portfolio properties were taken 

during the reporting period. For a number of properties, this 

The following table provides an overview of FCR’s trading and development portfolio as of December 31, 2020:

included extensive renovation measures in addition to the 

usual regularly recurring substance-preserving activities.
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1.4  Corporate bodies, employees, personnel develop-

ment, compensation

FCR Immobilien AG employed an average of 95 persons in 

the reporting period. The company employed an average 

of 113 people in Q1 (January 01 – March 31, 2020), 108 

people in Q2 (April 01 – June 30, 2020), 100 people in 

Q3 (July 01 – September 30, 2020), and 59 people in Q4 

(October 01 – December 31, 2020). 

There were no changes with effect on the Executive Board 

of FCR Immobilien AG during the reporting period. Mr. Falk 

Raudies has represented the Company as a member of the 

Executive Board since the Company was founded.

In addition to fixed salary components, the company’s 

compensation system also includes variable salary com-

ponents. The variable compensation components are 

based on the level of the company’s earnings from ordi-

nary activities or on individual target agreements. Perfor-

mance-based commissions paid to the respective FCR em-

ployees are based on purchases, sales and leases.

2. Economic Report

2.1.  Fundamental macroeconomic conditions

According to calculations by the Federal Statistical Office, 

the inflation-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) in Ger-

many dropped by 4.9 percent in 2020.1 In a year domi-

nated by the coronavirus pandemic, the German economy 

thus slipped into recession for the first time in 10 years. 

In the previous year, the inflation-adjusted gross domes-

tic product still managed to grow by 0.6 percent2 and by 

1.4 percent3 in 2018. The negative impact of the lockdown 

measures in the spring were particularly evident in the 

GDP results for the second quarter: the inflation-adjusted 

GDP contracted by 11.3 percent in year-on-year compari-

son.4 In Q1, the inflation-adjusted GDP decline was still rel-

atively small at 1.9 percent.5 In Q3, the inflation-adjusted 

GDP fell by 3.9 percent in year-on-year comparison.6

Due to the crisis, asset class priorities shifted among real 

estate properties. While office properties were still the most 

lucrative asset class in 2019, in 2020 they were surpassed 

by properties from the residential segment with a share of 

€25.2 billion or 31 percent. Office properties came in second 

with €24.5 billion or 30 percent. Due to the trend toward 

online retail, demand for logistics properties increased, with 

investment volumes growing by €2 billion in year-on-year 

comparison to €8.7 billion. Mixed-use properties were also 

in demand last year with a share of €8.5 billion or 10 per-

cent. The lockdown measures to curb the coronavirus pan-

demic weighed on the retail sector. However, the transac-

tion volume of €10.4 billion for retail properties was only 

slightly lower than in the previous year: It only declined 

by 5 percent. The highest share of the transaction volume 

for retail properties consisted of specialist retail stores, spe-

cialist retail centers, supermarkets and discounters, which 

jointly accounted for €5.7 billion.11

The transaction volume in the Big7 locations of Berlin, Düs-

seldorf, Frankfurt, Hamburg, Munich, Cologne and Stuttgart 

amounted to just under €40 billion. This represents a de-

cline of 25 percent and a drop in the share of total volume 

to 49 percent. Investments only increased significantly in 

Hamburg, rising by 24 percent to €5.6 billion. The trans-

action volume in locations outside the Big 7 was stronger 

with a volume of €41.7 billion in 2020.12

In light of the low level of interest rates and the resulting 

pressure on return on capital, JLL also expects high demand 

for real estate from investors in the coming years. However, 

according to JLL, there will be greater differentiation be-

tween and within the various real estate asset classes. This 

is also due to the fact that it is becoming more difficult to 

obtain external financing from banks, since they are less 

willing to provide financial support for risky investments.13

The coronavirus pandemic had a negative impact on almost 

all sectors of the economy. Construction was one of the 

few sectors that did not experience a decline: Inflation-ad-

justed gross value added in this segment increased by 2.8 

percent in year-on-year comparison. Another sector that 

developed positively was government consumer spending, 

which grew by 3.3 percent adjusted for inflation. Adjust-

ed for inflation, gross fixed capital formation decreased 

by 3.1 percent, although construction investment bucked 

the trend and only grew by 1.9 percent. Inflation-adjusted 

economic output in the production industry excluding con-

struction slumped by 9.7 percent compared to 2019 and 

by 10.5 percent in the manufacturing sector.7

Foreign trade was also hit hard by the pandemic: Exports 

of goods and services declined by 9.4 percent in 2020, 

adjusted for inflation, and imports by 8.5 percent.8 

In 2020, employment in Germany declined for the first 

time in 14 years: On average for the year, economic output 

was generated by 44.8 million employees working in Ger-

many, which corresponds to a decline of 477,000 persons 

or 1.1 percent compared to 2019.9

2.2.  Industry situation

2.2.1.  Commercial real estate market in Germany

The coronavirus crisis also had a negative impact on the real 

estate sector in some areas. According to the calculations of 

Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL) in the Investment Market Over-

view Germany, Q4 2020, the transaction volume including 

“Living” (residential) for individual properties and portfolios 

totaled around €81.6 billion in 2020, which corresponds to 

a decline of 11 percent compared to the previous year’s 

figure.10 Although the transaction volume of €23.2 billion in 

Q4 accounted for more than 28 percent of the annual result, 

it was lower than in Q1 2020 and Q4 of the previous year. 

Large transactions in the triple-digit millions most notably 

decreased due to a lack of supply, which declined by 35 

percent in terms of number and volume. 

2.2.2.  Retail properties

According to CBRE’s calculations in the “German Retail In-

vestment MarketView Q4 2020”, the transaction volume 

of retail properties (individual transactions and portfolio) 

in Germany totaled €12.3 billion in 2020. On account of 

the coronavirus crisis, this result is also attributed to spe-

cial effects such as a strong first quarter and large-volume 

portfolio transactions. The drivers of the transaction ac-

tivity were grocery stores as well as retail stores and local 

shopping centers operating in the food sector, whose share 

of the investment volume amounted to 52 percent, accord-

ing to the CBRE. However, this high demand is also ex-

erting pressure on return on capital in this subasset class. 

For example, yields for supermarkets fell by 0.4 percent 

in year-on-year comparison to 4.8 percent. Yields for spe-

cialist retail centers held steady at 4.15 percent. Inner-city 

commercial properties in prime locations and shopping 

centers contributed far less to the transaction volume, with 

shares of 27 percent and 12 percent respectively.

The strong interest of foreign buyers in 2020 is striking, 

with supermarkets, discount grocery stores, hypermarkets 

and drugstores being in particularly high demand. The 

share of international buyers increased significantly by 19 

percentage points to 58 percent.

CBRE also expects a high volume of investment in retail 

properties with focus on food in 2021. However, invest-

ment activities in this segment will be affected by the lim-

ited supply in general and especially for specialist retail 

stores and food-related properties.14

2.2.3.  Earnings position

Earnings before taxes (EBT) are one of the most important 

performance indicators and key financial parameters for 

decision-making in the FCR Group. 

11  https://www.jll.de/content/dam/jll-com/documents/pdf/research/emea/germany/de/ 

Investmentmarktueberblick-JLL-Deutschland.pdf Source: Jones Lang LaSalle, 

Investment Market Overview, Q4/2020, published in January 2021

12  https://www.jll.de/content/dam/jll-com/documents/pdf/research/emea/germany/de/ 

Investmentmarktueberblick-JLL-Deutschland.pdf

13   https://www.jll.de/content/dam/jll-com/documents/pdf/research/emea/germany/

de/ Investmentmarktueberblick-JLL-Deutschland.pdf Source: Jones Lang LaSalle, 

Investment Market Overview, Q4/2020, published in January 2021

14  http://cbre.vo.llnwd.net/grgservices/secure/Germany_Retail_Investment_Q4_2020_de. 

pdf?e=1611224872&h=6c846528611555791a3a12cf90a7ab1c  

Marketview, Retail investment market Germany, Q4 2020; https://www.cbre.de/en/ 

de-de/research/Deutschland-Einzelhandelsinvestment-MarketView-Q4-2020

1 https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/02/PE21_081_81.html

2 https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2020/02/PE20_045_811.html

3 https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2019/02/PE19_050_811.html

4 https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2020/08/PE20_323_811.html

5 https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2020/05/PE20_180_811.html

6 https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2020/11/PE20_465_811.html

 7  https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/02/PE21_081_81.html

 8  https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/02/PE21_081_81.html

 9  https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/01/PE21_020_811.html

10  https://www.jll.de/content/dam/jll-com/documents/pdf/research/emea/germany/de/ 

Investmentmarktueberblick-JLL-Deutschland.pdf Source: Jones Lang LaSalle, 

Investment Market Overview, Q4/2020, published in January 2021
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In the past financial year, the FCR Real Estate Group generat-

ed revenues of €38.9 million (previous year: €49.7 million). 

Compared to the previous year, rental income increased by 

around €3.7 million to approximately €22.7 million. This 

was due to a larger portfolio of rental properties. Compared 

to the previous year, income from the sale of real estate 

fell by around €15.6 million to €12.4 million. The reasons 

for this trend are the strategic focus on holding properties 

in the portfolio and the coronavirus-related restrictions in 

the transaction process. The grand total of sales revenues, 

changes in inventories, other capitalized personal contribu-

tions and other operating income results in a total operating 

income of €42.1 million (previous year: €52.3 million).

The cost of materials decreased from 7.7 million Euro to 

6.6 million Euro and includes the performance-associated 

costs that are directly attributable to the revenues. Among 

other things, this positive development is due to cost op-

timization in material expenses (e.g. service providers or 

insurance companies) and the reduced purchase of goods 

in the hotel sector.

Personnel expenses decreased from €6.6 million in the 

previous year to €4.7 million. The reduction in person-

nel expenses is mainly due to efficiency gains achieved 

through the use and ongoing development of the FCR soft-

ware. It ensures lean and efficient processes across all de-

partments. Further reasons for the reduction in personnel 

expenses are the disposal of the Westerburg company and 

the coronavirus-related short-time work measures and 

personnel reductions at the hotels.

Scheduled depreciation and amortization amounted to 

€0.4 million (previous year: €0.3 million).

Since properties held as financial investments are recog-

nized at fair value in accordance with IAS 40.33-55, no fur-

ther depreciation is recorded. The buildings are valued by 

an expert valuer on an annual basis and recognized in the 

Statement of Financial Position at the resulting fair value.

Despite the lower increase in market values in some cases 

compared to the previous year, a positive effect of around 

€0.8 million (previous year: €13.7 million) was achieved 

in the changes in the value of properties held as financial 

investments.

Current assets decreased from EUR 26.8 million to EUR 

25.8 million, mostly due to lower trade receivables and 

receivables from affiliated companies. As of the balance 

sheet date, the FCR Group’s cash and cash equivalents 

amounted to €5.6 million (previous year: €9.1 million). In-

ventories increased from around €1.9 million to around 

€4.2 million. The property in Magdeburg was reported as a 

property held as financial investment in the previous year. 

Due to the pending sale of the property in January 2021, 

it was reclassified to inventories. For the purpose of an 

active liquidity management, liquid funds were invested 

in short-term near-money market financial investments. 

As a result, approximately €3.1 million (previous year: 

€1.0 million) were invested in current securities. They are 

reported separately in the balance sheet under the item 

“Financial instruments available for sale on short notice”. 

Overall, assets thus increased by €21.7 million from 

€327.0 million to the current figure of €348.7 million.

The FCR Immobilien Group’s equity increased by €6.8 million 

as a result of the consolidated net profit for the year and 

now amounts to €92.4 million (previous year: €85.6 million). 

Details on subscribed capital can be found in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements under item 5.1.1.

The equity ratio of the FCR Immobilien Group was 26.5% 

(previous year: 26.2%) as of the balance sheet date. 

Non-current liabilities remained virtually unchanged at 

€226.6 million (previous year €226.0 million). As a result 

of the expansion of the real estate portfolio and the asso-

ciated increase in business activities, long-term bank loans 

rose from €144.9 million to €156.1 million. The transfer 

of possession, benefits and burdens of real estate acquired 

and notarized in 2020 took place after the balance sheet 

date with an investment volume of around €5.3 million. 

Financing amounting to €4.8 million was concluded in con-

nection with the acquisition of the Pulsnitz and Ludwig-

slust properties. Due to a bond maturing in financial year 

2021, non-current bond liabilities decreased from €66.6 

million to €55.0 million.

Current liabilities increased accordingly from €15.4 million 

to €29.5 million in 2020.

Other operating expenses in the financial year amounted 

to €5.5 million (previous year: €5.1 million). This increase 

is attributable to the expansion of business activities com-

pared to the previous year.

As a result of increased bond subscriptions and increased 

bank financing for business expansion, financial expenses 

increased from €6.9 million to €7.1 million. 

A fair value reversal of impairment losses from invest-

ments generated income of around EUR 3.8 million (previ-

ous year: EUR 0.00). 

Overall, the FCR Immobilien Group generated earnings before 

taxes (EBT) of €11.5 million (previous year: €11.9 million). 

After deducting taxes, the FCR Immobilien Group generat-

ed net income of €9.5 million (previous year: €9.7 million).

2.2.4  Net asset and financial position

In the financial year under review, non-current assets in-

creased by around €22.6 million from €300.2 million to 

€322.8 million. 

The item “investment property” includes retail units and 

rental apartments amounting to €268,332,000 (previous 

year: €254,604,000) and hotels amounting to €27,118,000 

(previous year: €25,832,000), as well as properties still 

under development amounting to €19,088,000 (previous 

year: €14,675,000); it also includes deposits paid on prop-

erties, whose ownership will not be transferred until after 

the balance sheet date but will be reported as investment 

property in the future, amounting to €151,000 (previous 

year: €3,874,000).

FCR Immobilien AG holds a 10% interest in Immoware24 

GmbH, which has a fair value measurement of €5.7 mil-

lion at the balance sheet date. The company, based in Hal-

le (Saale), offers a professional and innovative property 

management system that can be used entirely as software 

as a service (SaaS) via the internet. The expertise of Im-

moware24 complements the technological foundation of 

FCR Immobilien AG. 

Cash flow from operating activities increased from 

€-2,619,000 in 2019 to €9,874,000, mainly due to the in-

crease in consolidated net income before changes in the val-

ue of properties held as financial investments. The increase 

in cash flow from investing activities from €-55,984,000 to 

€-20,871,000 can mainly be attributed to lower payments 

for the acquisition of real estate. Cash flow from financ-

ing activities decreased from €64,670,000 to €7,522,000, 

mainly due to the lower volume of loans and bonds.

2.4.5 Overall presentation of the business development

Despite the general economic environment, earnings before 

taxes (EBT) remained at a constant level of around €11.5 

million (previous year: €11.9 million). The Executive Board 

considers the overall economic development of the compa-

ny in financial year 2020 to be more than satisfactory. 

3. Report on opportunities, risk and outlook

3.1   Report on opportunities

Based on FCR’s established market position and market strat-

egy, the Executive Board of FCR Immobilien AG is confident 

that it will be able to take advantage of the current market 

and competitive environment to continue to sustainably im-

prove the FCR Group’s net asset and earnings position. 

The Executive Board expects the sales prices for specialist 

retail and shopping centers to continue their upward trend 

despite the COVID-19 pandemic, driving the continued in-

crease the value of the property portfolio in combination 

with constantly low acquisition prices achieved as a result 

of the excellent network of FCR Immobilien AG.

3.2   Risk report 

The business activities of FCR Immobilien AG and its prop-

erty holding companies are exposed to a number of dif-

ferent risks. The company deliberately tolerates some of 

these risks with the aim of exploiting the opportunities 

awaiting on the property market. The Executive Board 

minimizes potential risks by continuously monitoring es-

sential risk parameters that, if necessary, allow it to rapid-

ly implement any necessary counter-measures.
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FCR Immobilien AG has developed numerous risk man-

agement tools to identify potential risks that could have 

an unfavorable impact on the future development of the 

company and thus jeopardize its continued existence. The 

system is geared to the currently small size of the compa-

ny with its flat hierarchy. 

The objectives of FCR risk management are to ensure that 

all value creation potential is exploited, to safeguard the 

company’s objectives against disruptive events and to 

sustainably increase the value of the company. To this 

end, our risk management involves the systematic iden-

tification, analysis and evaluation as well as monitoring 

of all significant risks by the FCR Executive Board. Close 

involvement of the Executive Board in all key activities in 

the FCR core areas of Transaction Management, Asset Man-

agement, Finance, Operations Management and Innovation 

Management ensures ongoing monitoring of the relevant 

risks. Flat hierarchies support this important process. 

The main areas of company- and market-related risks in-

clude risks in the selection of real estate, real estate port-

folio risks, valuation risks, leasing risks, construction risks, 

financing, liquidity and interest rate risks, legal risks (e.g. 

HGB, AktG, WpHG), economic risks and sector risks. 

Our company also has a compliance officer who is respon-

sible for implementing the guidelines, further developing 

compliance management and reporting to the company’s 

management. In this regard, compliance is regularly ad-

dressed in the training and/or continuing education of FCR 

employees. Our company reports on the implementation 

of compliance measures as well as compliance targets and 

violations. To detect violations, internal (and external, if 

necessary) audits are conducted on a regular basis. 

As part of risk management, FCR uses numerous tools. 

Here are a few of them: 

• Liquidity Plan: 

 The liquidity plan can be used to view daily updated 

account balances of FCR Immobilien AG and the limited 

partnerships as well as income and expenses (e.g. loan 

payments). Furthermore, current and planned income 

from property sales and expenses for property pur-

chases are recorded in it. With the liquidity plan, FCR 

is able to manage the group with 12-month foresight. 

It is ensured at all times that appropriate liquidity is 

available for the respective measures. 

The Executive Board itself performs early key risk identi-

fication functions. The risk management system employed 

by FCR Immobilien AG is adequate and continuously devel-

oped further in line with market requirements. There are 

currently no known risks that could potentially jeopardize 

the company’s continued existence.

The constantly monitored parameters include data on the 

occupancy rate, vacancy rate, rental arrears, interest ex-

penses, as well as structure of liabilities, development of 

liquid funds, rental income and administrative expenses.

The essential risks that could potentially have negative ef-

fects on the company’s net asset, financial and earnings 

position are outlined in the following. It must be noted that 

the list is not exhaustive. Currently unknown risks or risks 

assessed as immaterial could also impact on FCR Immobil-

ien AG’s business activities. For each risk was classified by 

the Executive Board (low, medium, high). 

3.2.1   Risks associated with the acquisition of real estate

Risks stemming from investment activities and property 

selection: 

The business activities of FCR Immobilien AG are based on 

the acquisition of suitable commercial properties at reason-

able prices and terms. Additional competitors entering the 

target market of FCR Immobilien AG could potentially result 

in rising transaction prices and falling initial rental yields. 

Risk assessment: low

Due diligence: 

The company accurately and prudently analyzes and cal-

culates all investments before entering into legally binding 

contracts. Misjudgments, unforeseen problems and un-

identified risks may however still adversely affect the de-

velopment of investments in real property assets. Another 

risk factor are documents from the previous owner that 

turn out to be flawed or incomplete.

Risk assessment: low

3.2.2   Risks associated with the property portfolio

For as long as FCR Immobilien AG holds properties in its 

portfolio, the company may be exposed to risks caused by 

external factors, e.g. changes in traffic connections social 

structures or construction work at the location that neg-

• Financing plan: 

 Among other things, the financing plan records the end 

of fixed-interest periods for loans. It allows FCR to get 

an early picture of expiring fixed-interest agreements 

and to talk to banks early to negotiate extending the 

fixed-interest period and/or to check alternative means 

of financing (variable) through other banks. 

• Rental income plan: 

 The rental income plan is an integral part of the FCR 

intranet and makes it possible to identify discrepan-

cies between the list of tenants from the FCR intranet 

(according to the lease agreement) and the actual rents 

posted (according to DATEV). This control option ensures 

that all tenants are recorded correctly and completely.

• Contract Management: 

 FCR contract management can be used to monitor ex-

piring contracts (e.g. leases, insurance policies) in order 

to classify and assess risks at an early stage; if neces-

sary, it can also be used to initiate appropriate mea-

sures (extension, termination with new contract, search 

for new tenant, etc.). 

• Receivables management: 

 This overview gives FCR the possibility to evaluate 

overdue rents and tenants and to create the founda-

tion for fast, proactive initiation of solutions with the 

respective tenants. 

• Forecast: 

 This tool is used to extrapolate the annual results based 

on the earnings achieved throughout the year to date and 

to compare them with the previous year. It provides a 

quick overview of how income and expenses are expect-

ed to develop. Accordingly, it also forms the basis for the 

conception and realization of any action measures. 

• Invoice approval process: 

 The invoice approval process is system-based (FCR in-

tranet) and takes place in several stages. It ensures the 

four-eyes principle for all invoice approvals. Linking con-

tracts makes it easy to see if invoiced services are correct. 

atively affect the property and cause a decline in rental 

income or the market/sales value of the concerned prop-

erties. Another area of risk are higher than expected main-

tenance and other management expenses.

Leasing: 

As a property holding real estate company, FCR Immobilien 

AG is exposed to the lease risks that are typical for this type 

of business, e.g. rental arrears, rent reductions and associated 

higher vacancy costs. There is also the risk of untenanted 

periods after the previous tenant has vacated the premises. 

All tenancy agreements are further exposed to the risk of not 

being renewed by the current tenant and delays in securing a 

new tenancy. Among other things, FCR uses, the tools “Rental 

Income Plan”, “Contract Management” and “Receivables Man-

agement” (see also item 3.2) to manage this risk.

Risk assessment: low

Property management: 

There is the risk of incurring unexpected expenses for re-

pairs, maintenance measures or works to modernize the 

properties.

Risk assessment: low

Risks stemming from property valuation: 

The development of the values of the properties held in 

the company’s portfolio directly and indirectly influences 

the goodwill of FCR Immobilien AG and has significant ef-

fects on the company’s non-current assets, balance sheet 

structure and terms of finance. All properties held by FCR 

Immobilien AG are valued by an external appraiser. 

Risk assessment: low

Risks stemming from development, renovation and reme-

diation measures: 

The performance of own development or renovation mea-

sures may give rise to the risk of having to absorb un-

planned cost increases. Delayed completion of construc-

tion works may in turn result in the postponement of 

tenancy start dates.

Risk assessment: medium
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Risk of contaminations and structural defects: 

FCR Immobilien AG bears the risk that the land owned by is 

contaminated with hazardous substances and that it may be 

held liable by public authorities or private persons for the 

removal of these contaminations. FCR Immobilien AG has 

limited legal recourse to evade this type of liability. FCR Im-

mobilien AG counters possible interferences by employing 

its extensive market expertise before purchasing properties, 

if necessary with the help of expert investigation reports. 

No risks of this nature are known from today’s perspective.

Risk assessment: low

3.2.3   Financial risks

Risks from financing activities: 

To continue its growth trajectory and further expansion of 

its property assets, FCR Immobilien AG depends on an ad-

equate inflow of additional equity or debt capital. If capital 

cannot be procured, investments in additional properties 

can only be financed to a limited extent from the opera-

tional cash flow or the sale of portfolio properties.

Risk assessment: low

Economic risks: 

There is the fundamental risk that changes in the funda-

mental macroeconomic conditions entail adverse effects 

for the real estate industry. Since the business model of 

FCR Immobilien AG strongly depends on economic devel-

opments, a long-lasting recession would entail a significant 

negative effect on FCR Immobilien AG’s net asset, finan-

cial and earnings position. There is also the risk that fiscal 

measures taken on the political stage, such as an increase 

in the property transfer tax, negatively impact on the prof-

itability of real estate transactions. 

Risk assessment: low

Debt capital risk: 

To implement its business model and growth strategy, FCR 

Immobilien AG requires extensive financial resources that 

are used to invest in the acquisition of properties. Should 

the company, at some point in the future, find itself unable 

to secure debt capital financing at all or only at reason-

able terms, it would have extremely negative implications 

for the business model pursued by FCR Immobilien AG. To 

manage this risk, FCR uses, among other things, the “fi-

nancing plan” tool (see also item 3.2).

Risk assessment: low

3.2.4   Risks associated with the sale of real estate

Market risk: 

The sale of real estate assets from FCR Immobilien AG’s 

holdings is subject to the potential risk of falling sales pric-

es, misjudgments with respect to the properties’ market 

values resulting from negative changes concerning the lo-

cation. Another risk lies in increasing refinancing costs that 

diminish the attractiveness and reduce the sales prices for 

commercial properties.

Risk assessment: low

Warranty risk: 

There is also the risk that property purchasers assert ex-

tensive warranty claims that may result in a subsequent 

adjustment of the sales prices or a rescission of the pur-

chase contract.

Risk assessment: low

3.2.5   Corporate strategy and other risks

Strategic risks are essentially related to misjudgments of 

the business model. Other strategic risks result from un-

expected changes in market and environmental conditions 

with negative effects on the company’s earnings and com-

petitive position.

Liability: 

There is a liability risk with respect to material and title 

defects in the letting and disposal of properties and prop-

erty holding companies.

Risk assessment: low

Litigation risk: 

There is the risk that FCR Immobilien AG or its subsidiar-

ies become involved in legal disputes with tenants, buyers 

and vendors of properties, or shareholders.

Risk assessment: low

Personnel risks: 

FCR Immobilien AG is exposed to the risk of loosing its 

CEO or employees, or finding itself unable to replace de-

parting employees with adequately qualified personnel. 

As the company’s founder, CEO Falk Raudies has made a 

significant contribution to the success and development of 

FCR Immobilien AG. In the event Mr Raudies is prevented 

Refinancing risk: 

There is the risk that the company fails in securing subse-

quent financing arrangements or loan term extensions, or 

that it is only able to secure them at unfavorable terms. 

The same applies to new finance arrangements in connec-

tion with the acquisition of additional real estate assets. 

To manage this risk, FCR uses, among other things, the “fi-

nancing plan” tool (see also item 3.2).

Risk assessment: low

Risks from the breach of financial covenants: 

There is the risk of a decline in rental income and/or the 

properties’ market values. This could result in a deteriorat-

ed loan-to-value ratio (“LTV”), debt service coverage ratio 

(“DSCR”) or capacity to service loans. As a consequence, 

FCR Immobilien AG could be required to provide additional 

surety in the form of collateral or additional repayments 

on the principal amounts of loans.

Risk assessment: low

Interest rate risk: 

Depending on the planned period for which a property is 

held in the company’s portfolio, the company enters into 

loan agreements with either short, medium or long terms. 

There is the fundamental risk of an interest rate increase 

after expiry of the fixed interest period. Due to the cur-

rently low interest rate environment, high compensation 

payments to lenders may be incurred if loans are repaid 

before their maturity, e.g. when a property is sold. To man-

age this risk, FCR uses, among other things, the “financing 

plan” tool (see also item 3.2).

Risk assessment: low

Liquidity: 

There is the risk that the liquidity of FCR Immobilien AG 

and its property holding companies becomes insufficient 

to satisfy its ongoing obligations at any point in time. To 

manage this risk, FCR uses, among other things, the “Li-

quidity Plan” tool (see also section 3.2).

Risk assessment: low

from working for an extended period due to unforeseen 

circumstances, this could potentially have direct negative 

implications for the net asset, financial and earnings posi-

tion of FCR Immobilien AG.

Risk assessment: low

Risks related to information technology: 

Important data could be lost irrecoverably from FCR Im-

mobilien AG’s IT networks or intercepted by unauthorized 

third parties. Both situations could potentially result in 

costs and ultimately in financial damages.

Risk assessment: low

Pandemic-related risks: 

A pandemic (new infectious disease with a strong global 

spread) can generally lead to strong impairment of the ability 

to do business and thus impact the success of the business. 

Risk assessment: medium

At the beginning of 2020, the outbreak of the coronavirus 

pandemic affected all of Europe. To combat the pandem-

ic, numerous broad measures were implemented in the 

course of 2020 and beyond based on resolutions passed 

by the federal and state governments. Several lockdowns 

were implemented throughout this time, forcing many 

stores to close during this period. 

FCR prepared for this severe crisis early on (see press re-

lease dated March 31, 2020) and implemented quick mea-

sures for the benefit of customers, partners and employees. 

Due to the very robust business model with a strong fo-

cus on retail properties in Germany and with companies 

operating in the food sector as creditworthy, crisis-re-

sistant anchor tenants, the impact of the pandemic was 

very moderate in financial year 2020. For example, part-

nership-based, individual agreements were secured with 

tenants who were affected by pandemic-related closure. 

Looking ahead to financial year 2021, the impact of the coro-

navirus pandemic remains manageable for FCR due to its po-

sitioning and portfolio structure. All relevant indications are 

assessed on a daily basis and form the basis for implemen-

tation of all measures. All other FCR risk management tools 

(see overview 3.2.) can also be used very purposefully and 

effectively to manage this exceptional situation. 



2020 Annual Report / FCR Immobilien AGGroup Management Report of FCR Immobilien Group

120  121  

3.3    Outlook on the development of the corporation 

limited by shares (outlook report)

3.3.1    Development of the retail property market in 

Germany

Macroeconomic environment

According to initial estimates, the German economy con-

tracted by 5 percent in 2020, slipping into a deep recession 

for the first time in ten years.15 In its 2021 Annual Economic 

Report, the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and En-

ergy expects the inflation-adjusted gross domestic product 

(GDP) to increase by 3.0 percent in the current year.16 How-

ever, economic development is significantly influenced by 

the course of the pandemic and the containment measures. 

In its annual report for 2020/21, the German Council of Eco-

nomic Experts forecasts slightly higher economic growth of 

3.7 percent. In addition to successful pandemic containment 

without extensive shutdown and without disruptions to in-

ternational supply chains, the prerequisite for recovery in-

cludes economic development outside of Germany.17

Industry development

According to CBRE’s calculations, the transaction volume 

of retail properties in Germany amounted to €12.3 bil-

lion in 2020. Despite difficult market conditions caused 

by the coronavirus pandemic, in which brick-and-mortar 

retail was severely impacted by the lockdown measures, 

the transaction volume of the previous year was exceed-

ed by 21 percent.18 In addition to a strong first quarter 

in 2020, backlogged transactions from 2019 and various 

large-scale portfolio transactions had a positive impact. 

Retail properties accounted for the second-largest share 

of the total transaction volume for commercial real estate 

amounting to €59.2 billion at 13.4 percent.19 CBRE also 

attributes this positive trend to stronger demand for retail 

properties and specialist retail stores operating in the food 

sector, which were the largest segment among traded retail 

properties, accounting for 52 percent of the market.

According to Colliers International, the outlook for retail 

properties should be looked at based on their heteroge-

neity. Especially during the coronavirus crisis, the food 

retail and non-food sectors (such as leisure and sports or 

DIY stores) benefited from an exceptional boom. Specialist 

retail stores were the main driver of sales and are again 

expected to achieve a transaction volume of at least €10 

billion in 2021.20

For 2021, the CBRE continues to expect the strongest de-

mand for retail properties operating in the food sector. 

However, according to the CBRE, this target will not be ful-

ly met due to limited supply.21

3.3.2 Outlook for FCR Immobilien AG

FCR Immobilien AG continued its successful growth course 

in 2020. For example, we were able to further expand our 

existing portfolio with a focus on shopping centers and 

specialist retail stores, local suppliers and drugstores oper-

ating in the food sector. We also continued to make signif-

icant progress in the area of digitalization. Consequently, 

we are able to increase efficiency in the core areas of our 

value chain, which in turn allows us to successfully manage 

a significantly higher real estate portfolio with dispropor-

tionately lower rising costs. 

The coronavirus crisis continues to be a major challenge for 

the entire group and all companies. However, we still be-

lieve we are well positioned due to our portfolio structure. 

The majority of our rental income is generated in the retail 

segment—with emphasis on food and local supplies—as well 

as in the office and logistics segment, which were or are not 

affected by the lockdown measures. Hence, we have hard-

ly been affected by the coronavirus pandemic in terms of 

rental income to date. Since the beginning of the pandemic, 

we have only lost around 1% of the agreed rental income. 

Last year, despite coronavirus, we bought a total of 14 

properties and sold 7, thus achieving net portfolio growth 

of 7 properties. This corresponds to an increase in leas-

able space of 21,000 m² and an increase in net rental 

income of €1.6 million. As of Q2 2020, viewing of new 

properties was limited. Without these coronavirus-related 

restrictions, we would have been able to purchase and sell 

more properties. Since the beginning of 2021, we have po-

sitioned ourselves in such a way that we can implement 

our purchasing processes despite the corresponding coro-

navirus measures. 

Looking ahead to financial year 2021, we are confident 

that we will be able to further implement and continue our 

dynamic and profitable growth course. 

Our market and our network are absolutely intact, allowing 

us to continue to acquire properties with an acquisition ROI 

of 8% to 12%. Moreover, our acquisition pipeline is filled with 

attractive properties that perfectly match our purchasing 

profile. Considering these facts and supported by extremely 

solid financial resources, we intend to increase our acqui-

sitions significantly again in 2021. Our goal is to purchase 

portfolio properties in Germany for roughly €160 million. 

In line with our defined business and growth strategy, we 

are primarily focusing on the core asset class “retail”, supple-

mented by asset classes office, logistics and residential. 

We are equally focused on the quantitative expansion and 

qualitative upgrade of our real estate portfolio, in which 

shopping centers and specialist retail stores, local suppli-

ers and drugstores continue to play the most important 

role. In the medium term, our goal remains to expand our 

real estate portfolio to exceed €1 billion. 

As part of our transformation program, we will strategically 

sell all properties from our trading and development port-

folio and thus wind up this business area in financial year 

2021. This effort will also be supported by a complete with-

drawal from the Italian and Spanish markets. The entire pro-

ceeds from the sale of the trading and development portfolio 

will be reinvested in the expansion of the existing portfolio. 

We also continue to see considerable efficiency and earn-

ings potential from our pioneering digitalization and artifi-

cial intelligence innovation efforts in the real estate sector. 

Increased use of the process optimization programs we 

have developed will enable us to significantly grow our 

productivity even more in financial year 2021.

In financial year 2020, we completed the move from Scale 

to the regulated market, General Standard, of the Frankfurt 

Stock Exchange, in order to attract additional investors to 

FCR Immobilien AG. We were already able to benefit from 

this measure during our capital increase carried out in 

January/February 2021. FCR will continue to be an active 

player on the capital market in financial year 2021. Our 

goal is to consolidate FCR’s positioning as a sustainably 

attractive stock for yield- and dividend-oriented investors. 

In summary, we will continue to expand our real estate 

portfolio and thereby our rental income in 2021. This 

move will also help us further strengthen our positioning 

as a portfolio holder for German retail properties. We feel 

very strongly that we are very well positioned in all nec-

essary areas to continue the successful trajectory of recent 

years in financial year 2021. Therefore, we expect earn-

ings before taxes (EBT) to increase significantly in 2021 

compared to EBT in financial year 2020.

Takeover-relevant disclosures pursuant to Sections 289a 

and 315a of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

1)  Shareholdings exceeding 10% of voting rights

Pursuant to Section 33 (1) of the German Securities Trad-

ing Act (WpHG), any shareholder who reaches, exceeds or 

falls below the thresholds of 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 

30%, 50%, or 75% of the voting rights of a listed compa-

ny must immediately notify the company and the German 

Federal Financial Supervisory Authority. These notifica-

tions are published by FCR in accordance with Section 40 

of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG). 

Pursuant to section 40 (1) of the WpHG, Mr. Falk Raudies 

(DOB: November 28, 1974) notified FCR Immobilien Ak-

tiengesellschaft on November 4, 2020, that the share of 

voting rights held via RAT Asset & Trading AG in FCR Im-

mobilien Aktiengesellschaft, Pullach i. Isartal, Germany, 

exceeded the threshold of 3% of the voting rights on Octo-

ber 29, 2020 and amounted to 66.09% (corresponding to 

6,058,923 voting rights) on that date.

Pursuant to section 40 (1) of the WpHG, Mr. Ludwig A. 

Fuchs (DOB: November 11, 1965) notified FCR Immobilien 

Aktiengesellschaft on November 4, 2020, that the share of 

voting rights held via FAMe Invest & Management GmbH in 

FCR Immobilien Aktiengesellschaft, Pullach i. Isartal, Ger-

many, exceeded the threshold of 3% of the voting rights on 

October 29, 2020, and amounted to 8.50% (corresponding to 

777,784 voting rights) on that day.

Pursuant to section 40 (1) of the WpHG, Mr. Jürgen Rödig 

(DOB: November 19, 1954) notified FCR Immobilien Aktieng-

esellschaft on November 9, 2020, that the voting rights held 

via RFC GmbH in FCR Immobilien Aktiengesellschaft, Pullach 

i. Isartal, Germany, exceeded the threshold of 3% of the vot-

ing rights on October 29, 2020, and amounted to 4.30% (cor-

responding to 393,256 voting rights) on that day.
15 https://www.destatis.de/EN/Press/2021/01/PE21_040_811.html

16 https://www.bmwi.de/Redaktion/DE/Publikationen/Wirtschaft/jahreswirtschaftsbericht-2021.html

17 https://www.sachverstaendigenrat-wirtschaft.de/en/jahresgutachten-2020.html

18 http://cbre.vo.llnwd.net/grgservices/secure/Germany_Retail_Investment_Q4_2020_de.pdf?e=1612428112&h=5cc12f945d427ea900c76366d12bb4d1

19 http://cbre.vo.llnwd.net/grgservices/secure/Deutschland%20Investmentmarkt%20H2%202020.pdf?e=1612428392&h=7a83a6886365afd6cce9f1fb1a657dad

20 https://www.colliers.de/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Colliers_Research_Marktbericht_Einzelhandel.pdf

21 http://cbre.vo.llnwd.net/grgservices/secure/Germany_Retail_Investment_Q4_2020_de.pdf?e=1612428112&h=5cc12f945d427ea900c76366d12bb4d1
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Pursuant to section 40 (1) of the WpHG, Mr. Falk Raudies 

(DOB: November 28, 1974) notified FCR Immobilien Ak-

tiengesellschaft on December 28, 2020, that the share 

of voting rights held via RAT Asset & Trading AG and CM 

Center Management GmbH in FCR Immobilien Aktienge-

sellschaft, Pullach i. Isartal, Germany, exceeded the thresh-

old of 3% of the voting rights on December 22, 2020, and 

amounted to 68.80% (corresponding to 6,292,726 voting 

rights) on that date.

As of December 31, 2020, RAT Asset & Trading AG, Pullach 

i. Isartal, (parent company as defined in Section 285 No. 

14 HGB) held 49.43% (previous year: 66.1%) and CM Center 

Management GmbH held 17.74% (previous year: 0%) of the 

shares in FCR Immobilien AG. 

2)  Authority of the Executive Board to issue or buy 

back shares

Authorized capital

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on May 28, 

2020, the cancellation of Authorized Capital 2019/I and 

the creation of Authorized Capital 2020/I with the option 

to exclude subscription rights was adopted. Accordingly, 

the Executive Board is authorized, with the approval of the 

Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital on one or 

more occasions on or before June 3, 2025, by a total of up 

to €4,573,202 against cash contributions and/or contribu-

tions in kind by issuing new registered no-par value shares 

(Authorized Capital 2020/I).

Contingent capital

The conditional capital amounts to €237,036 as of the bal-

ance sheet date.

Resolution on authorizing the Executive Board to acquire 

treasury shares pursuant to Section 71 (1) No. 8 of the 

German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

With the required majority of the capital stock of the com-

pany represented, the Annual General Meeting adopted 

the resolution proposed by the Executive Board and the 

Supervisory Board on authorizing the Executive Board to 

acquire treasury shares pursuant to Section 71 (1) No. 8 

AktG and passed the resolution accordingly.

3)  Rules on the appointment and dismissal of Execu-

tive Board members and amendments to the Arti-

cles of Association

Members of the Executive Board are appointed and dis-

missed in accordance with the provisions of § 84 AktG. 

There are no significant supplementary or deviating provi-

sions in the Articles of Association.

4)  Restrictions on voting rights and transfer

Apart from the statutory provisions, there are no further 

restrictions on voting rights, exercising voting rights, or 

transfer of shares.

Group declaration on corporate governance pursuant to  

§ 315d HGB

The declaration pursuant to Section 315d HGB has been 

issued and published on the website at https://fcr-immo-

bilien.de/corporate-governance/.

Final declaration on the subordinate status report

Pursuant to Section 312 (1) sentence 1 of the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Executive Board of FCR 

Immobilien AG has prepared a report on the company’s re-

lationships with affiliated companies. The Executive Board 

of FCR Immobilien AG declares the following: “Regarding 

the legal transactions and measures listed in the report on 

relationships with affiliated companies for financial year 

2020, FCR Immobilien AG has received appropriate con-

sideration for each legal transaction according to the cir-

cumstances known to the Executive Board at the time the 

legal transactions were carried out or the measures were 

taken or desisted, and has not been disadvantaged by the 

fact that the measures were taken or desisted.”

Balance sheet oath/responsibility statement of the legal 

representatives [Section 297 (2) Sentence 4 HGB, Section 

315 (1) Sentence 5 HGB]

Responsibility statement of the legal representatives of 

FCR Immobilien AG (Group)

To the best of my knowledge and in accordance with the 

applicable reporting principles, I hereby warrant that the 

consolidated financial statements of FCR Immobilien AG 

portray a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, finan-

cial position and profit or loss of FCR Immobilien AG; I fur-

ther warrant that the group management report presents 

the business development including the Group’s business 

performance and position in a way that conveys an accu-

rate and true picture of the actual circumstances and that 

it describes the major opportunities and risks inherent in 

the Group’s expected development.

Pullach im Isartal, March 19, 2021

FCR Immobilien AG

Falk Raudies

CEO
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AUDIT CERTIFICATE ISSUED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

 
Attn. FCR Immobilien AG, Pullach im Isartal: 

 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND THE GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Audit opinions 
 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of FCR Immobilien AG and its subsidiaries (the 
Group), consisting of the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2020, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in capital and the 
consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year from January 1, 2020, to December 31, 2020, as well 
as the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting methods. 
We have also audited the group management report of FCR Immobilien AG for the financial year from 
January 1, 2020, to December 31, 2020. In accordance with German legal requirements, we have not audited 
the content of the parts of the group management report mentioned in the section “Other information”. 

 
Based on the findings made during our audit, we assess that 

 
- the attached consolidated financial statements conform in all material respects with the IFRS as 

adopted by the EU and the supplementary applicable requirements of German law pursuant to 
Section 315e (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB), and that they portray an accurate picture 
of the true net asset and financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2020, and its earnings 
position for the financial year from January 1, 2020, to December 31, 2020 in compliance with 
these requirements; and 

 
- the attached Group Management Report conveys an overall accurate representation of the Group’s 

position. This Group Management Report is consistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements 
in all material aspects, complies with the statutory requirements under German law, and accurately 
portrays the opportunities and risks associated with the future development. Our audit opinion on 
the group management report does not cover the unaudited parts of the group management report 
mentioned under “Other information”. 
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In accordance with Section 322 (3) sentence 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), we declare that 
our audit has not resulted in any objections against the regularity of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Group Management Report (unqualified audit opinion). 

 
 
Reasons for our audit opinions 

 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report in 
accordance with Section 317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the EU regulation on specific 
requirements for statutory audit of public-interest entities (No. 537/2014; hereinafter “EU-APrVO”) and 
in observance of the German principles of proper auditing of financial statements promulgated by the 
German Institute of Public Auditors (IDW). Our responsibility under these provisions and principles is 
described in further detail in the section “Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Group Management Report” contained in our audit certificate. We are 
independent from the group companies in accordance with the requirements under European and German 
commercial law and professional law provisions and have fulfilled our professional obligations under 
German law in accordance with these requirements. In addition, pursuant to Article 10 (2) (f) of the EU-
APrVO, we declare that we have not performed any prohibited non-audit services pursuant to Article 5 
(1) of the EU-APrVO. We are confident that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and suitable to 
serve as the foundation of our audit opinions concerning the Consolidated Financial Statements and the 
Group Management Report. 

 
 

Particularly important audit matters in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 

Particularly important audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from January 1, 
2020, to December 31, 2020. These matters were considered in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon; we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

 
Recoverability of properties held as financial investments 
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Reasons for designation as a particularly important audit matter 
 

In the consolidated financial statements of FCR Immobilien AG as of December 31, 2020, investment 
properties amounting to €314,538,000 are recognized. FCR Immobilien AG measures properties held as 
financial investments at fair value. The item represents a total of 90.2% of total assets and therefore has a 
significant impact on the company’s financial position. In the past financial year, income from positive 
changes in fair value amounting to €796,000 was recognized in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 
The properties are valued by an external appraiser, imtargis Retail Assets GmbH (hereinafter referred to 
as imtargis), using the capitalized earnings value method in accordance with the German Real Estate 
Appraisal Ordinance (ImmoWertV). The valuation of imtargis was performed as of the valuation date on 
December 31, 2020. 

 
The valuation of the properties involves numerous assumptions relevant to the valuation that are 
associated with considerable estimation uncertainties and discretion. Even minor changes in the valuation-
relevant assumptions can lead to significant changes in the resulting fair values. 

 
As of the measurement date, the key valuation assumptions for the valuation of the properties were the 
annual rental rates and the discount and capitalization rates. 

There is a risk to the financial statements that the valuation of properties held as financial investments is 
not appropriate due to the existing estimation uncertainties and discretionary liabilities. 

 
 

Audit procedures 
 

Our audit procedures included assessing the accuracy and completeness of the data used for the real estate 
holdings, the appropriateness of the applied key valuation assumptions, such as the annual rental rates, 
and the discount and capitalization rates. 

4 

 

 

 
We have assessed the valuation process for appropriateness of the valuation model and are convinced that 
the data and assumptions relevant for the valuation were appropriately collected for the measurement date. 

 
We assessed the appropriateness of the selected valuation assumptions based on a risk-oriented deliberate 
selection of properties. We compared the rental rates processed in the imtargis valuation model with the 
target rents recorded in the ERP system. To ensure that the rental rates recorded in the ERP system were 
in line with the contractual rents, we verified that the implemented controls in the rental process were 
adequate and functional. Furthermore, we assessed the appropriateness of the assumptions used to 
determine the property-specific discount and capitalization rates, taking into account the type and location 
of the selected properties, by comparing them with market and industry-specific benchmarks. 

 
We also verified the qualifications and objectivity of the appraiser hired by FCR Immobilien AG for the 
valuation of the properties. 

 
 

Our conclusions 
 

The approach underlying the valuation of the properties held as financial investments is appropriate and in 
line with the valuation principles. The company’s assumptions, estimates and parameters are appropriate. 

 
 
Other information 

 
The legal representatives are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
following components of the group management report that have not been substantively audited: 

 
- the reference to the Group declaration on corporate governance with corporate governance report 

pursuant to Section 315d of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the information to which the 
reference points, 

 
- Responsibility statement of the legal representatives [Section 297 (2) Sentence 4 HGB, Section 315 

(1) Sentence 5 HGB] 
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Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the group management report do not cover 
the other information; accordingly, we will not express an opinion or any other form of conclusion on it. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we are responsible for reading the 
other information and, in doing so, assessing whether the other information is 

 
- materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, the content of the audited 

components of the group management report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
 
- otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 
 
 
Responsibility of the legal representatives and the Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Group Management Report 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in 
compliance with all material aspects with the IFR as applicable within the European Union and the 
supplementary statutory provisions applicable pursuant to Section 315e (1) of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB), and for assuring that the Consolidated Financial Statements portray an accurate picture of 
the Group’s true net asset, financial and earnings position in compliance with these requirements. The 
legal representatives are further responsible for the internal controls they have determined to be necessary 
for the preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements that are free from essential - intentional or 
unintentional - misrepresentations. 

 
In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the legal representatives have the responsibility to 
assess the group's capacity to continue its business activities. They further have the responsibility to 
disclose any relevant circumstances related to the continuation of the company’s business activities. 
Moreover, they are responsible to assure that the accounting is based on the principle of continued 
business activities, unless there is an intention to liquidate the group or discontinue its business 
operations, or if there is no realistic alternative to such action. 
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The legal representatives are also responsible for the preparation of a Group Management Report that 
portrays an overall accurate picture of the Group's position and that in all material aspects reconciles with 
the Consolidated Financial Statements, conforms with the statutory requirements under German law, and 
that accurately portrays the opportunities and risks associated with the future development. The legal 
representatives are further responsible for the precautions and measures (systems) they have determined 
to be necessary to prepare the Group Management Report in compliance with the applicable statutory 
provisions under German law, and to make adequately suitable evidence that supports the statements 
made in the Group Management Report available. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for supervising the Group's accounting process for the preparation 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Management Report. 

 
 

Responsibility of the auditor of the financial statements for the audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Group Management Report 

Our objective is to obtain adequate certainty with respect to whether the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as a whole are free from material - intentional or unintentional - misrepresentations, and 
whether the Group Management Report portrays an accurate overall picture of the Group's position, 
reconciles with the insights gained during the audit, complies with the statutory requirements under 
German law and accurately portrays the opportunities and risks associated with the future development, 
and to issue a audit certificate that sets out our audit opinions with respect to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Group Management Report. 

 
Adequate certainty means a high degree of certainty, but is not to be understood as a guarantee that an 
audit carried out in accordance with Section 317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the and 
EU-APrVO and the principles of proper auditing financial statements promulgated by the Institute of 
Public Auditors (IDW) will detect a material misrepresentation without exception. Misrepresentations 
may result from infringements or inaccuracies and are considered to be material if it could reasonably be 
expected that they, individually or collectively, affect the commercial decisions made on the basis of these 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Management Report by their readers. 
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We exercise dutiful discretion during our audit and preserve a critical disposition. In addition, we 

 
- identify and assess the risks of material - intentional or unintentional - misrepresentations contained 

in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Management Report, plan and execute 
audit measures in response to these risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and suitable to 
serve as the foundation for our audit opinions. The risk of material misrepresentations remaining 
undetected is higher in the case of infringements than inaccuracies, because infringements may 
include fraudulent collusion, falsifications, intentional omissions, misleading representations and/or 
the circumvention of internal controls. 

 
- gain an understanding for the internal control system that bears relevance for the audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements and the precautions and measures that be relevance for the audit 
of the Group Management Report, with the aim of planning audit measures that are adequate in 
light of the given circumstances, but not with the objective of issuing an audit opinion with respect 
to the efficacy of the systems. 

 
- assess the adequacy of the accounting methods applied by the legal representatives as well as the 

tenability of the estimated values and associated disclosures presented by the legal representatives. 

- draw conclusions with respect to the adequacy of the accounting principle of a continuation of the 
company’s business activities applied by the legal representatives and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether there is a material uncertainty in relation to events or circumstances that could 
potentially cast significant doubts over the Group's capacity to continue its business activities. If we 
arrive at the conclusion that there is a material uncertainty, we are obligated to point out the 
relevant disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Management Report in 
our audit certificate or, if these disclosures are inadequate, modify our respective audit opinion. We 
draw our conclusions based on the audit evidence obtained by the date of our audit certificate. 
However, future events or circumstances may result in the Group being prevented from continuing 
its business activities. 
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- assess the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

including the disclosures, and whether the Consolidated Financial Statements portray the 
underlying business transactions and events in a way that assures that the Consolidated Financial 
Statements prepared in compliance with the IFRS as applicable in the European Union and the 
supplementary applicable statutory provisions under German law resulting from Section 315e (1) of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) portray a picture of the net asset, financial and earnings 
position of the Group that reconciles with the actual circumstances. 

 
- obtain sufficient suitable audit evidence for the accounting information of the companies or recent 

activities within the Group in order to issue audit opinions with respect to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Group Management Report. 

 
We are responsible for the issuance of instructions, the supervision, and the execution of the audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. We bear the sole responsibility for our audit opinions. 

- assess whether the Group Management Report reconciles with the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, whether it complies with the law, and whether represents the Group’s position 
portrayed in it. 

 
- carry out audit measures with respect to the forward-looking statements made by the legal 

representatives in the Group Management Report. In particular, this includes reconciliation of the 
material assumptions made by the legal representatives with respect to the forward-looking 
statements on the basis of sufficient suitable audit evidence, and an assessment of whether the 
forward-looking statements were properly derived from these assumptions. We do not issue a 
separate audit opinion with respect to the forward-looking statements and their underlying 
assumptions. There is a significant and inevitable risk of future events significantly deviating from 
the forward-looking statements. 

 
We discuss the planned scope and schedule of the audit as well as significant audit findings, including 
potential defects in the internal control system detected by us during our audit, with the persons assigned 
supervisory responsibility. 
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We are issuing a declaration to those charged with governance that we have complied with the relevant 
independence requirements and are discussing with them all relationships and other matters that may be 
reasonably thought to affect our independence as well as the safeguards that have been put in place. 

From the matters we discussed with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current period and are 
therefore considered to be the particularly important audit matters. We describe those matters in the 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure of the matter. 

 
 

OTHER STATUTORY AND OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

Report on the audit of the electronic reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and the 
group management report prepared for disclosure purposes in accordance with Section 317 (3b) of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) 

Audit Opinion 
 

Reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report were prepared 
for disclosure purposes (hereinafter also referred to as “ESEF documents”) contained in the file “FCR 
Immobilien AG_ESEF-2020-12-31.zip” (hash value: tBXeZoWkw58fY5Q=) and made available 
electronically to the legal representatives. In accordance with section 317 (3b) HGB, we have performed 
an audit with reasonable certainty to determine if these reproductions comply in all material respects with 
the electronic reporting format (“ESEF format”) requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB. 

 
In accordance with German legal requirements, this audit extends only to the conversion of the 
information in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report into the ESEF 
format and therefore not to the information contained in these reproductions nor to any other information 
contained in the aforementioned file. In our opinion, the reproductions of the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report contained in the aforementioned attached file and prepared 
for disclosure purposes comply in all material aspects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB 
regarding the electronic reporting format.  
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Beyond this audit opinion and our audit opinions on the attached consolidated financial statements and the 
attached group management report for the financial year from January 1, 2020, to December 31, 2020, 
contained in the preceding “Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements and group 
management report”, we do not express any audit opinion on the information contained in these 
reproductions or on the other information contained in the aforementioned file. 

 

Reasons for our audit opinion 
 

We conducted our audit of the reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report contained in the aforementioned attached file in accordance with Section 317 (3b) of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) and in compliance with the draft IDW Auditing Standard: Audit of 
electronic reproductions of financial statements and management reports for disclosure purposes in 
accordance with Section 317 (3b) HGB (IDW EPS 410). 

 
Our responsibility thereunder is further described in the section “Responsibility of the Group Auditor for 
the Audit of the ESEF Documents”. Our auditing practice has applied the quality assurance system 
requirements of the IDW quality assurance standard “Requirements for Quality Assurance in the Auditing 
Practice (IDW QS 1)”. 

 

Responsibility of the legal representatives and the Supervisory Board for the 
ESEF documents 

 
The legal representatives of the company are responsible for preparation of the ESEF documents with the 
electronic reproductions of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in 
accordance with section 328 (1) sentence 4 no. 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and for 
certification of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with section 328 (1) sentence 4 no. 2 
of the HGB. Furthermore, the legal representatives of the company are responsible for the internal 
controls they have determined to be necessary to facilitate preparation of the ESEF documents that are 
free from intentional or unintentional material misrepresentations of the electronic reporting format 
requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB. The legal representatives of the company are also responsible for 
submitting the ESEF documents together with the auditor’s report and the accompanying audited 
consolidated financial statements and audited group management report as well as other disclosable 
documents to the operator of the German Federal Gazette. The Supervisory Board is responsible for 
overseeing the preparation of the ESEF documents as part of the accounting process. 
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Auditor’s responsibility for auditing the ESEF documents 

 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from material 
intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of section 328 (1) HGB. We exercise 
dutiful discretion during our audit and preserve a critical disposition. In addition, we 

 
- identify and assess the risks of material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the 

requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB, design and perform audit procedures addressing those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
- obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit of the ESEF documents in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate for the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of those controls. 

- evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documentation, i.e. whether the file containing the 
ESEF documentation complies with the technical specification requirements for that file as set out 
in the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in the applicable version at the balance sheet date. 

 
- assess whether the ESEF documents allow for an identical XHTML reproduction of the audited 

consolidated financial statements and the audited group management report. 
 
- assess whether the certification of the ESEF documents with inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) 

enables an adequate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the XHTML reproduction. 
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Other information pursuant to Article 10 EU-APrVO 
 
We were appointed as auditors by the Munich Local Court by resolution dated January 11, 2021. We 
were appointed by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board on February 25, 2021. We have served as 
auditors of the consolidated financial statements of FCR Immobilien AG without interruption since 
financial year 2020. 

 
We declare that the audit opinions contained in this audit certificate are consistent with the additional 

report to the Audit Committee pursuant to Article 11 EUAPrVO (audit report). 
 
 
 
 

RESPONSIBLE AUDITOR 
 
 
 

The auditor responsible for the audit is Dr. Mathias Thiere. 
 

Berlin, dated March 22, 2021 

MSWGmbH 
Auditing company 
Tax consultancy 

 
 
 

(Signature) 
 

Mantay 
Auditor 

(Signature) 
Dr. Thiere  
Auditor 
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Disclaimer 

This report contains forward-looking statements and projections that may or may not realize. The expressions “assume”, “presume”, “appraise”, “expect”, “intend”, can”, 

“planning”, “forecasting”, “should” and similar expressions serve the purpose of identifying forward-looking statements. No liability is accepted for the actual occur-

rence of forward-looking statements in general and the underlying forecasts and planning figures for economic, currency-related, technical, competition-related and 

other important factors. FCR Immobilien AG does not intend to update these forward-looking statements and refuses to accept any responsibility for such updates.

Legal notice

Supermarket in Ruhla

Specialist retail store in Strullendorf
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